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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small
and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due
and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
midsized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Flying Financial Service Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief: (i) the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive; (ii) there are no other matters the omission of which
would make any statement herein or this report misleading, and (iii) all opinions
expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and
are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
QA EF

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Gongjun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Liu Yi (appointed on 23 May 2022)

Ms. Wan Suyuan (resigned on 5 December 2022)

Mr. Leung Man Kit (resigned on 5 December 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Hsu Tawei

Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John (appointed on 23 February 2023)
Ms. Chong Kan Yu (appointed on 23 February 2023)

Dr. Vincent Cheng (resigned on 23 February 2023)

Dr. Miao Bo (resigned on 23 February 2023)

Mr. Tsao Hoi Ho (resigned on 5 December 2022)

Mr. Lau Jing Yeung, William (resigned on 5 December 2022)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Man Kit (appointed on 23 February 2023)
Mr. Chow Chi Wing (resigned on 23 February 2023)

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Leung Man Kit (appointed on 23 May 2022)
Mr. Zhang Gongjun (resigned on 23 May 2022)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Zhang Gongjun
Mr. Leung Man Kit (appointed on 23 February 2023)
Mr. Chow Chi Wing (resigned on 23 February 2023)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John (Chairman, appointed on 23 February 2023)
Ms. Chong Kan Yu (appointed on 23 February 2023)

Mr. Hsu Tawei

Dr. Vincent Cheng (resigned on 23 February 2023)

Dr. Miao Bo (resigned on 23 February 2023)

Mr. Tsao Hoi Ho (resigned on 5 December 2022)

Mr. Lau Jing Yeung, William (resigned on 23 February 2023)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

NEEF ()

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Hsu Tawei (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Gongjun

Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John (appointed on 23 February 2023)
Ms. Chong Kan Yu (appointed on 23 February 2023)

Dr. Vincent Cheng (resigned on 23 February 2023)

Dr. Miao Bo (resigned on 23 February 2023)

Ms. Wan Suyuan (resigned on 5 December 2022)

Mr. Leung Man Kit (resigned on 5 December 2022)

Mr. Tsao Hoi Ho (resigned on 5 December 2022)

Mr. Lau Jing Yeung, William (resigned on 5 December 2022)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Chong Kan Yu (Chairman, appointed on 23 February 2023)
Mr. Zhang Gongjun

Mr. Hsu Tawei

Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John (appointed on 23 February 2023)

Mr. Lau Jing Yeung, William (resigned on 5 December 2022)
Dr. Vincent Cheng (resigned on 23 February 2023)

Dr. Miao Bo (resigned on 23 February 2023)

Ms. Wan Suyuan (resigned on 5 December 2022)

Mr. Tsao Hoi Ho (resigned on 5 December 2022)

Mr. Leung Man Kit (resigned on 5 December 2022)

PRINCIPAL BANKER

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Shenzhen Excellence Century Centre Branch
1/F, No. 3, Excellence Century Centre

Fuhua Three Road

Futian District

Shenzhen, China

AUDITOR

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
10th Floor, 8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
RNEEF ()

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 1309, 13/F
Mirror Tower

61 Mody Road
Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon

Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN THE PEOPLE’S REPUBLIC OF CHINA (THE “PRC")

18th Floor, Block C, Building 1
Shenzhen Software Industry Base
High-tech Industrial Park
Nanshan District

Shenzhen, China

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

Suntera (Cayman) Limited

(formerly known as SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited)
Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3, Building D

P.O. Box 1586, Gardenia Court, Camana Bay

Grand Cayman, KY1-1100

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F., Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

www. flyingfinancial.hk

STOCK CODE

8030
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBRE

2022 2021 Changes
ot St —B-—F 28
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%ETR ARBTT
OPERATING RESULTS Rexm
Revenue g 76,671 20,059 282.2%
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to KRB ANELEE
owners of the Company wfl,/ (E18) 2,605 (265,276) N/A & A
Basic profit/(loss) per share FREARGF,(EE) RMB7.52 cents RMB(766) cents N/ATRER
AR¥7529  AR% (76605
FINANCIAL POSITION FHBARR
Total assets BERE 55,705 88,205 (36.8)%
Cash and cash equivalents Re kR EMBEEE 4,912 14,086 (65.1)%
Net (liabilities)/assets (Bl BEFH 15,493 (4,384) N/A & A
Dividends RE
— Interim dividend paid (per share) — BT EBRE(BR) - -
— Proposed final dividend (per share) —EEARERE (BR) - -
EHSRREERERAT TEIFER



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERES

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Flying Financial Service
Holdings Limited (“Flying Financial” or the Company”), | am pleased to present
the audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The past year of 2022 has been a year of perseverance, unremitting efforts and
success in seizing opportunities for the Group!

In the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic and the major changes experienced by
the Group in 2020, we have reorganised our staff and business, determined to
offload the non-performing business segments, and continued to develop our
existing professional financial intermediary services business, to which not many
resources had been devoted. The COVID-19 pandemic represented an
opportune time for us to consolidate resources from different parties when
businesses were having a difficult time and could hardly borrow money, which
not only empowered those enterprises in distress to survive for further
development but also delivered excellent performance for the Group.

I must applaud our team for their hard work in the past year!

I must also express my heartfelt gratitude to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
the community for their tolerance, care and love for us!

We will definitely assess the situation, identify business opportunities and make
good use of various resources to strive for better performance in the future to

reward our employees, shareholders and the community!

Looking ahead to 2023, the Group can expect even better performance!
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
IFEREE(E)

Firstly, we will have new investors, which will bring in capital, business
opportunities and enhanced professional capabilities;

Secondly, we will build on our existing to-business (to B) intermediary financial
services and develop a wide range of to-customer (to C) businesses;

Thirdly, we will seek to continuously enhance our capital, so that we will be able
to embrace the infinite opportunities in the post-COVID-19 for vigorously
pursuing economic growth;

Last but not least, the hardships we had experienced only made us stronger as
we have stepped onto the path of business rebirth, which is all the more
valuable for us to continue to grow as a lawful and rule-compliant company with
common business sense and logic.

Zhang Gongjun
Chairman

14 April 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWEDTN

LISTING STATUS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 1 April 2021, the
trading in shares of the Company on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) was halted with effect from 11:19 a.m. on 29 March 2021
and will remain suspended until further notice (the “Suspension”).

Reference are made to the announcements of the Company dated 4 June 2021,
28 June 2021, 28 September 2021 and 19 November 2021, the Board received a
letter from the Stock Exchange setting out the resumption guidance for the

Company on 3 June 2021 and 18 November 2021 respectively, details of all

resumption guidance (the "Resumption Guidance”) are as follows:

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

conduct an appropriate independent investigation into the custody of Mr.
Zheng, Ms. Guo and three employees of the Group by the Nanshan
Branch of Shenzhen Public Security Bureau since December 2020 pending
investigation regarding certain suspected illegal absorption of public
deposits conducted by a subsidiary of the Company, assess the impact on
the Company’s business operation and financial position, announce the
findings and take appropriate remedial actions;

demonstrate that there is no reasonable regulatory concern about
management integrity and/or the integrity of any persons with substantial
influence over the Company’s management and operations, which may
pose a risk to investors and damage market confidence;

address the issues giving rise to the disclaimer of opinion on the Annual
Results Announcement, provide comfort that the disclaimer of opinion in
respect of such issues would no longer be required and disclose sufficient
information to enable investors to make an informed assessment of its
financial positions as required under Rule 17.49B of the GEM Listing Rules;

demonstrate that the Company has in place adequate internal control
systems to meet the obligations of the GEM Listing Rules;

announce all material information for the Company’s shareholders and
investors to appraise the Company’s position; and

demonstrate the Company’s compliance with Rule 17.26 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWED T (&)

LISTING STATUS (CONTINUED)

Under Rule 9.14A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange may cancel
the listing of any securities that have been suspended from trading for a
continuous period of 12 months. In the case of the Company, the 12-month
period will expire on 28 March 2022.

The Company has continued to take active steps to address and comply with
the Resumption Guidance and the Company had announced its quarterly
update on status of the resumption of the Company on 28 June 2021, 28
September 2021, 28 December 2021, 4 April 2022, 4 July 2022, 3 October 2022,
4 January 2023 and 3 April 2023.

In response to the Resumption Guidance given by the Stock Exchange regarding
the matters, the Board resolved on 20 December 2021 to form an independent
investigation committee (the “Independent Investigation Committee”),
comprising Dr. Vincent Cheng, Dr. Miao Bo, Mr. Hsu Tawei and Mr. Tsao Hoi Ho,
all are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Tsao Hoi Ho has been
appointed as the chairman of the Independent Investigation Committee. The
purposes of forming the Independent Investigation Committee were to
commission an independent investigation on the matters to be conducted by
independent professional advisor(s) regarding the custody of Mr. Zheng, Ms.
Guo and three employees of the Group by the Nanshan Branch of Shenzhen
Public Security Bureau since December 2020 pending investigation regarding
certain suspected illegal absorption of public deposits conducted by a subsidiary
of the Company, as the request from the Resumption Guidance. Following the
formation of the Independent Investigation Committee, the Company has
engaged Beijing Dentons Law Offices, LLP, the PRC legal advisers, to conduct
independent investigation in relation to the Custodies in the PRC.

References are made to the announcement of the Company dated 22 February
2022, the key conclusive views of the PRC legal advisers in relation to the
Custodies including, but not limited to:

(1) With reference to the October 2021 Judgement, Mr. Zheng actually
controlled the illegal fundraising activities of SZ Flying Financial. The
proceeds of the illegal fundraising activities were used and allocated by
Mr. Zheng. The Offence was individually committed and was not
considered as corporate crime of the Company and SZ Flying Financial. In
view of the October 2021 Judgement, the Company and the existing
Directors shall not be responsible for criminal and civil liabilities in relation
to the Offence;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BEEENWED T (&)

LISTING STATUS (CONTINUED)

(2)  The probability and feasibility for the Group to recover those Seized Assets
(in whole or in part) would be extremely low with reference to the
applicable PRC law, the Company’s confirmation and the October 2021
Judgement in relation to the Seized Assets; and

(3)  Mr.Zheng, Ms. Guo and the three former employees of the Group who are
subject to the October 2021 Judgement shall not be eligible to be a
director, supervisor, or senior management of a corporate following the
sentencing in accordance with the applicable PRC law and regulations.

In addition, following the public search through the China Judgement Online
website conducted by the PRC legal advisers, there is no records of any criminal
proceeding in the PRC against the Group and the existing Directors of the
Company as of the date of the Report.

As announced by the Company on 15 March 2022, the Board resolved on 15
March 2022 to form a remedial actions committee (the “Remedial Actions
Committee”), comprising 2 executive Directors, namely, Ms. Wan Suyuan and Mr.
Leung Man Kit, as well as 2 independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Tsao Hoi Ho and Mr. Lau Jing Yeung William. Mr. Leung Man Kit has been
appointed as the chairman of the Remedial Actions Committee.

The main purpose of forming the Remedial Actions Committee is to allow the
members of the Remedial Actions Committee to recommend and facilitate the
implementation of remedial actions (with advice of external professional parties)
in relation to the loss (the “Loss”) incurred by the Company and/or the Seized
Assets (including such Loss in relation to the Offence and/or such Loss as
identified by the Company (if any)), without limitation to the remedial actions to
recover the Loss and the remedial actions concerning corporate governance of
the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWED T (&)

LISTING STATUS (CONTINUED)

As stated in the announcement of the Company dated 4 April 2022, the
Company submitted a letter to the Listing Division of the Exchange on 13 March
2022, in relation to resumption proposal and to address the Resumption
Guidance given by the Listing Division in resumption proposal on a case-by-case
basis, at the same time striving to demonstrate that during the four-month
period when the Company started to appoint new directors and acquired
funding to support the Company’s resumption of trading since December 2021,
the Company was able to complete a number of initiatives to resume trading
and to put the Group's business back on track during the particularly severe
COVID19 pandemic.

Meanwhile, in its resumption proposal, the Company had filed a petition for the
Listing Division to recommend the Listing Committee to extend the deadline for
the Company to commence the delisting process by four months. The
application of the extension is made because given the Additional Resumption
Guidance issued by the Listing Division of the Exchange on 18 November 2021,
the Company still tried its best to complete a lot of work with the cooperation
and follow-up of the Listing Division of the Exchange in just over four months,
even under the environment including Christmas and New Year holidays,
coupled with the fact that the COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong was
uncontrollable during the period and that the Company was required to
conduct an internal control investigation in Mainland, especially in Shenzhen,
the main area of business of the audit subsidiary of the Company, where the
control of the COVID-19 pandemic was particularly stringent. The progress of
these resumption works has been disclosed in the Company’s announcements
published on the HKEXnews of the Stock Exchange since December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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LISTING STATUS (CONTINUED)

As announced by the Company on 6 April 2022 and 6 May 2022, Despite the
Company has submitted an extension application to the Stock Exchange on 10
April 2022, the Company received a letter (the “Letter”) from the Stock Exchange
dated 6 May 2022 stating that the GEM Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
(the "Listing Committee”) has decided to cancel the Company'’s listing under
Rule 9.14A of the GEM Listing Rules as the Company failed to satisfy all the
Resumption Guidance by 28 March 2022 (the “Delisting Decision”).

Under Chapter 4 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has the right to have
the Delisting Decision referred to the Listing Review Committee of the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Review Committee”) for review within seven business
days from the date of issue of the Delisting Decision (i.e, on or before 18 May
2022) (the "LRC Review"). If the Company decides not to request to have the LRC
Review, the last day of listing of the Company’s shares will be on 23 May 2022
and the listing of its shares will be cancelled with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 24 May
2022.

References are made to the announcement dated 6 May 2022, 17 May 2022, 27
May 2022, 9 June 2022 and 10 June 2022, after receiving the Letter date 6 May
2022 from the Stock Exchange in relation to the Delisting Decision, the Company
has submitted a formal request to the secretary of the Listing Review Committee
of the Stock Exchange on 17 May 2022 for the Delisting Decision to be referred
to the Listing Review Committee for review pursuant to Chapter 4 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The review hearing (the “Review Hearing”) of the Listing Review
Committee of the Stock Exchange to the review of the Delisting Decision has
been scheduled for 10:30 a.m. on Wednesday, 3 August 2022. The Board has
further made its written submission including the key addition information
required together with the respective supporting documents to the Listing
Review Committee of the Stock Exchange on 9 June 2022 for the purposes of
the Review Hearing.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 25 May 2022,
after obtaining and reviewing the PRC Investigation Report, the Board resolved
to appoint Beijing Dentons Law Offices, LLP (“Dentons”), the PRC legal advisers of
the Company, to conduct a supplemental independent investigation in relation
to the Custodies in the PRC (the “PRC Supplemental Investigation”). Dentons
issued the supplemental investigation report regarding the Custodies in the PRC
dated 17 May 2022 (the "PRC Further Investigation Report”).

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

Lk (4)

BORRAR - —_FWARBR =T ==
HARAAMG  BEARARBER_Z-__FNA
T BB FTEREER G - A QR BB ATE
EEHA T - —FRANEZHETZK
) RABIFGEM EtTZE8E([LHE8
g ) BRTIRIEGEM LT AR BIEE 9. 14A IR BUE A
RaElz bl REARARIARER T
F=ZAZFTN\RAIETHBEEESI([RiER

El) e

RIFGEM LR AIFE 45T - ARABERERER
AR EEEERRNEI T - —FH
AtTNBSZA) RFEBMXA LT ERZES
(TEhEZZES ) ERGRERE ([ LHEZZ
BeBEZ]) - MARRRERERBLMERZ
BgEz $®7&1Z%%tﬁ5%%%‘§
TCFRA-+T=R - mEBROEEZ
FAZ+MB EF AR ERRRRE -

= __

=

TELEIH;qu—Y——ﬁﬁﬂ/\E
AA++ER FRAAZ-++AH -
::i/\ﬂﬂaﬁf7——¢/\ﬂ+amﬂi
WRMRAELAA—S ——FHANAEHE
PREARTE 2 B8 - AARIERZFTZ_FAH
FTHHMBERF EMEZEZESWERTEAE
Ko ERIRIE GEM LT AN 4 B S BR R TE 1R
RIETBZREZESEZ WX LIMmEREZES
BERBREBATNEZRA(TEZRADEER
TECFNAZHEHD) EFtE=1+5
BT -EBFe RN E-__FNANBE—FMH
B EmEZZESRIEMNS (BEMS
FEFHFTERERMABZRX) UHBZERA
2R

=

BIRBARNRAMA T —FRA-THAK
NE RRERENTEREHRER  EFTEH
REAEARRA B BUERB R L =T AR ER
PrOARKD A BEMESTEETHARLAS
(hEmEHAE])  AKERLARR-FT——
FAATLRERTENEZTEZARRAET RS
(FEE—FRERSE]) -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEENWED T (&)

LISTING STATUS (CONTINUED)

On the other hand, the Board resolved to appoint CHENG HUAN S.C.’s
CHAMBERS (“CH Chambers”) and Patrick Mak & Tse Solicitors ("PMT"), being
independent professional law chamber and law firm in Hong Kong, as the

independent professional advisor to provide Hong Kong legal opinion in relation

to the Investigation Issues. Such appointment was made further to the requests
received from the Stock Exchange in the Resumption Guidance. PMT and CH
Chambers issued the legal opinions regarding the Investigation Issues dated 19
May 2022 (the “HK Legal Opinions”).

The key findings of PRC Further Investigation Report and the HK Legal Opinions

include, but not limited to:

M

Based on the present information available and without undertaking any
investigative action, there is no evidence as to whether the Other Board
Members had actual knowledge of the illegal fundraising activities acted
through SZ Flying Financial. Further, it was also no evidence as to whether
the Other Board Members had actual knowledge of the Loan Guarantee.

As at the date of the HK Legal Opinions, there has been no Custodies
instituted against any Other Board Members in relation to the P2P Platform
and/or the affairs of SZ Flying Financial. Further, each of the Other Board
Members has confirmed that he or she was not involved in the Offence.

Given the circumstances that Mr. Zheng had dominant control over the
corporate structure of the Company, and had actual control over SZ Flying
Financial, it is possible that the Other Board Members had been
circumvented in any criminal activities or unauthorized civil activities
undertaken by the PRC subsidiaries of the Company. In this relation, there
is no sufficient evidence to support that there has been breach of the
Director’s Duties on the part of the Other Board Members.

However, the Custodies and the lack of knowledge of the Group's
operating subsidiaries exposed that the board of directors of the Company
has not been capable of ensuring an effective internal control and risk
management system within the Group. It is also questionable whether the
internal audit of the Group has been undertaken effectively. The corporate
governance practices of the Company, of which the board of directors are
ultimately responsible, had been unsatisfactory.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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LISTING STATUS (CONTINUED)

The Remedial Actions Committee concurs with the findings of CH Chambers
and PMT that the Other Board Members, being the one executive Director and
the three independent non-executive Directors at the material time, have not
been capable of ensuring an effective internal control and risk management
system within the Group and the internal audit of the Group has not been
undertaken effectively at the material time. The corporate governance practices
of the Company at the material time, of which the Other Board Members were
ultimately responsible, had also been unsatisfactory.

Following the issuance of the PRC Further Investigation Report and the HK Legal
Opinions, Accordingly, the Remedial Actions Committee has recommended that
the Board adopt the findings of the Investigation. Further, the Remedial Actions
Committee has made recommendations (the “Recommendations”) to the Board.
The Board agreed with the Recommendations of the Remedial Actions
Committee and has resolved that the Recommendations of the Remedial
Actions Committee be implemented as soon as practicable.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 25
May 2022.

As announced by the Company on 2 August 2022, based on the aforesaid
findings, after obtaining the advice from its legal advisers, the Company has
instigated legal proceedings in the High Court of Hong Kong against Mr. Zheng
and Ms. Guo in respect of, among others, their breach of fiduciary duty and duty
of care and had failed to act honestly in the best interest of the Company, to
exercise due diligence, and to comply with relevant rules and regulations in
executing the Guarantee Documents.

The Seized Assets provided by Mr. Zheng and/or Ms. Guo were assets owned by
the Company, and were subsequently seized by the Bureau as a result of Mr.
Zheng and/or Ms. Guo's convictions of the criminal offence of illegal absorption
of public deposits in the PRC. Nevertheless, it is transpired that there is no record
of any meeting minutes or resolution by the then Board at the material time the
Guarantee Documents were entered into. As a result of the aforesaid breaches of
Mr. Zheng and/or Ms. Guo, the Company has suffered loss and damage in sum
of approximately RMB230,837,000, being the value of the Seized Assets as the
material time. In the circumstances, the amount recoverable by the Company
upon the breach of statutory and/or fiduciary duties by Mr. Zheng and/or Ms.
Guo is measured by a sum that amounted to RMB230,837,000 plus applicable
compound interest, if any.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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LISTING STATUS (CONTINUED)

The Remedial Action Committee and the Board considers that the aforesaid
initiation of the legal action is necessary for protecting the interests of the Group
and the shareholders of the Company. The Board is also of the view that one of
the top priorities of the Group at present is to act diligently to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders, clients and employees of the Group. The Company
does not rule out the possibility of joining additional defendants to the claim or
instigating further legal action(s) in the future.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 23 May 2022,
the Board proposes to implement the Capital Reorganisation which will involve
the Share Consolidation, the Capital Reduction and the Share Sub-division. In
addition, the Company entered into the Subscription Agreement with the
Subscriber, pursuant to which the Subscriber has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue
36,042,067 New Shares at the Subscription Price of HK$0.72 per Subscription
Share to the Subscriber.

The Circular containing, among other things, further details of (i) the Capital
Reorganisation, the Subscription, the Specific Mandate, the Whitewash Waiver
and all the transactions contemplated thereunder; (ii) letters of recommendation
from the Independent Board Committees to the Independent Shareholders; (iii)
a letter of advice from the Independent Financial Adviser to the Independent
Board Committees and the Independent Shareholders in relation to the
Subscription, the Specific Mandate, the Whitewash Waiver and the respective
transactions contemplated thereunder; and (iv) a notice of the EGM and a form
of proxy, have been despatched to the Shareholders on Friday, 8 July 2022. All
the resolutions in relation to the aforesaid transactions were duly passed by way
of poll at the respectively Extraordinary general meeting held on Tuesday, 2
August 2022.

With reference to the announcement of the Company dated 30 December 2022,
as additional time is required to satisfy and/or fulfill the conditions precedent in
the Subscription Agreement, on 30 December 2022 (after trading hours), the
Company and the Subscriber entered into a supplemental subscription
agreement, pursuant to which the Company and the Subscriber mutually agreed
to further extend the Long Stop Date to 30 June 2023. The Directors consider
that the extension of the Long Stop Date is in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole. Save for the aforesaid extension of the Long Stop
Date, all other terms and conditions of the Subscription Agreement shall remain
in full force and effect.
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LISTING STATUS (CONTINUED)

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 18 July 2022,
the Company in fulfilling the relevant Resumption Guidance, the Company has
engaged GRC Chamber Limited (“GRC") on 24 December 2021 as its
independent internal control adviser to conduct a comprehensive review of the
internal control system, policies and procedures of the Group in relation to the
corporate governance and key business processes at entity and process levels
for the period from 1 January 2021 to 28 February 2022, conducted the internal
control follow-up review of the Group up to 14 July 2022 (the “Internal Control
Review"), prepare an internal control review report (the “Internal Control Review
Report”) and assist the management to improve the Group’s internal control
system. The main purpose of the Internal Control Review is to assist the Board
and the management of the Group to review and improve the internal control
system designed and implemented by the management of the Group in
accordance with the Corporate Governance Code, the relevant listing rules of
the Stock Exchange (especially Chapter 17, Chapter 19, Chapter 20, Appendix 15
etc. of the GEM Listing Rules), and the relevant rules of the SFC (especially Part
XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)), and to evaluate the procedures formulated by the Group as to whether
the procedures, systems and monitoring measures are sufficient to enable the
Board to make an appropriate assessment of the financial position and prospects
of the Group.

The Internal Control Review Report assesses the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group's overall internal control system, identifies internal control weaknesses,
and provides recommendations to the Group. GRC conducted the internal
control followup review and issued the Internal Control Review Report on 14 July
2022.

As at the date of the Internal Control Review Report, the Group has (i) fully
adopted and implemented the aforesaid recommendations made by GRC; and
(ii) rectified the relevant deficiencies in the Group's internal control system. Based
upon the results of the above-mentioned Internal Control Review, GRC is of the
view that the deficiencies identified by GRC in the Group's internal control
system have been remediated and those newly adopted or modified measures
and policies of the Company can be considered to be effectively designed and
implemented from the perspective of managing the associated risks
commensurate with the existing operations and scale of the Group upon the
date of the Internal Control Review Report. Having considered the Internal
Control Review Report and the remediated actions taken by the Group, the
Remedial Action Committee and the Board are of the view that the enhanced
internal control measures implemented by the Company based on the
recommendations made by GRC are adequate and sufficient to address the key
findings of the Internal Control Review Report and the Company has in place
adequate internal controls and procedures to meet obligations under the GEM
Listing Rules.
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LISTING STATUS (CONTINUED)

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 18
July 2022.

With reference to the announcement of the Company dated 9 August 2022, the
review hearing (the “Hearing”) of the decision of the GEM Listing Committee (the
“Listing Committee Decision”) by the Listing Review Committee was held on 3
August 2022. On 9 August 2022, the Company received a letter (the “LRC
Decision Letter”) from the Stock Exchange notifying the Company that the
Listing Review Committee, having carefully considered all the facts and evidence,
and all the submissions presented by the Company and the Listing Division, the
Listing Review Committee decided to remit back to the GEM Listing Committee
for re-consideration of the matter on an expedited basis (the “LRC's Decision”).
The Listing Review Committee noted that at the Hearing, the Listing Division
had rightly acknowledged that due to the developments leading up to the
Hearing many conditions of the Resumption Guidance had now been fulfilled by
the Company and were no longer at issue, including RG1 (investigation), RG2
(management integrity), and RG4 (internal controls). As further announced by
the Company on 13 September 2022, regarding Disclaimer C, the remaining
issue of the RG3, the Company has addressed the issues giving rise to Disclaimer
C, provided comfort that Disclaimer C would no longer be required and has
disclosed sufficient information to enable investors to make an informed
assessment of its financial positions as required under Rule 17.49B of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that it has fulfilled the RG3.

With reference to the announcements of the Company dated 16 August 2022
and 3 October 2022, the Company received a notice (the “Rehearing Notice”)
from the Stock Exchange notifying the Company that the Chairman of GEM
Listing Committee has decided that the GEM Listing Committee will reconsider
the matter by way of a rehearing with the Company and the Listing Division of
the Stock Exchange in attendance (the “Rehearing”). Pursuant to the Rehearing
Notice, the Rehearing has been scheduled for 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 18 October
2022. The Company has made its submission to the Listing Committee on 30
August 2022 and 16 September 2022 for the purpose of the Rehearing.
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LISTING STATUS (CONTINUED)

With reference to the announcement of the Company dated 21 November 2022,
the Company received a letter (the “LC Decision Letter”) from the Stock
Exchange stating that, after the Rehearing held on 18 October 2022 and having
considered all the submissions (both written and oral) made by the Company
and the Listing Division, the GEM Listing Committee decided that the Company
had failed to maintain a sufficient level of operations and assets of sufficient
value to support its operation under GEM Listing Rule 17.26. The GEM Listing
Committee therefore decided to uphold a decision of the GEM Listing
Committee dated 6 May 2022 to cancel the Company's listing under GEM Listing
Rule 9.14A (the "17 November Decision”).

After seeking professional advice and with due consideration, the Company has
submitted an application requesting the 17 November Decision be referred to
the Listing Review Committee for review on 21 November 2022.

For further details regarding the reasons for the 17 November Decision and
opinions of the Board toward the 17 November Decision, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 21 November 2022.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has tried its best to complete a lot of
work with the cooperation and follow-up of the Listing Division of the Exchange
and has used its best endeavor to act in accordance with the rules and
regulations of the Listing Division, make reasonable efforts and never give up the
case until the end.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 21 February
2023, the Company inform the shareholders and potential investors that on 8
February 2023, the Listing Review Committee (“LRC") heard (“LRC Review
Hearing") an application by the Company for a review of the decision of the GEM
Listing Committee (“‘LC"), set out in a letter dated 17 November 2022, to cancel
the listing of the Company’s shares on the GEM under GEM Rule 9.14A (the “2nd
LC Decision”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (CONTINUED)

On 17 February 2023, the Company received a letter from the Stock Exchange
notifying the Company that having carefully considered all the facts and
evidence, and all the submissions presented by the Company and the Listing
Division, the LRC decided to overturn the 2nd LC Decision (the “LRC Decision”).
The Listing Division confirmed to the LRC at the Hearing that it had no ongoing
open compliance matters as to the Incident and integrity of the Company and
management, which was also confirmed to the LRC by the Company through its
CEO, INED and Company Secretary. In summary and upon a qualitative review of
all the relevant facts and circumstances before it, including the concerns of the
Listing Division and the LC, the LRC was of the view that as of the time of the
Hearing the Company had, on balance, demonstrated that its business had
substance and was viable and sustainable with reference to GEM Rule 17.26/RG5.
The Listing Review Committee therefore decided to overturn the Listing
Committee’s decision set out in a letter dated 17 November 2022 to cancel the
Company’s listing pursuant to GEM Rule 9.14A.

The Board welcomes the LRC Decision and wishes to appreciate the Listing
Review Committee for reaching the LRC Decision which allows the Company to
resume the trading of its shares on the Stock Exchange. The Board also wishes to
place special thanks to the sales and operating team of the Company as well as
the professional parties and advisers to the Company for their efforts and
contribution during these periods. The Board believes that the results of the LRC
Decision is an affirmation of the commitment of the aforesaid parties during
these periods.

Following the LRC Decision, the Company is finalising the schedule of the Capital
Reorganisation and the Subscription. As announced by the Company on 21
March 2023, all conditions precedent to the Share Consolidation have been
fulfilled. Pursuant to the timetable set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 16 March 2023 (the ‘Timetable Announcement”), the Share Consolidation
has taken effect on Wednesday, 22 March 2023. The free exchange of share
certificates will be implemented in accordance with the timetable set out in the
section headed “TIMETABLE FOR SHARE CONSOLIDATION" in the Timetable
Announcement.

Tentative timetable regarding the Capital Reduction and the Share Sub-division
has been included in the Timetable Announcement. The Company is in the
course of obtaining confirmation of the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands on
the Capital Reduction. Further announcements will be made by the Company to
update the Shareholders and the potential investors of the Company on the final
timetable of the Capital Reduction and the Share Subdivision, as well as the
issuance of the Subscription Shares and the Resumption of trading of the shares
of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group has been committed to developing itself as an influential real estate
financial service provider in the PRC and has been putting great efforts in
providing financial services to the real estate sector for many years. Leveraging
on our experience and expertise in serving as leading real estate developers, our
service coverage has been expanded to developers of different scales. We are
honored to be able to fulfill the business needs of our business partners and
support their continuous growth. During the year, the Group focused on the
development of pipeline property development projects and provided services
to our partners with our experiences and technologies through our financial
service platform. Our core customer base continued to expand. We strived to
mitigate compliance risks and reduce operating costs of the Group through
business transformation, in order to maintain stable growth and retain our
strengths during the downward cycle of the industry.

As at 31 December 2022, the revenue of the Group, profit before income tax
expense and profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB76.7 million, RMB9.5 million and RMB2.6 million,
respectively. In 2022, performance of our investment in property development
projects was further adversely affected by the cyclical downtrend of the real
estate industry in the PRC, which resulted in nil investment income and related
financial consultation services income and a significant decrease in fair value of
the investments. Secondly, due to the repayment abilities of the Group's
customers and business partners affected by economic environment of the PRC,
the Group had to make substantial provision on loss allowance for the accounts
receivables and other receivables. In addition, the Group had faced
unprecedented challenges, including the China-USA trade war and the outbreak
of coronavirus disease ("COVID-19"). The Group's operation has been affected in
certain ways due to the travel restrictions, social distancing and quarantine
measures in connection with the outbreak of COVID-19, as the Group has been
taking all practicable measures to cope with the potential transmission of
COVID-19 by striving for the highest caution standard to protect the health and
safety of our staff, business partners and customers.

As at 31 December 2022, the cash and cash equivalents of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB4.9 million, which represented an decrease of 65.1% as
compared to the previous year. The decrease was mainly due to an unclear
listing status of the group. The Group recorded a net assets of RMB15.5 million
(2021: net liabilities of RMB4.4 million). The gearing ratio of the Group was
approximately 2.8%, representing year-on-year decrease of approximately 55.6
percentage point.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Financial Service Platform

The Company has commenced its operation of financial service platforms since
2015. The Group's financial service platforms initially offer professional financial
services in the real estate market. Through the continuous development of such
operation, the Group further launched its financial management service platform
in 2018 to provide banking and deposit management services. It had operated
in compliance with the requirements of the regulatory department at material
time. Besides, such platform has risk control module to prevent corporate
customers from duplicate borrowing and to identify fraud and tax payment
pattern and development data.

It had operated in compliance with the requirements of the regulatory
department at material time. Besides, such platform has risk control module to
prevent corporate customers from duplicate borrowing and to identify fraud
and tax payment pattern and development data.

In view of the tightening regulatory environment in the PRC in 2019, the Group
has put great efforts in consolidating and expanding its internet financial
business segments and cooperated with internet small loan companies to
develop internet small loan business.

Such financial technology service platform has established comprehensive
business process and technology system covering customer acquisition, risk
identification, risk assessment, loan distribution channel, payment channel and
big data analysis through cooperating with Tencent Cloud and other licensed
institutions. Business needs of the Group’s partners can be fulfilled through quick
access to the technologies.

Although the Group’s operation has been affected in certain way due to the
travel restrictions, social distancing and quarantine measures in connection with
the outbreak of COVID-19, the VSD Transaction (as defined below), the
uncertainty of resumption of trading of its shares during the year 2022 the Board
and the management of the Company are still actively engaged to achieve its
financial projections in its resumption plan and reinstate the Company to protect
the interests of the Shareholders.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Provision of loan services, financial consultation services,
finance lease services

Under these two business segments, the Group provides short-term and long-
term financial consultation services, entrusted loans, pawn loans and other loans
to borrowers and financial institutions. The Group also provides long-term
finance lease services. The Group tailored different types of financial products for
its customers depending on their individual circumstances and funding needs in
order to resolve the financing needs of the customers.

Cost Reduction and Internal Control

To cope with the industry downturn of its principal business, the Group further
reduced its costs and strengthened its internal control. During the year, through
optimising human resources and streamlining organizational structure of the
Group, the number of staff of the Group decreased from 30 to 28. The operation
efficiency and per capita efficiency were further enhanced. In addition, the
Group refined its business operation and improved its rules and regulations after
assessment and supervision of the internal control of various business segments.
Our internal control system was improved through supervising the
implementation of remedial measures for the loopholes found during our
inspection.

In general, the Group focused on its business and adhered to its prudent
approach in operation in 2022. Against the backdrop of cyclical downtrend of
the industry and the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group was determined to focus
on the development of pipeline projects and to build up its internal strengths.
All senior management members and our staff are confident and expecting a
prosperous future.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a turnover of
approximately RMB76.7 million, representing a significant increase of
approximately 282.2% from approximately RMB20.1 million in the previous year,
primarily due to the increase of platform service income during the year.

In terms of revenue breakdown, revenue from financial service platforms
amounted to approximately RMB75.2 million, representing an increase of
approximately 282.7%. Revenue from interest income and finance lease service
income for the year under review amounted to approximately RMB1.4,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 260.6%.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Finance Costs

In the year under review, interest expenses of the Group decreased by
approximately 68.4% to RMB72,000 from RMB228,000 in the previous year, which
mainly resulted from the decrease in bank borrowings and lease liabilities of the
Group during the year.

Other (Expenses)/Income, Net

The Group's other (expenses)/income, net mainly comprised fair value loss on
investment properties, recovery of impairment on loans and accounts
receivables previously recognised, gain on disposal of a property, plant and
equipment, and bank interest income.

In the year under review, the other expenses of the Group decrease by
approximately 90.4% to RMB4.6 million from RMB47.8 million in the previous
year, which resulted from loss on disposal of subsidiary.

Administrative and Employee Benefit Expenses

Administrative and employee benefit expenses of the Group mainly comprised
salaries and employee benefits, rental expenses, and marketing and advertising
fees. In the year under review, administrative and employee benefit expenses of
the Group was approximately RMB60.2 million, representing year-on-year
increase of 94.0%. The increase was due to the revenue increase from Financial
Service Platform Business.

Loss Allowance on Financial Assets

In the year under review, impairment loss on loans and accounts receivables and
other receivables aggregated approximately RMB2.4 million (2021:
approximately RMB10.6 million) due to the increase in credit risk of the existing
customers.

Profit for the Year Attributable to the Owners of the
Company

In the year under review, profit attributable to the owners of the Company was
approximately RMB2.6 million (2021: loss approximately RMB265.3 million),
which was primarily due to the revenue increase from Financial Service Platform
Business.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's bank balances and cash amounted to
approximately RMB4.9 million (2021: approximately RMB14.1 million), and the
Group’s borrowings amounted to approximately RMB1.5 million (2021:
approximately RMB5.6 million). The gearing ratio representing the total
borrowings of the Group divided by the total assets of the Group was
approximately 2.8% (2021: approximately 6.3%). As at 31 December 2022, 100%
(2021: approximately 1
year. As at 31 December 2022, 100% of the Group’s borrowings was
denominated in HKD (2021: 100% was denominated in RMB). As at 31 December
2022, 0% and 100% of the Group's borrowings were carrying interests at fixed
rate and interest free, respectively (2021: approximately 48.6% and 51.4% of the
Group's borrowings carrying interests at fixed and floating rates, respectively.

00%) of the Group's borrowings would be due within one

There were no charges on group assets as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The Directors considered that, in the foreseeable future, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations in full when they fall
due. In the year under review, the Group did not use any financial instruments
for hedging purposes.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITIES

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to maintaining the highest
environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable development of its
business. The Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations in
relation to its business including health and safety, workplace conditions,
employment and the environment. The Group understands a better future
depends on everyone’s participation and contribution. It has encouraged
employees, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in
environmental and social activities which benefit the community as a whole.

The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees, has enhanced
cooperation with its suppliers and has provided high quality products and
services to its customers so as to ensure sustainable development.

Please also refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report contained
in this annual report for further details of the Group's environmental
performance and relationship with its employees, suppliers and customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEER WD (&)

FUTURE OUTLOOK

The Group is undergoing a corporate restructuring, upon the completion of the
said restructuring, the Group shall continue its financial services businesses. The
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are confident that upon the
completion of the said restructuring, the Group's business and financial position
will be improved and have sufficient level of operation to maintain its listing
status.

The Group has been seeking suitable investment and business opportunities in
light of the market conditions to create value for its shareholders in a long term
and sustainable manner.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Transformation of the Financial Services Platform

The financial services platform of the Group has undergone strategic
transformation according to the requirements of relevant policies and withdrew
from the existing development businesses in an orderly and compliant manner.
The financial services platform of the Group has also proactively cooperated with
internet small loan platforms to develop internet small loan business as part of
the transformation, which might last for a relatively longer period of time and be
exposed to uncertainties such as loss of customers, increased costs and change
of policies. The Group shall oversee the transformation dynamically and make
timely adjustments during the process in order to ensure the success of such
transformation.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)

Risks related to Cyber Security

The Group handles significant amount of personal data and credit information of
its customers, which is susceptible to cyber threats. The Group's operations,
reputation and financial performance could be adversely impacted if the Group
suffers from cyber-attacks that disrupt its operations.

The Group makes extensive use of multiple channels to keep informed of
emerging cyber security threats to identify and implement measures intended
to mitigate the occurrence and/or consequences of such risks.

MAJOR INVESTMENTS

The Group, through the Disposal Group (as defined below), invested in property
development projects through investments in certain limited partnerships,
which engaged in business of property development in the PRC.

With reference to announcement of the Company dated 29 June 2022, the
completion of the VSD Transaction (as defined below) took place on 29 June
2022. Following the completion of the VSD Transaction (as defined below), the
Disposal Group (as defined below) ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company
and the Company ceased to have any interests in the Disposal Group. The
financial results, respective assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group would no
longer be consolidated into the Group's financial statements.

Accordingly, as at 31 December 2022, the fair values for the investments in
property development projects were 0.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend to shareholders
of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2022.
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LITIGATIONS, CLAIMS AND DISPUTES

Part of the investments and assets of the Disposal Group (as defined below)
were subject to litigations and seizure during the year under review. As disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 26 March 2021, a writ of civil summons
("Writ") have been issued against two previous directors of the Company
(namely, Mr. Zheng Weijing (“Mr. Zheng") and Ms. Guo Chanjiao (“Ms. Guo")), two
PRC subsidiaries of the Company (namely, Qianhai Flying Financial PRC Service
(Shenzhen) Limited (“Qianhai Flying Financial”) and Flying Investment Service
(Shenzhen) Company Limited (“Flying Investment”)) in October 2020 in relation
to the repayment of certain loans and interest accrued thereon. Pursuant to the
Writ, (i) Mr. Zheng was demanded for the repayment of an aggregate amount of
RMB16,306,300 (“Claimed Amount”), alleging to be the principal and interest
accrued thereon pursuant for a loan agreement in 2019; (ii) Ms. Guo, the
Company, two PRC subsidiaries of the Company and a number of PRC
companies independent to the Group were alleged to be guarantors of the
Claimed Amount under a guarantee in 2019 ("2019 Loan Guarantee”) in favour of
the claimant under the Writ to secure the Claimed Amount.

For further details, please refer to the circular of the Company dated 10 May
2022 and the announcement of the Company dated 26 March 2021, 26 January
2022 and 22 February 2022.

With reference to announcement of the Company dated 29 June 2022, the
completion of the VSD Transaction (as defined below) took place on 29 June
2022. Following the completion of the VSD Transaction (as defined below), the
Disposal Group ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company and the Company
ceased to have any interests in the Disposal Group. The financial results of the
Disposal Group would no longer be consolidated into the Group'’s financial
statements.

As at the date of this report, no member of the Group was engaged in any
litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation, arbitration or
claim of material importance was known to the Directors to be pending or
threatened against any member of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BEEENWED T (&)

THE GROUP’S RESPONSE TO THE BASIS OF QUALIFIED
OPINION

As disclosed in sections headed “QUALIFIED OPINION" and “BASIS FOR OPENING
AND QUALIFIED OPINION" in the independent auditors’ report contained on
pages 107 to 108 of this annual report, the auditors of the Company (the
“"Auditors”) express a qualified opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022. The auditor’s report on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 ("2021 Financial Statements”) contained qualification on the limitation on
bank balances (“Qualification”). Details of which has been set out in the auditor’s
report for 2021 Financial Statements dated 30 June 2022,

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 13 September
2022 in relation to, among other things, based on the communication with the
auditors of the Company, the Board considers, and the auditors of the Company
concurs, that the respective issues giving rise to the Qualification have been
satisfactorily addressed as follows:

(i) theissues giving rise to Qualification on the annual report of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2021 was due to the auditor’s inability to
obtain certain confirmations from PRC banks due to the absence of Ms.
Guo’s personal seal;

(i) following the completion of the VSD Transaction on 29 June 2022, the
Disposal Group ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company and the
Company ceased to have any interests in the Disposal Group;

(i) no Group's bank balance was held by subsidiary of which Ms. Guo was the
legal representative and/or director since 2 July 2022 pursuant to the
findings of the e agree-upon procedures report issued by the auditor of

the Company on 9 August 2022;

(iv)  assuch, the issues giving rise to the Qualification will not further affect the
auditors of the Company to perform the necessary audit procedures in
relation to the Company’s bank balances in the PRC for the year ending 31
December 2022 and the subsequent years; and
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWED T (&)

THE GROUP’S RESPONSE TO THE BASIS OF QUALIFIED
OPINION (CONTINUED)

(v)  except for the audit modification on (1) the opening balances and
comparative figures to be stated in the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ending 31 December 2022, and (2) the
comparative figures to be stated in the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ending 31 December 2023, there would not be
other audit modifications in respect of the matters referred to above. In
respect of the Group's consolidated financial statement for the year
ending 31 December 2022 and 2023, any audit modifications should
solely relate to the comparability of 2021 and 2022 figures. Accordingly,
the issues giving rise to the Qualification will not have any continuing
effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2024 and the subsequent years.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

The Company had completed a very substantial disposal on 29 June 2022 to
dispose of its equity holding of Expand Wealth Limited, Profit Success
Technology Limited and Expand Thrive Limited and their subsidiaries (the
"Disposal Group”) to the buyer for consideration of HK$15 million (the "VSD
Transaction”). The Company and the buyer entered the sale and purchase
agreement of the VSD Transaction on 20 December 2021. The resolution of the
VSD transaction was approved by the shareholders of the Company in the
extraordinary general meeting on 1 June 2022. Upon the completion of the VSD
Transaction, the Company had ceased to hold any interests in the Disposal
Group.

For the details of the VSD Transaction, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 26 January 2022, 18 February 2022, 1 June 2022 and 29
June 2022, and the circular of the Company dated 10 May 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BEEENWED T (&)

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS AND EXPECTED SOURCES OF
FUNDING

There was no specific plan for material investments or capital assets as at 31
December 2022.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

For the contingent liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 2022,
please refer to the “LITIGATION, CLAIMS AND DISPUTES” section in Management
Discussion And Analysis.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

There were no charges on group assets as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no significant capital commitments
(2021: nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of HKS against RMB as its certain
bank balances are denominated in HKS which is not the functional currency of
the relevant group entities. The Group has not made other arrangement to
hedge against the exchange rate risk. However, the Directors and the
management will continue to monitor the foreign exchange exposure and will
consider utilising applicable derivatives to hedge out the exchange risk when
necessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWED T (&)

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its treasury policies. The
Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit
evaluation of the financial conditions of its customers. To manage liquidity risk,
the Directors closely monitor the Group's liquidity position to ensure that the
liquidity structure of the Group's assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its
funding requirements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 28 staff (2021: 30). Total staff
costs (including Directors’ emoluments) were approximately RMB7.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB7.8 million). Remuneration is
determined with reference to market conditions and the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual employee. Year- end bonus based on
individual performance will be paid to employees as recognition of and reward
for their contributions. Other benefits include share option scheme, and
contributions to statutory mandatory provident fund schemes and social
insurance together with housing provident funds to its employees in Hong Kong
and the PRC respectively.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed by the remuneration committee
of the Board, having regard to the relevant Director's experience, responsibility,
workload and the time devoted to the Group, the Group’s operating results and
comparable market statistics.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 4 July
2023 to Friday, 7 July 2023, both dates inclusive, during which no transfer of
Shares will be registered. In order to ascertain shareholders’ eligibility to attend
and vote at the AGM, all transfers documents accompanied by the relevant
Shares certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17th Floor,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration by
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 3 July 2023.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSREEBZBERE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Gongjun (3R A8 55 %), aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 20 December 2011 and re-designated to an executive
Director on 15 July 2015. Mr. Zhang was re- designated as the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 26 March 2021. Mr. Zhang obtained
the certificate of master’s degree in business administration from the Peking
University in July 2013.

Prior to being re-designated as an executive Director, Mr. Zhang was the
managing director of Shenzhen Sino-investment Management Company
Limited, responsible for overall operational management. From August 2008 to
January 2012, Mr. Zhang served as a non-executive director of Sino Grandness
Food Industry Group Limited, a company incorporated in the Republic of
Singapore whose shares are listed on the main board of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited with stock code T4B. Mr. Zhang currently is also an
independent director of SZZT Electronics Co., Ltd, a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002197) with the appointment date of 21
June 2019. Save as disclosed herein, in the three years preceding the date of this
annual report, Mr. Zhang did not hold any directorship in other listed public
companies in Hong Kong or overseas. Mr. Zhang is a member of the
remuneration committee of the Board. Mr. Zhang was appointed as the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Board on 26 March 2021 and
redesignated as a member of the nomination committee of the Board on 11
March 2022.

Ms. Liu Yi (213 & £), aged 39, was appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 23 May 2022. Prior to the Appointment, Ms. Liu served various micro-
credit and money lending companies in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) and is well experienced in the money lending business sector. Ms. Liu
graduated from Huazhong University of Science and Technology (ZEF %% K
E) in June 2007 with a bachelor degree in financial management (B1 7% %& 12 =

XET)

Ms. Liu did not hold any directorship in other listed public companies in Hong
Kong or overseas.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EENGREERE2BEFE (&)

DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. KAM Hou Yin, John (& Z B £ 4), aged 50, is a member of Standing
Committee of National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (FEI A RBUAHEI E# 2B Z B |) of Futian District, Shenzhen.
Mr. Kam holds the degree of Master of Business Administration from The
Tsinghua University in China and The University of Manchester in the United
Kingdom. He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Kam has over 20 years’ experience in corporate, personal and
interbank business. Mr. Kam was the Senior Partner of Shenzhen Zhujin Supply
Chain Management Co. Ltd. from November 2018 to December 2020. He was
appointed as an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of Century Ginwa
Retail Holdings Limited from 2 May 2017 to October 2018 and was
Zone Manager — Corporate Banking Division and General Manager of Shenzhen
Branch of The Bank of East Asia (China), Limited from July 2012 to March 2017
and Zone Manager (Western China) — Corporate Banking Division and General
Manager of Xi'an Branch of The Bank of East Asia (China), Limited from
November 2006 to June 2012. Mr. Kam was appointed as Co-Chief Executive
Officer of DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited from 12 March
2021 and he was an executive director and chief executive officer of DTXS Silk
Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (Stock code: 620) during the period
from September 2021 to November 2022. Mr. Kam has been an independent
non-executive director of China Ocean Group Development Limited
(Stock code: 8047) since March 2020.

Mr. Kam was appointed as a chairman of the audit committee (“Audit
Committee”) and a member of each of the nomination committee
(“Nomination Committee”) and the remuneration committee (“Remuneration
Committee”), on 23 February 2023.

55 (&)

BYFEHITES

SEBELEE S0 BRIEDRIITERRAR
BathmeaTKEEgeRE c @AERERE
BEARBREHESHTHAZ 2 THEEEBELTE
i - BARBESHARETMATERSERE
BETMAEEE - QIETELE  LAKRIRTT
FESHESBEE _TFLER - SLER-E
—N\FE+—AE-_ZT-_TF+ - AETFIIES
HEEEEARARNSREUA - HFER =T
—+tFRA-HE_T-N\F+AEZT AL
SIEHEZERBRARDNTES RITHRAEE -
TE-FHAEZT—+F=- AHEARER
T(HRBR)BRAR — FNDTHTITREREE
BITRBINAE YR - TTNF+—AE-F
——FXNAHPEARDGRIT(RFR)BRRAE —
ALDTTOTITRBCERITERIGEE (FE
mEf) e @ AEB T —F AT -_BEZRET
BREATHBEEZERBR A B FEITHRE
H VIR —FNAET_—_F+—HH
MECAEAMAKREEERERAR (BRHR
IR0 MITEBRITHRBH - @EHEB T
SFEZ AREAPBRSFHBIERERA T (%
PARER + 8047) B IEHITE S o

SHRER-_E-_=ZF-_A -+ =ZHEZTAEX
Zeg((B#%xZE8g)ERMRERZEg([1R
ZEEg)ERFHEZEES(FMEES ) KA
A8 -

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR



34

p 47 &5 S

-

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. CHONG Kan Yu (FEEE¥ZZ 1), age 58, been a general manager of Nam Yu
International Investment Company Limited (B2 HBIFR 1% & BBR A 7)) since
1989, a company principally engaged in business of cross-border logistic and sea
freight forwarding. Ms. Chong has been a director of Vigor Development (China)
Company Limited (FE&& % /& (F BI) AR 2 7)) since 1992 and a director of
Bestowal Investment Holdings Limited (2/21% & £ EHFR A Al) since 2000.
Ms. Chong has over 20 years’ experience in trading, logistic and real estate and
property development. Ms. Chong holds various positions in different social and
commercial associations. She was the special committee member of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of Dongguang (Hong Kong and
Macau) (BR5e T (%R) 9 B A RBUR R & ), the honorary chairman of the
Women's Federation of Guangdong Provincial Association for the Promotion of
Exchanges Across Taiwan Straits (R & H IR =TI ESHEZIHE) and
the vice-chairman of the Houjie branch of Dongguan Waishang Investment
Enterprise Association GREE/NEREHEEEHE) and the honorary
chairman of Overseas Friendship Association of Dongguan (338 JMNE 58
). Ms. Chong is currently a special representative of Shenzhen of All-China
Women's Federation Hong Kong Delegates (8 &7 B REEE),
consultant of Friendship Association of Hong Kong Xiamen (&% & P9 EE
@), and the vice-chairman of the Agriculture Committee of Guangdong
Provincial Association for the Promotion of Exchanges Across Taiwan Straits (&

REBEMEZNE EEREZES)

Ms. Chong was appointed as a chairlady of the Nomination Committee and a
member of each of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee on 23
February 2023.

Mr. Hsu Tawei (& K12 54 ), aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on T March 2021. Mr. Hsu obtained a bachelor degree in
science from National Taiwan University in 1981 and a master degree in business
administration from University of Bridgeport in 1992. From 1993 to 2006, he was
the vice-president of President Securities Corporation (Taipei). From 2006 to
2017, he was the executive director and responsible officer of President
Securities (HK) Limited. From 2017 to 2018, he was the director of DA Capital (HK)
Limited. Since 2018, he is the responsible officer of GSI Finance Group Limited.

Mr. Hsu was appointed as the chairman of the remuneration committee of the
Board and a member of each of the audit committee and the nomination
committee of the Board on 23 February 2023.

*

For identification purposes only

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

E=(A)

BYFHTES (B)
HEMZL 585 AN/ \NFEEEERE

RIREBRA 7(Ix?ﬁé$ﬁ“iﬁ¢%m&/i 5i&
REXEH 2R BEE -HERETE-NANLZF

f@%&%‘é%ﬁ%%ﬁ(qﬂ!)ﬁﬁﬁ AIEEKE-F
FEFEETEERESEERARES - X
ifiﬁﬁELzoEZf’f% ff%;‘ﬁb(&)%%?&%

FERLR - HRINTRALE MEEHSEE
XEH“H‘%MBU%% = (BR) ARBURH R & 5%

FBZE  BERESEMEIRCESRE IS
Eek - ﬁ”‘*?ﬁm%bﬁ%a &I%;\EEUAE&
REMBINGHEKEREER - HEXIRAE

R iRE R S RYIFEAR %EE%EFEJ%%SE
HEEENEREBEMEIRRESRELRE
BEER-

HEETR T =F A +=HEZERRES
ZESIRFNERZESLFNEZE S BHN

\
i

BWRERE o5 R-T-—F=-_F—HAEZ
ERBUIFATES - FAEN NN\ —FEE
YeEABRE8TEN  WR— NN ZFEE

75 K 2 (University of Bridgeport) T 7 & 3 ’EE:t'E—’X‘3~
LL cH—hh= ¢1_7 TRF - BEESR—4T
FR(RILMBIEE B _TZRFE_T

—t¢ BREEL—EH (BE)BRAROHT
EEREEAN BT —+EEZZ-\F K&

RERRERN(BR)ERAANERE -B-F
—N\Fil ERAERXEMEEERAFRNESR
}\0

BRAEER T =F_A_+=HEZERESF
SHMEEeTEULESFEERZEE RS

KES‘Z@ZE °



35

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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COMPANY SECRETARY NEME

Mr. Leung Man Kit (B3 £E% %), aged 45, was engaged to act as the  BIUHESEHE -« 455% - EE AL FIWE RAATW
Company Secretary and an authorized person of the Company with effect from A+ BT -_=F - A -+ =HBER -
23 February 2023.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER EREME

Mr. Zhang Gongjun, an executive Director of the Company, was appointed as  RABELE » KR FHITEE W - —F=
the compliance officer on 26 March 2021 to replace the vacancy by the A=+ NHEZFTAAHFF  LUEMEMER L
resignation of Mr. Zheng Weijing. EEHE BB ZEER o

Mr. Leung Man Kit, an executive Director of the Company, was appointed as R X£EERLE » KR AHITEE  WZE__FH

compliance officer to replace Mr. Zhang Gongjun on 23 May 2022. AZ+-HEZEIAEGREM  UBBRAEL
o
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report in the Company's
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the important roles of its Board in providing
effective leadership and direction to the Group’s business, and ensuring
transparency and accountability of the Company’s operations. The Board sets
appropriate policies and implements corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of the Group’s business.

The Company has applied and complied with the principles and code provisions
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2022
save as the deviations as mentioned in the sections headed “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer” and “Board Composition” in this report.

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance practices in
order to enhance its corporate governance standard, to comply with the
increasingly tightened regulatory requirements and to meet the rising
expectations of shareholders and investors.

CULTURES AND VALUES

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is integral to attain its vision and
strategy. It is the Board's role to foster a corporate culture with the following core
principles and to ensure that the Company’s vision, values and business
strategies are aligned to it.

1. Integrity and code of conduct

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business ethics and
corporate governance across all our activities and operations. The
Directors, management and staff are all required to act lawfully, ethically
and responsibly, and the required standards and norms are explicitly set
out in the training materials for all new staff and embedded in various
policies such as the Group’s employee handbook (including therein the
Group's code of conduct), the anti-corruption policy and the
whistleblowing policy of the Group. Trainings are conducted from time to
time to reinforce the required standards in respect of ethics and integrity.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to workforce
development, workplace safety and health, diversity, and sustainability is
one where people have a feeling of commitment and emotional
engagement with the Group's mission. This sets the tone for a strong,
productive workforce that attracts, develops, and retains the best talent
and produces the highest quality work. Moreover, the Company's strategy
in the business development and management are to achieve long-term,
steady and sustainable growth, while having due considerations from
environment, social and governance aspects.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIRED STANDARD OF
DEALINGS IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquires,
all the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required

standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions

by Directors adopted by the Company throughout the year under review.

A.

A.1

THE BOARD

Board of Directors

The Company is governed by the Board which has the responsibility for
leadership and control of the Company. The Directors are collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Group by directing and
supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board set strategies and directions for
the Group's activities with a view to developing its business and
enhancing shareholder value.
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A. THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

A.2 Board composition
The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Zhang Gongjun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Liu Yi
(appointed on 23 May 2022)
Ms. Wan Suyuan
(appointed on 9 December 2021 and
resigned on 5 December 2022)
Mr. Leung Man Kit
(appointed on 1 February 2022 and
resigned on 5 December 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Hsu Tawei
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John
(appointed on 23 February 2023)
Ms. Chong Kan Yu
(appointed on 23 February 2023)
Mr. Tsao Hoi Ho
(appointed on 9 December 2021 and
resigned on 5 December 2022)
Mr. Lau Jing Yeung, William
(appointed on 11 March 2022 and
resigned on 5 December 2022)
Dr. Vincent Cheng
(resigned on 23 February 2023)
Dr. Miao Bo
(resigned on 23 February 2023)

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set
out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. The composition of the Board is well
balanced. Each of the Directors has relevant expertise and extensive
corporate and strategic planning experiences that can contribute to the
business of the Group.
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A.2

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Board composition (Continued)

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of the management
of the business affairs of the Group with the objective of enhancing
shareholders value.

For Board composition, please refer to the section "“DIRECTORS” in the
"Directors’ Report” of this annual report.

The Board currently consists of five members, including two Executive
Directors and three Independent Non-executive Directors. The Board
currently has two female Directors which achieved the gender diversity in
Board level. At least one of our Independent Non-executive Directors has
the professional and accounting qualifications as required by the Listing
Rules.

Throughout the year 2022, the Company has complied with rules 5.05(1)
and (2), and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence in
writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules and considers them to be independent.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) between members of the Board. Biographies of
Directors are set out in “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.
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ANNUAL REPORT 2022

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of, and promoting
the success of the Company. This is achieved by setting up corporate and
strategic objectives and policies, and the monitoring and evaluations of
operating activities and financial performance of the Company.

All the Directors carry out their duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, taking decisions objectively and
acting in the interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

There is no relationship, including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relation(s) among members of the Board and between
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Formal service agreements and letters of appointment have been entered
into with the executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors respectively setting out the key terms and conditions of their
respective appointments.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. During the year ended 31 December
2022, Mr. Zhang Gongjun has acted as both the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. As of the date of this annual report, the
roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company are
not separate and both are performed by Mr. Zhang Gongjun. The
Company is in the process of identifying a suitable person to act as the
Chief Executive Officer and shall make announcement as and when
appropriate. Since the Directors meet regularly to consider major matters
affecting the operations of the Company, the Directors consider that this
structure will not impair the balance of power and authority between the
Directors and the management of the Company and believe that this
structure will enable the Company to make and implement decisions
promptly and efficiently.
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A.5

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities and delegation of functions

The Company has formalised and adopted written terms on the division
of functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to the
management of the Group. The Board reserves for its decision on all major
matters of the Company, including the approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well
as the advice and services of the company secretary (the "Company
Secretary”) and senior management of the Company, with a view to
ensuring compliance with the Board procedures and all applicable laws
and regulations. Any Director may request independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company's expense, upon
reasonable request being made to the Board. The day-to-day
management, administration and operations of the Company are
delegated to the executive Directors and senior management of the
Company. The Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to these
officers for the implementation of the Board decisions. The Board
periodically reviews the delegated functions and work tasks. Prior to
entering into any significant transactions, the aforesaid officers have to
obtain the Board's approval.

No corporate governance committee has been established by the
Company and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties, which included:

(1) to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group;

(2)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(3)  to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and employees;
and

(5)  toreview the Company's compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report of the Company.
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ANNUAL REPORT 2022

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Appointment, re-election and removal of directors

Each of Mr. Zhang Gongjun, and Ms. Liu Yi, being executive Directors, have
renewed or entered his/her service contract with the Company on 15 July
2021 and 23 May 2022, respectively, for a term of three years. The
aforementioned service contracts with the Company for each of the
executive Directors shall be terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party.

Each of Mr. Hsu Tawei, Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John and Ms. Chong Kan Yu,
being the independent non-executive Directors, has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of two years commencing
from 1 March 2021, and 23 February 2023, respectively. The
aforementioned appointment letters with the Company for each of the
independent non-executive Directors shall be automatically renewed and
extended for successive term of one year and may be terminated either
after the initial term by either party by giving at least three months’ notice
in writing or be terminated after one year of the initial term.

The Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Company's articles of association. According to the Company’s articles of
association, one-third of the Directors are required to retire from office at
each annual general meeting, provided that each Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The Directors to
retire every year shall be those who have been longest in office since their
last re-election or appointment.
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A. THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

A. EExE (&)

A.7 Board meeting, general meeting and procedures A7 EXEESE BRRAERERF
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board convened a total of BE-_ T -_—_F+-A=+—HILFE "
25 board meetings and one general meeting was held. The following is EEgHARLAESTEYEL —ARR
the Directors’ attendance record of meetings held by the Board and Ke U TAESLEEES BTN
general meeting: MR AR 8 E a0 %

Number of Number of
attendance/ attendance/
number of board number of general
meetings meeting
HERE HERE
EXZSgRYE BRERXEHE
Mr. Zhang Gongjun RABEE 25/25 11
Mr. Hsu Tawei (NS 25/25 1/1
Ms. Liu Vi ABat
(appointed on 23 May 2022) (RZZE-—FRA-+=HEZH) 22/22 11
Ms. Chong Kan Yu HEmLt
(appointed on 23 February 2023) (RZB-=F_A-1+=REZME) 0/0 0/0
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John eEBERE
(appointed on 23 February 2023) (RZZB-=F_A-+=REZME) 0/0 0/0
Mr. Wan Suyuan BXRELT
(appointed on 9 December 2021 and (RZE2EZ—F+-ANBEZIK
resigned on 5 December 2022) NZE-_—F+-ARBFT) 25/25 1/1
Mr. Tsao Hoi Ho BEREE
(appointed on 9 December 2021 and (RZE2EZ—F+-ANBEZIK
resigned on 5 December 2022) NZE-_—F+-ARBFT) 25/25 1/1
Mr. Leung Man Kit (appointed on 1 February P
2022 and resigned on 5 December 2022) (RZZE-—F-PF—BEZEIK
RZZZZF+ZARBET) 24/24 1/1
Mr. Lau Jing Yeung William (appointed on ZIEHRAE
11 March 2022 and resigned on (RZZ-_—F=A+—HEZIK
5 December 2022 R-Z-—F+-ARBEET) 23/23 1/1
Dr. Vincent Cheng BEEET
(resigned on 23 February 2023) (RZZE-_=F-_A-+=HFT) 25/25 1/1
Dr. Miao Bo HREL
(resigned on 23 February 2023) (RZZE-_=F-_A-+=HFT) 25/25 1/1
EHSRREERERAT TEIFER
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Board meeting, general meeting and procedures
(Continued)

Board members were provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly.

Schedules for annual Board meetings and draft agenda of each Board
meeting are sent to all Directors in advance. Notice of at least 14 days is
given for a regular Board meeting. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. Board papers together
with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are dispatched to
all Directors at least three days before each regular Board meeting to
ensure that the Directors have sufficient time to review the related
documents and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board and
committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated to all Directors
for comments within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final
versions are open to Directors for inspection. The Company'’s articles of
association contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting
and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.
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A.8

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Continuous professional development

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of the Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. For the year ended 31 December 2022,
each of the Directors (namely, Mr. Zhang Gongjun, Mr. Kam Hou Yin. John,
Ms. Liu Yi, Mr. Hsu Tawei and Ms. Chong Kan Yu) has been given relevant
guideline materials to ensure that they are apprised of the latest changes
in the commercial, legal and regulatory requirements in relation to the
Company’s businesses, and to refresh their knowledge and skills on the
roles, functions and duties of a listed company director.

New Directors, on appointment, will be given an induction package
containing all key legal and GEM Listing Rules’ requirements as well as
guidelines on the responsibilities and obligations to be observed by a
director. The package will also include the latest published financial
reports of the Company and the documentation for the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Board.

The Company also continuously updates Directors on the latest
developments regarding listing rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. Circulars or guidance notes are also
issued to Directors where appropriate to ensure their awareness of best
corporate governance practices.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Corporate governance functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
and has reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and compliance with the Code, reviewed and monitored the
continuous professional development of the Directors and reviewed and
monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements during the year as well as the disclosures in
this report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference, which are
available for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange, to assist them in the efficient implementation of their functions.
Specific responsibilities have been delegated to the above committees.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established by the Board on 20 December 2011
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of
the GEM Listing Rules and the Code. The terms of reference were last
updated on 1 January 2019 and maintained on both the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are mainly to (i) review the financial statements and reports
and consider any significant or unusual items raised by the Company's
staff responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or external auditors before submission to the Board; (ii)
review the relationship with the external auditors by reference to the work
performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of external auditors; and (iii) review the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company'’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated procedures.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Audit Committee (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee has three members
comprising, Mr. Hsu Tawei, Dr. Vincent Cheng and Dr. Miao Bo, all of
whom are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John
was appointed as a chairman of Audit Committee on 23 February 2023.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee had
reviewed the annual results and report of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2021, the interim results and report of the Company for the
six months ended 30 June 2022 and first and third quarterly results and
reports of the Company for the periods ended 31 March 2022 and 30
September 2022 respectively. Subsequent to 31 December 2022 and up
to the date of this report, all members of the Audit Committee attended a
meeting to review the Group's internal control, risk management and the
Structured Agreements (as set out in the section headed “Report of the
Directors” of this annual report) for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
Group's final results and the annual results announcement for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and this annual report had been reviewed by
the Audit Committee before submission to the Board for approval.
Members of the Audit Committee were of the opinion that the
preparation of such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the GEM Listing Rules and that adequate disclosure have been
made.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 5 meetings of the Audit

B.1

EXEBTHEES (H)

ERZER (E)
R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H HEZZEE
SHEBE=ZERE B KELE B35
BEIREEEL  BEHAEBIIENT
FEE- o ZBLER T -_=ZF_-H
Zt-RAEZTABEZRZEEXR - HE
B F+-A=t—-RHILEE  B&
ZEgRIARABES_—F1+=H
S+—HIEFENFEEEMRE A2
AHE_ZT-__FA=Z1+THILEAEAN
FHELENRE  URARFDREZ=
T -R=t+—HEZZTEZ-FNA
“tHULSMNE —FTERE-FTEEE
RiRE RN —_BE-_—_F+_A=+—
AZEANREEE  EXEZE€2EKEY
HEEEERTAEEEE S -_—_F1+=
A=+ —HIEFEMNRNPET - BRERE
MEEDZR(BRAFRIEETSHRE | —
) REBBE_T-__F+-A=1+—
AIEFENRBXEREFEENSSE
FRISEVEZEGERE  FIRREES
eElt BEREZECKRERBREZSTE
EFABAE &R GeM ETARBAER
EHFEDHE -

BE T -+ -_A=+—HItFE "

Committee were held and the attendance of each member of the Audit ERLTEeRARANER  SEXLEE
Committee is contained in the following table: REMEFEBEARNTE
Number of attendance/
number of meetings
HERE, &FHE
Mr. Hsu Tawei RARERAE 5/5
Ms. Chong Kan Yu HEmzt
(appointed on 23 February 2023) (RZZEZ=F-_A-+=HEZHF) 0/0
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John TEELA
(appointed on 23 February 2023) (RZTE_=F_F-+=BEZMF) 0/0
Mr. Tsao Hoi Ho BEREE
(appointed on 9 December 2021 and (RZZE=_—F+-_ANBHEZIK
resigned on 5 December 2022) R-E-—F+=- ARHET) 5/5
Dr.Vincent Cheng BamiEL
(resigned on 23 February 2023) (RZZE_=F-_A=-+=HFMT) 5/5
Dr. Miao Bo [P 4 .
(resigned on 23 February 2023) (RZZE-_Z=ZF-_A-+=HEMD) 5/5
EHSRREERERAT TEIFER
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 20
December 2011 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Code. The terms of reference were last updated on 1 January 2019 and
maintained on both the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are mainly to
(i) review the Board composition; (ii) develop and formulate relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of directors; (iii) identify
qualified individuals to become members of the Board; (iv) monitor the
appointment and succession planning of directors; and (v) assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The nomination policy aims to set out the relevant selection criteria and
nomination procedures.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the following factors
would be used as reference by the Nomination Committee, including but
not limited to:

(@)  ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company;

(b)  reputation for integrity and accomplishment and experience in the
relevant industry(ies);

() commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;
(d)  diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,

cultural and educational background and ethnicity; and

(e) effectiveness in carrying out the responsibilities of the Board, such
as participating in Board meetings to bring an independent
judgement, scrutinising the Company's performance and
monitoring the reporting of performance, etc..

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation. A circular setting out information as
required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations of the
proposed candidates will be sent to the shareholders. The Board shall
have the final decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of
candidates to stand for election at any general meeting.

As at 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee has 4 members
comprising of one executive Director, Mr. Zhang Gongjun and three
independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Vincent Cheng, Dr. Miao Bo, and
Mr. Hsu Tawei. Ms. Chong Kan Yu was appointed as the chairlady of
Nomination Committee on 23 February 2023. During the year ended 31
December 2022, 4 meetings of the Nomination Committee was held to
review the structure and composition of the Board and assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors. The
attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is contained
in the following table:

B.2

EXEBTHEES (H)

REZEE (H)
REZBGEANEMBRERANESTEIR
hEs - HEFTSZELIE - BREBIER
BAZNMBERASESR  REREEAR
EreR% HEFSERERER - AR
A MR E L IRAARAR - RA AR
ZRFINEREEABF OB - HEBIR
BAZNBRASESNAAHBERH
BEREERERE -

R-BE-_—F+-_A=+—H EEKZLE
CTHNEKEBHERK  BE—ZRTES
IR AEBEE UWRZRBBIFRTE
F OIMEEEL BRBEIRGAREL
o HERZIN T -_=F_A=+=
HEZTARRFAZEGER HEZZT
——H+-A=ZT—HLFE REEZE
AR RN ESGEB LA
MEEBUERTEENB LM - FIRE
ZEENEMTFIBRENTE

Number of attendance/
number of meeting
HERE EEBE
Mr. Zhang Gongjun RN A 4/4
Mr. Hsu Tawei mARERE 4/4
Ms. Chong Kan Yu (appointed on 23 February 2023) HEmLZ LT
(RZEZ=FZAZ+=RHEZM) 0/0
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John SEEEAE
(appointed on 23 February 2023) (RZTE_=F_A-+=HEZT) 0/0
Mr. Tsao Hoi Ho EYEE St
(appointed on 9 December 2021 (RZB-_—F+-_ANBHEZER
resigned on 5 December 2022) R-_B-—F+_-ARAEITE) 4/4
Mr. Leung Man Kit R ERE 3/3
(appointed on 1 February 2022 and (RZZE_ZF-_A—HEZAR
resigned on 5 December 2022) R-ZB-—F+_-ARAEIE)
Mr. Lau Jing Yeung, William 2 EH A 2/2
(appointed on 11 March 2022 and (RZZE-_—F=A+—BHEZIK
resigned on 5 December 2022) R-ZB-—F+_-ARAEIE)
Dr. Vincent Cheng BmEE L
(resigned on 23 February 2023) (RZTE_=F_-A=-+=HF1T) 4/4
Dr. Miao Bo EORE LT
(resigned on 23 February 2023) (RZZE_=F_-A=-+=BF1T) 4/4
Ms. Wan Suyuan SREZT
(appointed on 9 December 2021 and (RZEZ—F+-_ANBEZIK
resigned on 5 December 2022) R-ZB-—F+_-ARAEIE) 4/4

B m R ERERAR
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Board adopted on 29 August 2013 a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) and the Nomination Committee had made
recommendations to the Board on the measurable objectives for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy. The Board recognises that
increasing diversity at the Board level will support the attainment of the
Company's strategic objectives and sustainable development. The
Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The measurable objectives
recommended by the Nomination Committee and adopted by the Board
include the following:

(i) At least 33% of the members of the Board shall be non-executive
Directors or independent non-executive Directors;

(i) At least 80% of the members of the Board shall have attained
bachelor's degree or above;

At least 33% of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications;

(iif)

At least 33% of the members of the Board shall have more than
seven years of experience in the industry he/she is specialised in;

(iv)
and

(v) At least 33% of the members of the Board shall have China-related
work experience.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 20 December
2011 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code. The
Remuneration Committee adopted the approach under code provision
B.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code and the primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are mainly to (i) make recommendations to the Board on the
Company'’s policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration; (ii) make
recommendations on the remuneration packages of executive Directors
and senior management; and (iii) review and approve performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by
the Board from time to time.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED) B. EXEBTMWEES (H)
Remuneration Committee (Continued) B3 ¥FMZEES (&)
As at 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee has four RZEBE__F+_A=+—"H8 HFWEE
members comprising three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Hsu GHMUEKBAN - BE=-BBILIENT
Tawei, Dr. Vincent Cheng and Dr. Miao Bo, and one executive Director, Mr. EE G AKERE TERBEILERK
Zhang Gongjun. Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John and Ms. Chong Kan Yu were Bt Uh—BHRTES A %ﬁ’&{ﬁﬁ
appointed as members of Remuneration Committee on 23 February 2023. o aZBERENMEERMZIN _ZE =
The remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference to their $ AZ+T=BEZERFMWNEZES
respective experience, responsibilities with the Group and general market 8 é%ﬁ’j@)ﬂ‘i\}ﬁﬂ%& LB -
conditions. During the year ended 31 December 2022, 4 meetings of the HALSENEER—RTABEE #HEZ
Remuneration Committee were held to review the remuneration package T oFF A=+ —HIEFE  FME
of the Directors and senior management of the Company, and the Eer F‘;EJP_T]/’X’;\;%$ AARNREERSR
attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is contained EEEBNFNEGEE SFWEESKEN
in the following table: HEERESHN T :
Number of attendance/
number of meetings
HERE EREE
Mr. Hsu Tawei CINESS
(appointed on 1 March 2021) R_ZE-——F=ZF—HEEZT) 4/4
Mr. Zhang Gongjun RAEEE 4/4
Ms. Chong Kan Yu HEmZ T
(appointed on 23 February 2023) (RZEZ=F-A=-1+=RAEZMT) 0/0
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John %ﬁﬁiﬁi
(appointed on 23 February 2023) (RZBZ=F_A-+=RAEZ%F) 0/0
Ms. Wan Suyuan xRz T
(appointed on 9 December 2021 and (BN—ZE-—F+-_RAAEZEN
resigned on 5 December 2022) R-T-__F+_-AHBEHE) 4/4
Dr. Miao Bo ERIET
(resigned on 23 February 2023) (RZEBEZ=F-A=+=HFF) 4/4
Mr. Tsao Hoi Ho BEREE
(appointed on 9 December 2021 and (RZBZ_—F+_ANRAEZEK
resigned on 5 December 12022) RZZBZZF+ZARAFMT) 4/4
Mr. Lau Jing Yeung, William %JIE%?E% 2/2
(appointed on 11 March 2022 and (RZZZ=ZF=A+—HEZER
resigned on 5 December 2022) R-T- £+ ARHEHE)
Mr. Leung Man Kit B 3/3
(appointed on 1 February 2022 and (W—E-—F_F—ARZAR

resigned on 5 December 2022)

R-ZE-—F+ - ARHBT)
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REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT C EREEENHS
The biographical details of the senior management are set out in the BREEENBEREEBEHNATRIES
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” FaREREE Y EFEFIE] —F -
of this annual report.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the number of senior HE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE "
management other than the Directors who received/was entitled to B2 = DASMNIRER 5 A U R A T &3 S A0 BN
receive remuneration falling within the following band is set out as THEMEEBAZNT ¢
follows:
Number of individual
AE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 BT 1
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE D. EXEHGRSUBBRNEE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial year and to ensure
that the consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance
with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
statement by the auditors of the Company about their responsibilities for
the consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor's Report on pages 112 to 114 of this annual report. The Board also
ensures the timely publication of the financial statements. The Directors,
having made appropriate enquiries, confirm that they are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company'’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

EZeRREEEASHBFEREARR
AR ATBHRE  BREAMBRERIRE
THRENBACTEANFER - BEEAQF]
R R A M HRERATAaE AR
RAFERE12EEE 114 BB AZHED
Hd o BRI ABR KT ER
K-BEGELAEEHEER  HESE
Fisn SIEERr S ARRIBELE 28
NEREREME 2 B MA 2 EREKR
THERZE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERERE (B)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. The Board has developed its
systems of internal control and risk management and is also responsible
for reviewing the systems on an annual basis and maintaining adequate
internal control and risk management systems to safeguard the interests
of the shareholders and the assets of the Company.

The internal audit department has performed annual review on the
Group's internal control and risk management systems, policy and
procedures for the year ended 31 December 2022 and reported to the
Audit Committee its findings and recommendations.

The Board, having taken into account the recommendations of the
internal audit department and the Audit Committee, has conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, and
considered the risk management and internal control systems effective
and adequate. The systems of risk management and internal control are
designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

E.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(CONTINUED)

Procedures for handling and dissemination of inside
information

The Board has approved and adopted an Inside Information Disclosure
Policy (the "Policy”) for the Company since 2013 for monitoring and
disclosing inside information to ensure compliance with the GEM Listing
Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance. The procedures for
handling and dissemination of inside information as set out in the Policy

are summarised below:

(i

(ii)

Handling of Inside Information

(@)

Inside information shall be announced as soon as reasonably
practicable after it becomes known to the Board and/or is the
subject of a decision by the Board. In cases where a decision
by the Board is pending or in cases of incomplete
negotiations, the Group shall implement the procedures set
out in the Policy to maintain the confidentiality of
information. Until an announcement is made, the Directors
and the management should ensure that such information is
kept strictly confidential, and only the key personnel are
informed. If the confidentiality cannot be maintained, an
announcement shall be made as soon as practicable.

Business units shall keep inside information on transactions
confidential. If there is a leakage of inside information, they
shall inform the Directors immediately so that remedial
actions, including making an inside information
announcement, can be taken at the earliest opportunity.

The Group's Finance Department shall keep track of the
Group's threshold levels for disclosure pursuant to the size
tests under the GEM Listing Rules, so that an announcement
can be made as soon as practicable should a notifiable
transaction arise.

Dissemination of Inside Information

(@

Inside information is announced promptly through the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Interviews and Briefing sessions can be organised for the
analysts and the media after the designated officers having
the approval from the Chairman of the Company.
Presentation materials shall be reviewed in advance before
they are released at the briefing sessions.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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F. INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the auditors of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 is set out as follows:

B ZBE M E

BE-Z-__F+-A=1T—HLFE"
BN ENREEZEMNMENT -

Paid/payable

Services rendered R A0 AR BB
RMB'000

ARBFT

Statutory audit services EEE RS 790
Non-audit services IR 897
Total &5t 1,687

G. COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Man Kit (“Mr. Leung”) was appointed as the Company Secretary
on 23 February 2023. According to the requirements of Rule 5.15 of the
GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Leung has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company has established various channels of communication with its
shareholders and the public to ensure that they are kept abreast of the
Company'’s latest news and development. Information relating to the
Company'’s financial details, property projects and major events are
available through publication of annual and interim reports,
announcements, circulars, press releases and on the Company’s website.

The Board believes that effective investor relations can help lower
financing cost, improve market liquidity of the Company’s shares, and
build a more stable shareholder base. Therefore, the Company is
committed to maintaining a high level of corporate transparency and
follow a policy of disclosing relevant information to shareholders,
investors, analysts and bankers in a timely manner.

Shareholders and investors may also write directly to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 1309, 13/F, Mirror
Tower, 61 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong or via email to
"info@flyingfinancial.hk” for any inquiries. Inquiries are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner.

The Board considers that general meetings of the Company provide an
important channel for shareholders to exchange views with the Board.
The Chairman of the Board as well as the chairmen and/or other members
of the Board committees will endeavor to be available at the meetings to
answer any questions raised by shareholders.

The Company continues to enhance communication and relationship
with its investors. A designated senior management and investor relations
team maintains regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts
to keep them informed of the Group’s developments.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for convening extraordinary meeting on
requisition

Shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) shall follow the
following procedures as prescribed in Article 64 of the articles of
association of the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting
of the Company (the "EGM"):

m

One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings (the
"Requisitionist(s)”) shall have the right, by written requisition (the
“Requisition”), to require an EGM to be called by the Directors for
the transaction of any business specified therein.

The Requisition shall be made in writing to the Directors or the
Company Secretary of the Company at both of the following
addresses:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong

Address: Room 1309, 13/F
Mirror Tower
61 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Attention: Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

Attention: Board of Directors/Company Secretary

The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of the
Requisition.

If the Directors fail to proceed to convene the EGM within twenty-
one (21) days of deposit of the Requisition, the Requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Directors shall be reimbursed to the
Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

KRR
ERBARRBAIAEZEF

REBEARAERMAAUBARZIRTE AR
AR (TR ) B3R AR R B RER 5
RE ([BREFRIANE ) BETATIER

(1) ER—BHALREZERKAHEE
PORARRREEBRA(HARARR
AIREARE LRER) TH 2 KK
ROIEBRALDEREBELERE
KOIER 2T ABRKESEARK
RERIRE - LNREBBERDPIEH
MRS

2 FAREERERATHIRRNAFTES
SRR RWENEEAEL

AATREBNETELEEMH
Ak BB
AR 61 5
TR
1312 1309F
WHA:  EBRg/REWE
AR EMRERE
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

WA - EEE  NEWE

3) BREIREENEZEZRKEMEAR
WEIT °

4 ME2ERBE-+—QNBER &S
RBARBRERFRIAE - B|ERKA
TAEITUREFRBRARE ME
IATHEEEGABERBRASMES
MBS EBERATERAARMERA
TIEHESR -

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR

57



58

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EERRE (&)

I. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (CONTINUED)
Procedures for raising enquiries
Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings,
share transfer, registration and payment of dividend to the Company's
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong (the “Branch Share
Registrar”), Tricor Investor Services Limited, details of which are as follows:
Tricor Investor Services Limited
Address: 17/F., Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com
Tel: (852) 2980 1333
Fax: (852) 28108185
Shareholders may at any time raise any enquiry in respect of the Company
at the following designated contacts, correspondence address, email
address and enquiry hotlines of the Company:
Attention: Board of Directors/Company Secretary
Address: Room 1309, 13/F
Mirror Tower
61 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: info@flyingfinancial.nk
Tel: (852) 2152 9937
Fax: (852) 21529927
Shareholders are reminded to lodge their questions together with their
detailed contact information for the prompt response from the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERERE (B)

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals
at general meeting

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
Shareholder(s) should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal (the
"Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at the Company's
principal place of business in Hong Kong as specified above.

The Proposal will be verified by the Branch Share Registrar in Hong Kong
and upon their confirmation that the Proposal is proper and in order, the
Board will be asked to include the Proposal in the agenda for the general
meeting. Whether a proposal will be put to a general meeting will be
decided by the Board in its discretion, unless the proposal put forward by
a Shareholder is (i) pursuant to a requisition by a Shareholder to convene
an EGM or (i) as special business to be considered at an annual general
meeting as described in Article 67(A) of the article of association of the
Company.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for consideration of
the proposal raised by the Shareholder(s) concerned at the general
meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as follows:

(@)  not less than twenty-one (21) days’ notice and not less than twenty
(20) clear business days' notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of any resolution of the Company in its annual
general meeting;

(b)  notless than twenty-one (21) days’ notice and not less than ten (10)
clear business days’' notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in the EGM;
or

(©)  not less than fourteen (14) days' notice and not less than ten (10)
clear business days' notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of any resolution of the Company other than those
specified in paragraphs (a) and (b) above.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EERRE (&)

J. NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Details on the compliance of the non-competition undertaking by the
substantial Shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out
in the paragraph headed “Non-Competition Undertaking” of the section
headed “Report of the Directors” of this annual report.

K. CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
The Board confirm that there is no change in the Company’s constitutional

documents. The Company’s memorandum and articles of association is
available on both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

THF A

HE_ZE-_—_F+-A=+—RHILFE "
TEREBTIEB AL FBHNARE
WRIEBEFERS] —HTHRFEAH] K-

ERXH
EFRRR - AR SR EE

B o AR B EBEIR M M AT R AT OB 22
AL AR AR E R -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

The Board of Directors of the Company is pleased to present the annual report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of the Group are investment in property development
projects, operation of a financial services platform, provision of entrusted loan
and other loan services, financial consultation services, and finance lease services
in the PRC.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities, including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, an indication of the likely
future developments in the Group's business and the Company’s environmental,
social and corporate responsibility, can be found in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. These discussions
form part of this report of the Directors.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and the PRC while
the Company itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group's establishment
and operations accordingly shall comply with all PRC laws and applicable laws in
the jurisdictions where it has operations. During the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this annual report, the Group has complied with all
the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 8 December 2020, Mr. Zheng
Weijing ("Mr. Zheng"), the previous chairman, chief executive officer and an
executive director of the Company, Ms. Guo Chanjiao (“Ms. Guo”), previous
executive director of the Company, and three previous employees of the Group
have been held in custody since the evening of 7 December 2020 by the
Nanshan Branch of the Shenzhen Public Security Bureau (the “Bureau”) in the
People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") pending investigation regarding certain
suspected illegal absorption of public deposits (collectively, the “Custodies”). The
Custodies are related to certain unsettled repayment funds (the “Unsettled
Repayment Funds”) in relation to the online financing intermediary business
conducted by a PRC subsidiary of the Company, Shenzhen Flying Financial
Internet Financial Services Corporation (“SZ Flying Internet Financial”), the
operation of which has already been ceased in the fourth quarter of 2019.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
(CONTINUED)

Following the relevant investigations of the PRC authority and criminal
proceedings of first instance trial in the PRC, a criminal judgement was made by
the People’s Court of Nanshan District of Shenzhen (“SZ Nanshan District Court”)
on 18 October 2021 (the “October 2021 Judgement”) against Mr. Zheng, Ms. Guo
and the three former employees of the Group. With reference to the October
2021 Judgement, SZ Nanshan District Court determined that, among others,

M

Mr. Zheng was the actual controller of SZ Flying Financial. Mr. Zheng had
actually controlled the illegal fundraising activities of SZ Flying Financial
(through online and offline channels) and was the decision maker of the
use and allocation of the raised funds;

Ms. Guo was the general manager of SZ Flying Financial, who was
responsible for the daily business of SZ Flying Financial including the
organization of the fundraising activities (through online and offline
channels), the sales of private placement products, etc,;

the three former employees of the Group were responsible for the
relevant matters of operation, finance and risk control of SZ Flying
Financial, respectively;

the Company and SZ Flying Financial were not regarded as subject of
crime. The criminal offence of illegal absorption of public deposits (the
"Offence”) was individually committed by Mr. Zheng, Ms. Guo and the
three former employees of the Group;

Mr. Zheng, Ms. Guo and the three former employees of the Group were all
convicted of the Offence and were sentenced to 18 months to 7 years of
prison with monetary penalties;

Mr. Zheng and Ms. Guo confessed to committing the Offence;

the three former employees of the Group confessed to committing the
Offence and their respective sentences; and

the outstanding amount in relation to the Offence subject to refund to
the investors was approximately RMB680 million. The assets seized (which
included the Seized Assets) in relation to the Offence shall be distributed
to the relevant investors in accordance with the applicable PRC law and
regulations.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any laws and regulations
which are industry specific, and have material implication or impact on the
business and operation of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises that employees are valuable assets and regards the
personal development of its employees as highly important. The Group wants to
continue to be an attractive employer for committed employees. During the
year under review, there was no dispute on salary payments and all accrued
remunerations, in all kinds, were settled on or before their respective due dates,
as stipulated under individual employee’s employment contract. The Group also
ensures that all the employees are reasonably remunerated by regular review
and the policies on salary increment, promotion, bonus, allowances and all other
related benefits are updated from time to time. Being people-oriented, the
Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy workplace for its employees
and encourages them to have a work-life balance.

The Group appreciates the importance of maintaining good relationships with
its customers and suppliers to meet its immediate and long-term business goals.
The Group values the feedback from its customers through communication to
address their concerns in a timely manner. For suppliers, the Group assures the
quality of their delivered services and products.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, there is no circumstance of
any event between the Group and its employees, customers and suppliers
which will have a significant impact on the Group's business and on which the
Group's success depends.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the state of affairs
of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 115 to 230.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
financial year ended 31 December 2022.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy aims to set out the approach to target dividend payout ratio
of the Company.

The Company targets to distribute to its shareholders a dividend amount as
determined by the Board at its sole and absolute discretion, but subject to:

a. the requirements of the Company’s constitutional documents;

b.  the solvency requirements of the laws of the Cayman Islands;
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE(E)

DIVIDEND POLICY (CONTINUED)

C. there being sufficient amount of retained profits and share premium of
the Company for the dividend payment;

d. any financial covenants and other restrictions that exist with respect to
certain of the Company’s financing arrangements and other agreements
by which the Company is bound from time to time;

e. the earnings, financial position, results of operation, expansion plans,
working capital requirements, and anticipated cash needs of the Company
and its subsidiaries;

f. the payment by subsidiaries of cash dividends to the Company; and

g.  otherfactors which the Board may deem appropriate.

With respect to restriction (e) above, if any of the subsidiaries incurs debt on its
own behalf in the future, the instruments governing the debt, such as the
indenture governing any notes/bonds, may restrict its ability to pay dividends or
make other payments to the Company, and the corporate laws applicable to the
subsidiaries also impose requirements that these subsidiaries must meet before
they may pay dividends to the Company.

The form and frequency of dividend declaration and payment shall be at the
sole and absolute discretion of the Board and the dividend policy does not
constitute a legally binding commitment in respect of the future dividends.

The Board will monitor the implementation of the dividend policy and will
review the dividend policy, as appropriate, to ensure the compliance of the
dividend policy and discuss and approve any revision as and when require.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out in the financial summary on pages 231 and 232
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share options during
the year are set out in notes 27 and 28 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHT

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment
properties of the Group during the year are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, there is no reserves available for distributions to equity
holders of the Company comprising share premium account less accumulated
losses. (2021: nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Gongjun

Ms. Liu Yi

Ms. Wan Suyuan (appointed on 9 December 2021 and resigned on
5 December 2022)

Mr. Leung Man Kit (appointed on 1 February 2022 and resigned on
5 December 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Hsu Tawei

Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John (appointed on 23 February 2023)

Ms. Chong Kan Yu (appointed on 23 February 2023)

Mr. Tsao Hoi Ho (appointed on 9 December 2021 and resigned on
5 December 2022)

Mr. Lau Jing Yeung, William (appointed on 11 March 2022 and resigned
on 5 December 2022)

Dr. Vincent Cheng (resigned on 23 February 2023)

Dr. Miao Bo (resigned on 23 February 2023)

Pursuant to Article 105(A) of the Company'’s articles of association (the “Articles
of Association”), at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for
the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation
and shall be eligible for re-election. Every Director, including those appointed for
a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

By virtue of Article 109 of the Articles of Association, any person appointed by
the Directors to fill a casual vacancy or as additional Director shall hold office
until the next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at the meeting. Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John and Ms. Chong Kan
Yu and Ms. Liu Yi, who were appointed by the board of Directors of the
Company as Directors pursuant to board resolution with effect from 23 May
2022 and 23 February 2023, respectively, will retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company, Ms. Liu Yi, Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John and Ms.
Chong Kan Yu, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out in
the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years unless and until (i) terminated by either party
thereto giving not less than three months’ prior written notice; or (ii) the
executive Director not being re-elected as a Director or being removed by
Shareholders at general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles
of Association.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed for an initial
term of two years (as set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report) and shall be subject to retirement, re-election and
removal in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Director being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

(1) Ms. Wan Suyuan and Mr. Leung Man Kit was resigned as a executive
director and as a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee on 5 December 2022.

(2)  Mr. Lau Jing Yeung, William was resigned as an independent non-
executive Director and as the chairman of the Nomination Committee and
a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee on 5 December 2022.

(3)  Mr. Tsao Hoi Ho was resigned as an independent non-executive Director
and as the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 5
December 2022.

(4)  Dr. Vincent Cheng was resigned as an independent non-executive
Director and as the member of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 23 February 2023.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

®)

Dr. Miao Bo was resigned as an independent non-executive Director and
as the member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee on 23 February 2023.

Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, a chairman of the audit committee and a member of each of the
nomination committee and the remuneration committee on 23 February
2023.

Ms. Chong Kan Yu was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, a chairlady of the Nomination Committee and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee on 23 February
2023.

Mr. Chow Chi Wing was resigned as the company secretary and the
Authorised representative of the Company on 23 February 2023.

Mr. Leung Man Kit was appointed as the Company Secretary and the
Authorised Representatives in replacement of Mr. Chow Chi Wing on 23
February 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there were no changes to the Directors’ information

since the date of the 2022 annual report of the Company required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from all three

independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the Company considers the independent non-executive Directors to
be independent.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the interests of Mr. Zheng Weijing, the previous director of the Company
(resigned on 26 March 2021) in & 3 [& & 8 & & 15 & R A 7] (Guangdong
Huijin Pawn Stock Company Limited*) (“Guangdong Huijin"), being a party to the
transactions as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Non- exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions” and the paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive's Interests and Short Position in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” below, no Directors or controlling shareholders (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) of the Company had material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument
policy and structure of all remuneration of the Directors and senior management
of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market practices.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five individuals with the
highest emoluments are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The PRC subsidiaries of the Group participate in defined contribution retirement
benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised by the PRC municipal and provincial
government authorities whereby the PRC subsidiaries are required to make
contributions at the rate of Nil (2021: approximately 14%) of the eligible
employees’ salaries to the Schemes. The Group has accrued for the required
contributions which are remitted to the respective local government authorities
when the contributions become due. The local government authorities are
responsible for the pension obligations payable to the retired employees
covered under the Schemes. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in future years.

*  Foridentification purposes only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed in Hong Kong.
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest immediately.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors, substantial shareholders and controlling shareholders of
the Company and their respective close associates (having their meanings as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interests in any business which
compete or may compete with the business of the Group or any other conflicts
of interest which any person may have with the Group as at 31 December 2022.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

As disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 20 April 2012
("Prospectus”), Ming Cheng Investments Limited and Mr. Zheng Weijing
(collectively, the “Substantial Shareholders”), among others, has executed a deed
of non-competition (the “Non-competition Undertaking”) through which they
have irrevocably warranted and undertaken to the Company, not to, among
others, directly or indirectly engage, participate or hold any right or interest in or
render any services to or otherwise be involved in any business in competition
with or likely to be in competition with the business of the provision of (i) pawn
loan services; (i) entrusted loan services; and (i) financial consultation services
and business ancillary to any of the foregoing in Hong Kong, the PRC and any
other country or jurisdiction to which the Group provides such services and/or in
which any member of the Group carries on business mentioned above from
time to time.

The Substantial Shareholders have confirmed to the Company in respect of their
compliance with the Non-competition Undertaking during the financial year
ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the compliance with
the Non-competition Undertaking during the financial year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this annual report based on information and
confirmation provided by or obtained from the Substantial Shareholders, and
were satisfied that the Substantial Shareholders have duly complied with the
Non-competition Undertaking.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

UPDATES ON COMPLIANCE AND REGULATORY
MATTERS AS DISCLOSED IN THE PROSPECTUS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, as a provider of pawn loan services to the
customers, Guangdong Huijin is subject to the requirements of the Measures for
the Administration of Pawning (E2 & &2 ##%) (the "Pawning Measures”). The
Pawning Measures prescribe certain thresholds which pawn loan providers have
to comply with in respect of the pawn loans advanced to customers and they
also govern the rate of interest and total fees that may be charged by a pawn
loan provider.

The Pawning Measures provide that the rate of interest charged on a loan
provided in respect of pawned property must not exceed the interest rate for a
six-month loan as published by the People’s Bank of China (the "PBOC") as
discounted by the pawn loan period. It further provides that the combined
monthly total fees (excluding the consultation fee and the amount of loan
repayment) (being administration fee in the business) payable by the pledgor
must not exceed 4.2% of the loan amount in respect of loans secured by
pledged movable property, 2.7% of the loan amount in respect of loans secured
by mortgaged real estate and 2.4% of the loan amount in respect of loans
secured by pledged property rights.

As regards the other thresholds, the Pawning Measures provide that the
maximum outstanding amount owing on property pledged or mortgaged by
any one legal person or natural person to a pawn loan provider must not exceed
25% of the registered capital of the pawn loan provider; and that the total
outstanding amount owing in respect of property right pledged by customers
must not exceed 50% of the registered capital of a pawn loan provider. It is also
provided in the Pawning Measures that, if the registered capital of a pawn loan
provider is more than RMB10 million, the maximum loan amount that may be
provided for a single real estate backed loan must not exceed 10% of the
registered capital of the pawn loan provider.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE(E)

UPDATES ON COMPLIANCE AND REGULATORY
MATTERS AS DISCLOSED IN THE PROSPECTUS
(CONTINUED)

For the two years ended 31 December 2011, there were nine incidents where
the loans granted by Guangdong Huijin were not in compliance with the
relevant thresholds prescribed by the Pawning Measures. According to the PRC
legal adviser of the Company, Guangdong Huijin may be subject to
administrative penalty as a result of its past non-compliance; the maximum
potential penalty that may be imposed by the relevant government authorities
on the Group for such non-compliance would be an order to correct the non-
compliance and a fine of up to RMB30,000 for each non-compliant transaction.
As administrative penalty for illegal acts shall be imposed within two years from
the date such illegal act is committed, no administrative penalty for the nine
incidents of non-compliant transactions occurred during the two years ended 31
December 2011 shall be imposed after June 2013. As advised by the PRC legal
adviser of the Company, customers of the non-compliant transactions are
entitled to claim against Guangdong Huijin for overcharged interests and
administrations fees within two years commencing from the full repayment of
the pawn loans. All of the customers have signed confirmation letters and agree,
among other things, not to take any action against Guangdong Huijin for their
rights and entitlements in regard to the non-compliant loans granted by
Guangdong Huijin.

As at the date of this annual report, the Directors confirm that the Group had not
received any order to correct the non-compliance nor any notice of fine from
the relevant PRC government authorities. To the best knowledge of the
Directors, as at the date of this annual report, the Group had not received any
claims against Guangdong Huijin from its customers for overcharged interests
and administration fees in respect of the past non-compliance.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

UPDATES ON COMPLIANCE AND REGULATORY
MATTERS AS DISCLOSED IN THE PROSPECTUS
(CONTINUED)

Since November 2010, to ensure ongoing compliance with the Pawning

Measures and other relevant laws and regulations, the Group has implemented

the following measures:

U]

(i)

(iff)

(iv)

in the loan approval process, the business team will fill in details of each
loan application, including the party, amount, rate of administration fees
and interest of each loan application, in order to ensure all loan
applications are in compliance with the Pawning Measures;

the risk management team, with the assistance of the legal and
compliance team, will cross-check the loan application, in particular the
loan amount and the rate of interest and administration fees to be
charged, to ensure compliance with the Pawning Measures;

the legal and compliance team will keep themselves aware of any
changes to the official rate prescribed by the PBOC and notify the
management if there may be any risk of breach of any of the threshold(s)
prescribed by the Pawning Measures; and they will obtain updates on
relevant laws and regulations from time to time and check whether the
existing practice is in compliance with these updates and if not, conduct
remedial measures; and

the Group will consult the external legal advisers and seek their advice on
compliance matters as and when required.

For further details of the past non-compliance and ongoing compliance

measures with the Pawning Measures, please refer to pages 147 to 152 of the
Prospectus.

As at the date of this annual report, based on information and confirmation
provided by or obtained from the Group, the independent non-executive

Directors were satisfied that the Group have duly complied with the prescribed

thresholds under the Pawning Measures for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
were required pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as
follows:

Interests in the underlying Shares

REZETHRAERKG - HEE

RZZE-—F+-_A=+—H ARAAEEK=E
BITBRABRARRREEEEZE(EEREE
EOESNEBSHSRBAEGRA(EFHFRBEK
Bl ) ExvEr) 2B, - FERERR G REFTHEE A
BIEELS RS EAEXVEE7 Rsn PME R
NEI R AT 2 e (B IR RIEE F R E &0
ERBENEERE AR ZEERAE) iR
BB A N BRI 55 352 164 TE B AR SR TE SZ KPR
oz ErE Mz LS SRR GEM ETT AR AIEE 546

567 RATIAR G AR F RSP 2 #E 2 a0
T
R G 2 s

Approximate

percentage of
shareholding in

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest Number of underlying Shares the Company
RARQABFRN
B B HnttE HEROHA BRNEDL
Long position Short position (%)
=) KB
(Note)
(M%)
Mr. Zhang Gongjun Beneficial owner 800,000 - 0.05
RARTE BEmia A
Dr. Vincent Cheng Beneficial owner 120,000 - 0.01
it EmBEAA
Dr. Miao Bo Beneficial owner 120,000 - 0.01
ERIEL BEmia A
Notes: Being unlisted physically settled share options to acquire ordinary Shares, further details of ~ Fidat : BB LB I F T EDEEBIE - £ —FHER

which are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/she was
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which was
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had an
interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Interests in the Shares

FERREHEMATRAKRG RBE
R REER KRR

N-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—8 BE=MA- T
AL (RRAREERESITHRABRIN R
D RN B BN AR AIRIEES R
HEIEHIE 336 IR EATENERMOERR

KA
R4z Es

Number of Shares held (Note 1)

FERGEE (k1)
Interest of
Beneficial Interest Security controlled Approximate
Name of Shareholder Interest of spouse interest corporation Total percentage
RR & B gz ERED BRERZ SErEER At BYBEIHE
(%)
Ming Cheng Investments Limited 367,739,567 - - - 367,739,567 21.24
ARKREBR AT (Note 2)
(Fft3E2)
Mr. Zheng Weijing 40,630,202 - - 367,739,567 408,369,769 2359
BEREE
Sino-Africa Resources Holdings Limited 255,676,042 - - - 255,676,042 14.77
FIEERIERBR AR (Note 3)
(Fft5E3)
Peace Bloom Limited 145,429,087 - - - 145,429,087 840
il YN (Note 4)
(FftzE4)
Upsoar Limited 155,518,650 - - - 155,518,650 898
AABRAE] (Note 5)
(H3EsS)
Mr. Huang Xiguang - - - 255,676,042 255,676,042 14.77
EHHEE (Note 3)
(Pft3E3)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Interests in the Shares (Continued)

FERREHEMATRAKG RBE
MR YRR ROR B (8]

Rz ()

Number of Shares held (Note 1)

BEERGOEAR (1)
Interest of
Beneficial Interest of Security controlled Approximate
Name of Shareholder Interest spouse interest corporation Total percentage
BREHA BERER BB = ERER SELEER #it MO EIE
(%)
Mr. Hu Jinxi 22,200,000 - - 145,429,087 167,629,087 9.68
HeEEhAs (Note 4)
(Mf3E4)
Ms. Fu Shanping - - - 155,518,650 155,518,650 8.98
BEFrzL (Note 5)
(MF3ES5)
Kimberland Credit Limited - - 408,369,769 - 408,369,769 23.59
S AREEBRAR (Note 6)
(M5xe)
Mr. Shi Andong - - - 408,369,769 408,369,769 23.59
i b e (Note 6)
(Mizxe6)
Notes: BaE -

1. These represent the corporation’s/person’s long position in the Shares.

2. Ming Cheng Investments Limited is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Zheng Weijing.

3. Sino-Africa Resources Holdings Limited is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Huang Xiguang.

4. Peace Bloom Limited is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Hu Jinxi.

5. Upsoar Limited is a company wholly-owned by Ms. Fu Shanping.

6. Based on the notices of disclosure of interests filed by each of Kimberland Credit Limited and

Mr. Shi Andong on 23 January 2020, these long positions in the Shares are held by Kimberland
Credit Limited which is directly wholly-owned by Mr. Shi Andong. Under the SFO, Mr. Shi
Andong is deemed to be interested in these long positions in Shares held by Kimberland Credit
Limited.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, there was no person who had
any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders of the Company on 20
December 2011 for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to the
eligible participants for their contribution to the Group and/or enabling the
Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources
that are valuable to the Group.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
As incentive or rewards to eligible participants for their contribution to the
Group.

2. Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme
Any eligible employee (whether full-time or part-time, including any
executive Director), any non-executive Director, any shareholder, any
supplier and any customer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity interest, and
any other party having contribution to the development of the Group.

3. Total number of Shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme and percentage to the issued
share capital as at the date of this report
173,143,250 shares (approximately 10% of the total issued share capital as
at the date of this annual report).

4, Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Share Option Scheme
Not exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time
being in any 12-month period. Any further grant of options in excess of
such limit must be separately approved by the Company's shareholders in
general meeting.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

5.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

The period within which the Shares must be taken up
under an option

A period (which may not expire later than 10 years from the date of offer
of that option) to be determined and notified by the Directors to the
grantee thereof.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors, there is no minimum
period required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of an
option before it can be exercised.

The amount payable on application or acceptance of
the option and the period within which payments or
calls must or may be made

A remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 on or before the date
of acceptance (which may not be later than 21 days from the date of
offer).

The basis of determining the exercise price
Being determined by the Directors and being not less than the highest of:

a. the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date of offer;

b.  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and

C. the nominal value of the Shares.
The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years

commencing on 20 December 2011 (being the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme).

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

All share options are subject to the fulfillment of relevant profit targets by the
Company, as set out below, and share options shall not be vested if any of the

profit targets is failed to be met.

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

R E (&)

BB ARARRERARANBFEET
XHED BT AEE - MAREEXKERAENE

17 BRESSTINEE -

e R B CRRIE AT

Exercise
Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period price  Vesting conditions
RHAH FEEH yid T8 SEREHE
HKS
AT
2018 Share Option 115 January 2018 31 May 2018 1June 2018to 0842 Profit after income tax (but before share-based payment expenses)
“E-\EERE —E-N\F-AtRHE ZE-\ERAZ=T-H  14Janvary 2023 according to the audited consolidated financial statement of the
Z5-\5~A-RB% Company for the year ended 31 December 2017:
“Z-=E-ATMA BEAREEE-S—+ETA=T-ALLERENEERE

AMBEE - BAEHR (BRTRROAHE) R -

— Equal to or more than RMB100 million, 100% of 2018 Share
Option 1 shall be vested:;
RERIERARBI0EET  BESE-Z -1\
ERIRIEI#)100% :

— Equal to or more than RMBBO million but less than RMB100
million, 50% of 2018 Share Option T shall be vested; and
BERASRARBOBETEIRARK 10EE
T ARE T\ FRRE M50 R

— Less than RMB80 million, no 2018 Share Option 1 shall be

vested.

SRARK BB AIBERR_T-/\FRERE -

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEERE (8

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows: (Continued)

BT E (&)

FrE R BAERIE T ¢ ()

Exercise
Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period price  Vesting conditions
RHAH FEEH N e BEKEHE
HKS
AT
2018 Share Option 215 January 2018 31 May 2019 1June 2019to 0842 Profit after income tax (but before share-based payment expenses)
“E-N\FEREI ZE-\F-A+RB ZE-AEFRAZtT-B  14Januay 2003 according to the audited consolidated financial statement of the
Z5-N§~A-BE% Company for the year ended 31 December 2018:
“ZC=F-ATEA BEARFEE-S-\ETZA=T-ALEENEERE

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

AMBEE - BAEHR (ERTRRO AR REH -

Equal to or more than RMB150 million, 100% of 2018 Share
QOption 2 shall be vested;
RERISRARBI10BET  AERB_S-N\
ERIRIEN#100% :

Equal to or more than RMB100 million but less than RMB150
million, 50% of 2018 Share Option 2 shall be vested; and
BERASRARBI0BETESRAREI0EE
T WARE T\ FRREIN M &

Less than RMB100 million, no 2018 Share Option 2 shall be
vested.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows: (Continued)

BT E (&)

FrEERIBAERIE T ¢ ()

Exercise
Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period price  Vesting conditions
RHAH BEAH L e BEKEHE
HKS
BT
2018 Share Option3 15 January 2018 31 May 2020 1June2020to 0842 Profit after income tax (but before share-based payment expenses)
“E-\EBEREN —E-N\F-A+REE ZE-EFRAZT-H 14January 2023 according to the audited consolidated financial statement of the
ZZITERA-RE Company for the year ended 31 December 2019:
“ZC=-ATHA BEARAEZ-3-NEtZA=T-ALEERNEELS

AMBEE - BAEHR (BERTBRO R REN -

— Equal to or more than RMB200 million, 100% of 2018 Share
QOption 3 shall be vested;
RERIERARE 00 BB BIESE-S -1\
RN #100%

— Equal to or more than RMB150 million but less than RMB200
million, 50% of 2018 Share Option 3 shall be vested; and
RERIERARB 10 EETAIRARE00EE
7 MERE S \FERENN50%: &

— Less than RMB150 million, no 2018 Share Option 3 shall be

vested.
SIARBI0BEL  IBEFB-E—\EER
Bl e
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEHE ()
SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) AR ERT & (&)

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows: (Continued)

FrE R BAERIE T ¢ ()

Exercise
Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period price  Vesting conditions
RHAH GRAM s ke BEEHE
HKS
BT
2018 Share Option4 15 January 2018 31 May 2021 1June 2021 to 0842 Profit after income tax (but before share-based payment expenses)
“E-\EEREYV —E-N\F-A+HEE ZE--FRAZT-H  14Janvary 2023 according to the audited consolidated financial statement of the
“F-FXA-B%E Company for the year ended 31 December 2020;
S BEARABE_Z_ZET_A=T-RILERMEENAE

On 31 May 2016, options to subscribe for an aggregate of 22,800,000 Shares,
being 100% of 2015 Share Option 1, have been vested to the grantees of the
options. On 31 May 2017, options to subscribe for an aggregate of 19,350,000
Shares of 2015 Share Option 2 have been vested to the grantees of the options.
On 31 May 2018, options to subscribe for an aggregated of 23,200,000 Shares
and 9,800,000 Shares of 2015 Share Option 3 and 2018 Share Option 1,
respectively have been vested to the grantees of the options. On 31 May 2019
options to subscribe for an aggregated of 6,840,000 Shares of 2018 Share Option
2 have been vested to the grantees of the options. On 31 May 2020, none of
2018 Share Option 3 have been vested to the grantees of the options. On 31
May 2021, none of 2018 Share Option 4 have been vested to the grantees of the
options.

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of securities available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme pursuant to its terms was 4,660,000 Shares,
representing in aggregate approximately 0.3% of the Company’s issued share
capital.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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- Equal to or more than RMB250 million, 100% of 2018 Share
Option 4 shall be vested;
BERISMARBS0EET  WEASR-Z-\
RN A100% :

— Equal to or more than RMB200 million but less than RMB250
million, 50% of 2018 Share Option 4 shall be vested; and
BESRISRARE 00 BRTEIRARE0RE

T AEBE T \FRRENM 0% &

— Less than RMB200 million, no 2018 Share Option 4 shall be
vested.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEERE(#)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Details of movements of the share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2022 were as follows:

BRESTE (&)

BHE_T-_F+-_A=+—HIFE  REE
PR B B Z BB T

Number of share options
EREHR
Outstanding as at Granted during Exercised during Lapsedduring  Outstanding as at
Name Date of grant 1 January 2022 the year the year theyear  31December2022
RIBZZE RZB-Zf
-A-H TZA=1-H
i RHES WA ERfin Rk EREH HARTR
Executive Directors
HiTES
Mr. Zhang Gongjun 15 January 2018 800,000 - - - 800,000
N vt “E-\£-AThHA
Independent non-executive Directors
BUFHTES
Dr. Vincent Cheng 15 January 2018 120,000 - - - 120,000
J=REL “T-\$-AtIA
Dr. Miao Bo 15 January 2018 120,000 - - - 120,000
HEET —T-\$-ATIA
Sub-total
It 1,040,000 - - - 1,040,000
Employeesin aggregate 15 January 2018 2,060,000 - - - 2,060,000
Egast “E-\f-AtLH
Total
&t 3100000 - - - 3100000

No options were cancelled during the year. Further details of the share options
are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

FRAEFHBRAE - BIREZEZFBHNER
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, its associated companies, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding
companies a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company to hold any interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company and/or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of the SFO).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’
liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior officers arising
out of corporate activities. During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to
the date of this annual report, save that (i) pursuant to the service contract of
each of the executive Directors, the Company shall indemnify such Directors
against, to the extent permitted by laws, all losses, claims, compensations,
liabilities or expenses incurred as a result of such Directors performing his/her
duties and responsibilities under such contracts, including but not limited to any
legal proceedings against such Directors and except for wilful default or
negligence; and (i) pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them, their or any of their executors or administrators, shall or may incur
or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts,
except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or
dishonesty, no other permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 9 of
the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation (Cap. 622D of the Laws of Hong
Kong)) was or is being in force for the benefit of any of the Directors (whether
made by the Company or otherwise) or any of the directors of an associated
company (if made by the Company).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

INTEREST CAPITALISED

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the financial year ended 31
December 2022.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save for the transactions disclosed under “Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions”, details of the material related party transactions entered into by
the Group are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements which
do not constitute notifiable or connected transactions under the GEM Listing
Rules. The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements (if any) in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company's listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2022.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established by the Board on 20 December 2011. The
role, function and composition of the Audit Committee are set out in the
paragraph headed “Audit Committee” of the Corporate Governance Report of
this annual report.

The Group's consolidated results and the results announcement for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The
Board is of opinion that the preparation of such financial information complied
with the applicable accounting standards, the requirements under the GEM
Listing Rules and any other applicable legal requirements, and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this
annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (A

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company maintained the amount of public float as
required under GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

BDO Limited resigned as auditors of the Company with effect from 23 December
2021 and Elite Partners CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 24 December 2021 to fill the vacancy following BDO
Limited's resignation. An nomination proposal will be submitted to the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Elite
Partners CPA Limited as auditor of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Zhang Gongjun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 April 2023
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

HERERRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT:

We are pleased to present this Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG")
Report in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide ("ESG Guide”), as set out in Appendix 20 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”). The
information stated in this report covers the period from 1 January 2022 to 31
December 2022 (the "Reporting Period”) which aligns with the financial year as
the 2022 annual report of the Group.

CORE BUSINESS OF THE GROUP:

In the period under review, the Group's main activities are operation of financial
services platform, provision of entrusted loan and other loan services, financial
consultation services, and finance lease in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”
or “China")

ESG APPROACH

This Report demonstrates Flying Financial Service Holdings Ltd.'s (hereinafter
referred to as “Flying Financial”, the “Company”) and its subsidiaries’ (the “Group”)
policy, approach and performance in terms of sustainable development for the
financial year ended on 31 December 2022.

The scope of this ESG report mainly includes the data and activities of the Hong
Kong and Shenzhen offices which are the major operating locations of the
Group.

In view of the nature of the business of the Group, the Group does not pose
significant environmental risks in its operation as compared to other engineering
or manufacturing focused companies. As such, the scope of this report focuses
mainly on the Group's management approach in the areas of labour practices,
employee benefits, supply chain management, product responsibility, anti-
corruption and anti-money laundering activity and community investment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RiIR - HERERERE (&)

STATEMENT FROM THE BOARD

The Board of Flying Financial believes that the establishment of the ESG
management system can continuously promote the sustainable development of
the Company. As the decision-making body for sustainable development, the
Board of the Company is fully responsible for the Company’s sustainable
development strategies, and based on which conducts overall planning for the
Company's ESG management, including but not limited to providing guidance
on ESG working guidelines regularly.

The Group has appointed the management to oversee the Group's ESG-related
issues and works, and identify and prevent major ESG risks in daily operations
through the ESG risk management, mainly comprising risks related to
environmental protection, safety and business operation. These risks are
periodically reviewed and reported to the Board.

The management of the Group have also been appointed to develop the
sustainable development policies and measures, and review the process of
implementation periodically. The communication with the stakeholders will be
strengthened and the sustainable development policies will be adjusted if the
progress does not meet the expected targets or the conditions of operations are
changed.

In the future, the Board will continue to monitor and improve the Group's
measures and performance on sustainability and commit to create long-term
values for all stakeholders and the communities where the business is located.

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY

Our approach to stakeholder engagement is designed to ensure that our
stakeholders’ perspectives and expectations are fully understood to help define
our current and future sustainability strategies.

The Group believes that the interests of all stakeholders must be taken in
account in order to strengthen relationship with our shareholders, employees,
customers, suppliers, government authorities and the society as a whole.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RiR - HEREREE (&)

AEERBZENAETIZRHNERBRISER
BpAg » DARECR A BLA T REEREM) B AR ROERAETT

The Group proactively engaged with the key stakeholder groups in a variety of
ways to ensure effective communication of our objective and progress in

relation to the following areas of concern. BRUBE -
Major Stakeholder Major Communication Channels Major Concerns
FTEBMGE FTEEBERE FTEREH
Shareholders and Investors Press release, Corporate Announcements and Profitability
BRERKREE Circulars BEFEEH
EN - RRlAE KK Financial Stability
Annual and Interim Reports HIigieE
FH kP REE Information Disclosure & Transparency
Annual General Meetings EEREMAAE
REBFRE

Employees

(==

Suppliers
HEEm

Customers

'F

Public Community
AHUE

Government and Supervisory
Institutions

B REEHRE

Trainings and Team Building Activities
ol & B R R E

Business Meetings and Briefings

B R

Performance Appraisals

AT

Procurement Meetings

RS

Phone Calls, Conferences, Emails, Site Visit
TS Tk ETEHG - BHIRS

Customer Complaint Hotlines
BRI AR

Meetings and Correspondences
W RBN

Charitable and Volunteering Activities
BENERELS
Community Interactions

HEEE

Major Meeting and Policy Consultation
EX - YIS

Information Disclosures

EEHE

Institutional Visits

e

B m R ERERAR

Compensation & Benefits
18 KA A

Career Development and Training
Opportunities
BEZERMEIIKE

Health & Safety Work Environment
EE;ZEHITIERE

Cooperation on Fair Terms
AFAfE

Integrity

i

Quality Products and Services
= B i M AR TS
Privacy Protection

FLBRARE

Corporate Social Responsibilities
TEMEEMT

Community Investment and Charitable
Activities

HEERENESES

Compliance Operation
BRKE

Corporate Governance
©EER
Environmental Protection
RIFRE

“ECCFFR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RiIR - HERERERE (&)

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted the materiality assessment
through internal discussion of the management and the operational staff, and
according to various factors such as its strategies, development and goals, and
graded ESG levels identified in relation to its business and stakeholders and their
respective impact levels, and listed the top 7 major ESG issues of the Group

based on the results of the assessment.

BERMRTE

BEPRAN - AEEBEEEEREHABNALD
A REBEARENRE  ZREBESEZRER
=BT TERERNG  LESEBRFNER
BRI - L REBFRETOMER - A
RBFAEERIEAEEN7RRE B LE

AN =]
JBERRE °

Scope Material Issues

EE EXREE

Operation Practices Customers Service Management
REER BEPREER

Environment
%

Labour Practices
BITER

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Customers Privacy Protection

BEFPBRALRE

GHG Emissions
B EREBEEW
Energy and Resources Consumption

RN ERBRE

Employment Compliance
BIEEH

Remuneration and Benefit

Bl PSSR

Employees Turnover Minimization

R EMARERIE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RiR - HEREREE (&)

A.1

ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION

As far as environmental management is concerned, though businesses of
the Group in the provision of financial services does not pose significant
environmental risks, the Group has actively paid attention to reduce the
use of natural resources in operations, and implement environmental
control measures wherever practicable towards to minimize its impact on
the environment.

Emissions

In order to seek long-term sustainability of the environment, the Group is
prudent in controlling its emissions, and complies with relevant
environmental laws and regulations in Hong Kong and China during its
daily operations.

Given the nature of the business of the Group, the largest contributor of
the Group’s carbon footprint is the Indirect Greenhouse Gas ("GHG")
emissions. The Group's GHG emissions are mainly due to electricity
consumption during the operation at the workplace and the consumption
of fuel for transportation by employees.

In order to achieve energy conservation and reduce GHG emissions, the
Group has established the “Energy Conservation Management Policy” and
adopted a number of energy conservation measures to ensure the most
efficient use of electricity, reduce emission of GHG and demonstrate our
determination to protect our environment, including but not limited to
the below:

Choose energy-efficient appliances and opt for low wattage lights;
Maximise the use of natural light and limit the use of artificial
lighting to the dark areas in the workplace that are out of the sun'’s

reach;

Advise employees to put their computers in hibernation mode and
turn off all other office equipment when not in use;

Switch off air conditioning systems and lighting after office hours;

Keeping all the doors and windows closed when the air conditioners
are running; and

Teleconference and internet-meeting practices are also encouraged
to avoid unnecessary business travel.

A.1
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A.1

A.2

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

HE (&)

ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (CONTINUED)

Emissions (Continued)

The Group will continue to improve the efficiency of resource utilization
and gradually establish the quantitative targets for future electricity
consumption based on the use of resource in the current year.

As far as waste management is concerned, due to our business nature, no
significant hazardous waste was generated from our operations during
the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with relevant laws
and regulations regarding the use of natural resources in operation and
has not received any notice of violation from government authorities.

Use of Resources

The main resources consumed by the Group are electricity, water and
paper. The water consumption of the Group is minimal while electricity is
consumed during daily business operations in our offices through the use
of indoor lighting, air-conditioning, functioning of office equipment,
function of equipment related to repair and maintenance etc. As
mentioned in Section A.1, the Group has established energy conservation
procedures to help reduce the use of resources.

In order to enhance environment protection, the Group has also followed
a number of energy saving and efficiency measures stipulated in the
“Energy Conservation Management Policy” to promote paperless office
and minimize the use of water, including but not limited to the below:
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RiR - HEREREE (&)

A. ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (CONTINUED) A. BRERE (&)
A.2 Use of Resources (Continued) A2 BERER (&)
Water Conservation Measures: fkiENE :
Cultivate the concept of saving for employees; . BEEENHNER
Look for water leaks in fittings and use a water meter or flow . BELZEAEERK  REFHAKRE
restrictor where possible; fRifies
Report leaking taps, toilets and showers; . EIAKEESE « BIFTROMARIRK - &
FRFEE 3R
Install rainwater tanks and water-saving devices where possible; and . BELRERKKEREIKEE : &
Consider re-using or recycling water where possible. . REZEBEERKKBEANK -
Paper Conservation Measures: R REERE
Use printers that can print on both sides of the paper; try to look . FFA AT EmITENAITENME ST
into this option when replacing old printers; ENH i 22 23R E Al I 4T N /93T £
o
Recycled paper is used for intra-group informal documents and . SENHLIEER G R ERALAR
draft papers; RAK
Send electronic greetings over email or other forms of electronic . RABHNEMEANEFERARESF
applications, such as WhatsApp or WeChat, rather than faxing or (s ifz) B X B FRE - RRER
writing; and FERF R
Engage third parties for collection and handling of waste paper. . BEE= W ERERIBRER

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RiIR - HERERERE (&)

A. ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (CONTINUED) A. RIBRE (A)
A.3 Environment and natural resources A3 REREARER
This aspect is not applicable to the Group’s operations, as the Group's AN ANEE RS ENERANERE
environmental impact and use of natural resources is minimal. BHARE  hEBETERANAER %
2022 Key Performance Indicators TECCFBRENER
These tables present a quantitative overview of our 2022 Environmental TREYW - E - —_FRBEEIRENTSE
aspect performance. e -
Percentage
Increase (+) or
A.1. Emission — GHG Units 2021 2022 Decrease (-)
#n(+) =%
ALHE—BAERE B T —F === B (-) B
Total GHG emission tonnes 2635 22,53 -14.52%
BEREAYNRE i
Total GHG emission per floor area tonnes/m? 0.0120 0.0103 -14.52%
B OREEEERERBATNE e, 75 oK
GHG emission for air travel per number of air travel ~ tonnes/no. of 0.00 0.00 0.00%
air travel
BARAMEIRITHRERBEBHENE Mg, Az =
//\%(
Indirect emission
R B
Electricity tonnes 2219 18.73 -15.62%
) g
Air travel tonnes 0.00 0.00 0.00%
finZe Z T L7
Paper consumption tonnes 4.16 3.80 -8.66%
R4 i}
ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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i -

A3

HERERRE (&)

ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (CONTINUED)

Environment and natural resources (Continued)

2022 Key Performance Indicators (Continued)

A. RBRE (&)

A3 RERBAER (E&)

—EC_FRBEENEE (H)

Percentage
Increase (+) or

A.2. Use of resources Units 2021 2022 Decrease (-)
#in(+) =k

A2 EREA B —E_—F —B-C WA (-)Bat

Total energy consumption kKWh 38,189.00 32,251.00 -15.55%

BLIREFREEE TR

Total energy consumption per floor area kKWh/m? 1743 14.72 -15.55%

B OREEEERRERER FTREFRK

Total paper consumption kilograms 842.00 770.00 -8.55%

A E TR

Total paper consumption per floor area kilograms/m? 040 0.36 -8.66%

BYHAREEEERRES T/ FHK

Total water consumption Gallons 284.00 243.00 -14.44%

AKEE e

Total water consumption per floor area Gallons/m? 0.14 0.12 -14.44%

BYHAEEEERAKEE e, K

Note to KPI: BASRAE BRI AT

1. The above KPI are calculated based on the Hong Kong and Shenzhen offices’ data T BARERUERAREEN E BRI —

which are the key operation sites of the Group. Emission factors were made reference
to Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules and their referred documentation as set out by
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, unless stated otherwise.

2. The indirect greenhouse gas, carbon dioxide is calculated based on Hong Kong and
Shenzhen offices’ electricity usage and business travel. Figures are calculated based on
the offices’ electricity usage, the flying distance and frequency of business travels of all
staff in Hong Kong and Shenzhen offices.

3. Water usage of Hong Kong office is not included as the water supply is shared with

other tenants in the building.

4. Emission factor of 0.61kg CO2e/kWh was used for purchased electricity in the PRC.

B m R ERERAR

EERAYBATOBE AR E - RS
BIS  EHRBSREEWAR SHAR
DI # £ AR BIH 8=+ BRI X
i o

MEORZERE AR DREBEEBRYIBPA
ENHBREBHEE - st EERNEE R
WRHRENAE  AREEE THBHENOR
TREHNAREE -

EEMAENAKAEATRELER —EFTRNEM
TP HZFHIKGE -

EHEBEENEMANFERREE R TR
AMLiEE/TERE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RiIR - HERERERE (&)

A. ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (CONTINUED)

A.3 Environment and natural resources (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, the GHG emissions were 22.53 tonnes with
an intensity of 0.0103 per square foot. This figure represents a reduction of
approximately 4 tonnes, or 14.52%, compared to the total GHG emissions
in 2021. The Group will continue to assess and record its greenhouse gas
emissions and other environmental data annually and compare it with last
year's data to assist the Group in further developing emission reduction
targets in the future.

A.4 Climate Change

In view of the nature of the business of the Group, the Group does not
have any significant impacts on or by the climate-related issues.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

A.

A3

A.4

RERE (&)

RIERBARER (&)

RMEEHE - BEREHMEA22530
BERIVIGBHELTHER - REREBEHE
MER T —FHADLI4WE - B11452% °
REBREESFIHMEHEEREETRE
e R E A IRIREE - WEAFHEIEE
TTHE - LWEASEBERKE—FHIT
WEBEEZ o

RIRE
ERAEENEBLEE A REHRIRA
BREMETNEATEIRETE -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RiR - HEREREE (&)

B.1

SOCIAL COMMITMENT

Employees are the most valuable asset to the Group. The Group provides
employees with competitive remuneration, benefits and development
opportunities to encourage them to reach their full potential. The Group
complies with the relevant laws and regulations on labour issues to
protect the rights of employees and to establish mutual relationship with
them.

Employment and Labour Practices

As demonstrated in our Policy, the Group is committed to providing a
workplace free from any form of discrimination and harassment and
provides opportunities to employees with different backgrounds and
characteristics so as to build a diversified workforce.

Any form of discrimination against our potential or current employees on
the ground of nationality, age, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity,
ethnicity, disability, pregnancy, political inclination is strongly prohibited.
The Group also forbid unlawful harassment, harassment and victimisation
of any type at workplace.

The Group has formulated “Staff Handbook”, “Human Resource Policy” and
Compensation and Benefits Management Policy” as guidelines for
employment, termination, business conduct, social security funds,
compensation, employee benefits, leave benefits, working hours/overtime
and performance benefits to ensure all the process complies with the
Labour Law of the PRC and the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).

B.1
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RiIR - HERERERE (&)

B. SOCIAL COMMITMENT (CONTINUED) B. #EHIE (&)
B.1 Employment and Labour Practices (Continued) B.1 EBREREIER (&)
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 28 employees. Below RZE-_—_F+-A=+—8 K£EERA
figures are the detail composition of the Group's workforce. HEBZETL - U TEFAARERES ITK
REY R AR ©
Total Workforce by Employment Type Total Workforce by Gender
RAERLE S NBLE S RMERE D NELE D

m Full-time 28% ® Part-time 3B B Male B mFemale &%

Total Workforce by Region Total Workforce by Age Group
R BEE D WREE N RERARNE D NBEE D

11%

W

. 51 or above
B HongKong &%  m PRC [ W31-40 ®W41-50 © 51E Ak

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited



29

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RiR - HEREREE (&)

B. SOCIAL COMMITMENT (CONTINUED) B. #E&EE (&)
B.1 Employment and Labour Practices (Continued) B1 EERZEIER (&)
During the Reporting Period, 2 employees left the Group, representing an REHE 2RETHAEE - BER
overall turnover rate of 6.90%. R E690% °
Employee Turnover Rate by Employment Type Employee Turnover Rate by Gender
EREERNEHNE TRKAR BRI B A R TR AR

B Full-time 28 B Male B mFemale i
Employee Turnover Rate by Age Group Employee Turnover Rate by Region
RFRANEINEIRAR BB IMNETRAR

m41-50 W PRC HE

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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B.1
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FHERERRS (A)

SOCIAL COMMITMENT (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

The Group provides a wide range of incentives, including competitive
remuneration and benefits packages, which are based on individual
performances and qualifications of employees and benchmarked against
our industry peers on an annual basis. Benefits to full-time employees
include social insurance (endowment insurance, medical insurance, work-
related injury insurance, unemployment insurance, childbirth insurance),
housing provident fund and annual leave benefits. In addition, the Group
also provides additional supplementary benefits to employees, including
but not limited to the below:

1. Festive occasion benefit (monetary benefits for all statutory holiday,
birthday, marriage, childbirth) ;

2. Medical care benefits (employees who have worked for the
company for more than a year are entitled to have a free annual
body check package and certain monetary benefits) ;

3. Incentive bonus (incentive activities are organized regularly to
praise well performed employees); and

4. Other benefits (training, compassionate leave and allowance)

The Group distributed year-end bonus to employees based on individual
performance in recognition of their contributions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group implemented different measures
to reduce employee turnover rate in order to achieve on of our ESG goals,
such as strengthening recruitment controls, so that applicants can fully
understand the working environment and control of the Group. The
Group also strengthen the staff trainings system to meet the career
development requirement of employees at all levels; focus on the work
pressure of employees, expand the development prospects of the group
so that competitive career platform can be provided to the employees.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not involve in any cases of
illegality related to employment during the year.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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B

B.2

B.3

CHERERRS (A)

SOCIAL COMMITMENT (CONTINUED)

Health and Safety
The Group concerns about the health and safety of its employees and is
committed to reduce the occurrence of dangerous accidents.

The Group has established "Employee Code of Conduct” and
"Occupational Safety Policy”, requiring all employees to strictly abide by all
safety rules and regulations during their work in the office. In addition, the
Group provides employees with comprehensive set of insurance,
including both medical and non-medial insurances as well as child
benefits.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not notice any violations of
Hong Kong health and safety laws and regulations.

Development and Training

The development of employee professional skills is one of the Group's
priorities. The Group has established the "Training Management Policy” to
ensure all employees receive an adequate level of training. Different levels
of internal trainings are provided to employees to enhance their
professional skills.

New Hires are provided with orientation programmes to be familiarized
with the culture and structure of the Group and relevant department(s).
For front-line employees, technical trainings are provided with the aims to
achieve operational excellence and to enrich the employees’ knowledge
in relation to the businesses and services of the Group. Our annual training
plan requires each employee to attend at least 12 hours of training every
year.

The Group also provides trainings to employees based on departmental
or functional needs. For instance, employees from the finance team are
provided training in corporate governance and new accounting standards.

The Group evaluates the training objectives, training arrangements,
training content according to the business needs each year and make
changes when necessary. The results of the training and the performance
of each individual will also be assessed annually to ensure that all
employees benefit from the training.
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B.4

B.5

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

FHERERRS (A)

SOCIAL COMMITMENT (CONTINUED)

Labour Standards

In line with the local employment laws and relevant provisions of the
International Labour Organisation, the Group prohibits the employment
of child labour or any other form of forced and illegal labour.

According to the recruitment procedure, the Group requires all candidates
to provide identification documents to determine if their age meets the
legal age requirements. The Group strictly abides by the relevant labour
regulations in China and Hong Kong regarding working hours and
holidays to ensure the physical and mental health of all employees.

Employees are not encouraged to work beyond working hours. Overtime
hours, if necessary, must not exceed legal time and overtime pay will be
paid in accordance with the relevant standards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with laws and regulations which have a significant impact on
employment and labour practices, or occupational health and safety.

Supply Chain Management

Due to the nature of the business, the Group has only a handful of
suppliers and does not have high reliance on its suppliers. The Group has
selected a list of suppliers for office and computer equipment, stationary
and promotion activities gifts. With a comprehensive "Purchasing Policy”,
the Group is able to select and evaluate suppliers or service providers
based on their reputation and performance records to ensure that the
goods or services purchased are in compliance with national standards.

In relation to the risk management of the internet financial service
platform, the Group's responsible team screens and monitors the lenders
and borrowers who use the platform. It also performs Know-Your
Customer ("KYC") procedure to access the background and sources of
fund of both lenders and borrowers, ensuring the best match between
the lenders and borrowers. During the Reporting Period, the platform did
not experience any delinquency, attributed to constant risk management
screening, monitoring and the maintenance of high quality and reliable
users within the platform.
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RiR - HEREREE (&)

B.6

SOCIAL COMMITMENT (CONTINUED)

Product Responsibility

Financial Consultation Services

The Group provides customers with convenient and quick access to short-
term finance as well as financial consultation services to meet the
customer’s financial needs. We have put in place specific procedures in
ensuring the quality of the services and products provided. The financial
services or products provided to customers are tailored to their financial
background, trading experience and risk tolerant level after performing
the KYC procedures and assessment. The Group is committed to provide
clear information to customers including product details, terms and
conditions (such as loan repayment period, administration fee, interest
rate, etc.) and any associated risks are communicated to enable customers
to make an informed decision. Moreover, the Group has set standards for
advertising and sales literature which require information contained in all
advertising and sales literature to be true and prohibit the use of false,
misleading or inaccurate statements in any form of our communication.

For financial consultation services to trust companies, the Group
introduces borrowers with substantial assets (including listed and unlisted
shares) to trust companies for setting up their trust funds. In addition to
introducing borrowers to the trust companies, the Group also perform
due diligence on borrowers by conducting feasibility studies on the
background and the financial condition for the trust companies. The
Group also devises financing plans for the borrowers, including the cost,
duration and size of the proposed trust fund. The Group also liaises with
banks regarding the sale of the trust funds after agreements are signed
between the trust companies and the borrowers.
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B.6

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

SOCIAL COMMITMENT (CONTINUED)

Product Responsibility (Continued)

Protection of Customer’s Data

The Group handles a large amount of personal data and credit information
of its customers and regards the maintenance of customer privacy as an
important area for maintaining good corporate governance. To protect
the confidentiality of customer data, the Group has implemented rigorous
policy and procedures ensure a high degree of alertness among staff
members in protecting customer data, to reach our ESG goals of
customers privacy protection.

The Group has established “Customer’s Data Confidential Policy” as a
guideline of handling customer’s data. As specified in the “Staff Hand
Book”, the Group's employees are required to sign a “Confidentiality
Agreement” acknowledging their rights and obligations under data
protection and to provide employees with an understanding of
confidentiality and clear guidelines regarding handling of confidential
information.

In addition, access to confidential information or documents is restricted
and granted on a need-to-know basis. During the reporting period, the
Group did not receive any complaints from customers regarding the
confidentiality of personal information.

Handling of Complaints

The Group has established policies and procedures for the handling
complaints. The Group’s Customer Service Department is responsible for
reviewing all complaints, collecting evidence and providing advice and
comments on general complaints.

Specific or complex complaints will the forwarded to the responsible
person of the relevant department for special treatment. The Group
provides an initial response upon the receipt of all complaints and the
follow up accordingly.

During the reporting period, the Group has not been notified of any
violation of law regarding product or services responsibility.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

B

B.7

CHERERRS (A)

SOCIAL COMMITMENT (CONTINUED)

Anti-Corruption and Anti-Money Laundering
The Group stands against any form of bribery, extortion, fraud, and has a
zero-tolerance policy towards misconduct.

To achieve this, the Group has established the “Anti-Fraud Management
Policy”, "Anti-Money Laundering Internal Control Policy” and “Whistle-
blowing Policy” in accordance with the relevant regulatory laws and
standards to promote anti-fraud principles and consistent organisational
behaviours by providing guidelines and assigning responsibility for the
development of controls and conduct of investigations.

The Group's risk management department also gathers information on
our existing customer’s use of proceeds, the source of funding for
repayment, the operating condition of our customers, from time to time
in obtaining their updated status and promptly reports any abnormal
situation for the purpose of risk management.

A whistle blowing channel has been in place for our employees to raise
any concerns in good faith if they have their concerns and address in
proper manner without any fear of receiving any negative impacts.
Employees are also required to sign a statement of acknowledgement and
agreement to their obligation and responsibility regarding to anti-
corruption and anti-money laundering policies to ensure that all staff have
been notified that no bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering would
be tolerated. The Group encourages the reporting of suspected business
irregularities and provides clear channels specifically for this purpose. The
Company is committed to creating a corporate culture of integrity and
justice by accepting internal complaints and whistleblowing. All
employees may directly contact the Human Resources Department and
the senior management in charge of such matters for lodging a complaint
or whistleblowing. The current whistleblowing procedures of the
Company include direct mails to the senior management of the Company
for reporting any misconduct or dishonest activities such as suspected
corruption, fraud and other forms of crime. The Group is committed to
adhering to the highest integrity and ethical standards.

The Group did not involve in any cases of violations related to corruption
in this year, nor was involved in ant corruption litigation cases related to
the Group and the employees.
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R - g RERHRE (H)

B. SOCIAL COMMITMENT (CONTINUED)

B.8 Community Investment
The Group is committed to exert available resources to support our
community and encourage our employees to participate in various
charitable and voluntary activities. Also, the Group encourage the staff to
participate the social and charitable activities on their own initiative.

The Group will continue to uphold the principle of being responsible for
its shareholders and investors, employees, suppliers, customers, public
community and will seek further development opportunities to maintain a
harmonious relationship with its stakeholders.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BN E

elite
- partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FLYING FINANCIAL SERVICE HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Flying Financial
Services Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 115 to 230, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the “Basis for
Qualified Opinion” section of our report, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
B RS (&)

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Opening balances and corresponding figures

The auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2021 Financial Statements”) contained
qualification on the limitation of audit scope relating to the certain bank
balances in the PRC (“Qualification”). Details of which has been set out in the
auditor’s report for 2021 Financial Statements dated 30 June 2022.

As the 2021 Financial Statements formed the basis for the corresponding figures
presented in the current year's consolidated financial statements, any
adjustments found to be necessary in respect of the Qualification would have an
effect on (i) the opening balances on the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022; (i) corresponding figures in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022; and (iii) the related
disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the “"Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BB E (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In
addition to the matter described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section, we
have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.

Key audit matter

Expected credit losses (“ECLs”) assessment of loans receivables

The Group had loans receivables of approximately RMB37,932,000 as at 31
December 2022.

ECLs assessment for loans receivables are based on management's estimate of
the ECLs to be incurred, which is estimated by taking into account the credit loss
experience, customers’ repayment history, customers’ financial position and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general economic conditions, all of
which involve a significant degree of management judgment.

We have identified ECLs assessment of loans receivables as a key audit matter
because the estimation of ECLs of loans receivables based on the expected
credit losses model involved the use of significant management's judgment and
estimates.

How the matter was addressed in our audit:
Our key procedures in relation to ECLs assessment of loans receivables included:

Understood and evaluation of related internal controls of ECLs
assessments;

Checked, on a sample basis, the settlement subsequent to the financial
year end to the receivables; and

Assessed the appropriateness of the expected credit losses provisioning
methodology, examined the key data inputs on a sample basis to assess
their accuracy and completeness, and challenged the assumptions
including both historical and forward-looking information used to
determine the expected credit losses.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
B RS (&)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. As
described in the Basic for Qualified Opinion section above, we were unable to
obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to conclude whether the opening
balances and corresponding figures presented in the current year's consolidated
financial statements were free from material misstatement. Accordingly, we are
unable to conclude whether or not the Other Information is materially misstated
with respect to this matter.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BB E (&)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
B RS (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BB E (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
B RS (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Ms. Chow Ka Li with practising certificate number P07809.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10th Floor
8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon, Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 14 April 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SmEEm

HftzmEW=E =R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HiZE —E - —F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

2022 2021
—ECCE —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ihE=s AR%ET R ARETTT
Revenue WS 7 76,671 20,059
Other expenses, net HmF 5 8 (4,548) (47,829)
Employee benefit expenses EERFAX (7,272) (7,774)
Other administrative expenses HEMrTB A (52,882) (23,235)
Fair value changes in financial assets at BAFESAERZ((ZATE
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") u‘l‘)\TE s S mEE
NFEZE 37 - (195,987)
Loss allowance on financial assets TRVE EBEEE (2,377) (10,601)
Finance costs R AN 9 (72) (228)
Profit/(loss) before income tax expense BATEHRE S AERN, (EiE) 10 9,520 (265,595)
Income tax expenses FriS®if X 12 (6,700) €)
Profit/(Loss) for the year FEEHRF(EE) 2,820 (265,604)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) 5@%@ WA (FX)
ltem that will not be reclassified to SEMHDEEEENER .
profit or loss:
— Changes in fair value of equity —ERATFEFAREMER
investments at fair value through g (MR FERTA
other comprehensive income HEmamies]) /s
("FVOCI") RENNFEEZS - (54,129)
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently to HEEAREETDEEEEMN
profit or loss: ISR
— Exchange differences on translating — BINEBBRENER ZRE
foreign operations 2,391 (843)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) FEHM2EKRA (BX)
for the year 2,391 (54,972)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FEXEKRA(FAX) B
for the year 5,211 (320,576)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: EEFEERT(BE) -
Owners of the Company KATER A 2,605 (265,276)
Non-controlling interests IR A 215 (328)
2,820 (265,604)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) BEEEZEBA(BIX)
for the year attributable to: e
Owners of the Company RAREEA 4,996 (293,725)
Non-controlling interests FEIERERERS 215 (26,851)
5,211 (320,576)
(restated)
(Fe=3%1))
Earnings/(loss) per share BREF(&HE) 13
— Basic (RMB cents) —HER(ARES) 7.52 (766.05)
— Diluted (RMB cents) — BB (ARESD) 7.52 (766.05)
EHSRREERERAT TEIFER
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0T S SR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

aa MR R R

AS AT 31 DECEMBER202 W=—ZE-_—_F+_-_HA=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 ARET R ARETIT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R MEE 15 6,496 646
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFAERD
BEAE 17 - 67,172
Loans and accounts receivables B EWERR 18 - 3,540
6,496 71,358
Current assets REEE
Loans and accounts receivables B U R R 18 38,451 1616
Deposits paid, prepayments and other EfEE - BAFIAER
receivables H b fE U IR 19 5,846 1,107
Amount due from a non-controlling interest FEUS FEIE AR i 25 IR 20 - 1
Tax recoverable AT UL B 7T - 37
Cash and cash equivalents HehIREEFBEEE 21 4,912 14,086
49,209 16,847
Current liabilities REBAE
Receipts in advance, accruals and TEWRIE - BT EAR
other payables H Ath fE T 3B 22 24,222 70,884
Contract liabilities AHEaE 23 385 4,555
Dividend payable FERTAR B 112 103
Loan from directors KEEEZEX 24 1,536 2,862
Bank borrowings IRITIER 25 - 2,705
Lease liabilities HEBE 26 1,774 263
Current tax liabilities BIHAfIE B & 6,988 11,098
35,017 92,470
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE (BB FBHE 14,192 (75,623)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERREBERE 20,688 (4,265)
Non-current liabilities FRBERS
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 5,195 119
5,195 119
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BE(AE) 38 15,493 (4,384)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

e MR R (&)

AS AT 31 DECEMBER2022 R—ZE-_—&F+—-_A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ihg=s AR¥T T ARBT T
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners AAREE AELER
of the Company
Share capital N 27 142,004 142,004
Reserves Ee 30(a) (126,765) (131,761)
15,239 10,243
Non-controlling interests R ER 32 254 (14,627)
TOTAL EQUITY R 15,493 (4,384)
On behalf of the board of directors REXESE
Zhang Gongjun Liu Yi
ROME 2%
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEE HITEFE
EHSBREZERERAT TECCFEER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERREER

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE=—E-—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

Non-controlling

Attributable to owners of the Company interests Total
ARAEEARE FiEkER ag
Fair value
through other
Share Share Merger Statutory Exchange  Shareoption  comprehensive  Accumulated
capital premium reserve resenve Tesenve reserve  income reserve losses Total
RATE
HARIEE
e e AfEE EERE EnfE  BiERE WEkE ZitER et

(note30))  (note30(c)(i)  (ote30()ii)  (ote30()iv)  (note30(c)iv)  (mote 30(c)vi)

(s (Foom)  (Rsogm)  (E300m) (Koo (e 300i)
RMB000 RMB000 RMBI00 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMBOOO RMBU00 RMB00O RMBO00O RMBOOO
ARBTT  ARETn  ARBTT  ARETR  ARBTT  ARETn  AR¥TRT  ARETR  ARBTT  ARETn  AR¥Tx

Balance at 1 January 2021 R-B--%
—F-Rg# 142004 217833 116659 51199 3697 25286 214 (269343) 289479 1224 301703
Loss forthe year EEER - - - - - - - (265.276) (265.276) (328) (265,604)
Fairvalue loss on financial asets BAFEHAER
athiodl 2EYENER
BENNTESE - - - - - - (27,606) - (27606) (26523) (54129)
Eichange differences on tanshating ~ EANERAER
forelgn operation ERZE - - - - (843) - - - (843) - (843)
Total comprehensive income FEEENGEE
for the year - - - - (883 - (27,606) (265,276) (293,729) (26851) (320576)
Transfer 8 - - - 8 - - - ®) - - -
Share options lapsed (note 26) BAMERE (M) - - - - - 24219 - 24219 - - -
Waiver of amount due toa shareholder 344 [ —2RE A - - - - - - - 14489 14489 - 14489
Balance at 31 December 201 i 3
T-A=+-B&k 142,004 217853 116659 51207 285 1067 (25482) (495919) 10243 (14627) (4384)
Non-controlling
Attributable to owners of the Company interests Total
FRTREAER FERES ag
Fair value
through other
Share Share Merger Statutory Exchange  Shareoption comprehensive  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  income reserve losses Total
BATE
FARBRE
e RiaE AitEE EERE EXfE  BREGRE BERE 2R %
(note 30(c)(i))  (note30(c)(ii))  (note30(c)i) (note30(c)iv)) (note30(c)(v)) (note 30(c)(vii)
(WEE30l0)  (WEEs0) (WEEso(ii)  (HEE3oiv)  (EE3o) (3 30(c)vii)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTn  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR
Balanceat 1 January 2022 R-E-—%
—fA-B&# 142,004 217,853 116,659 51,207 2,854 1,067 (25,482) (495,919) 10,243 (14,627) (4,384)
Profitfor the year R - - - - - - - 2,605 2,605 25 2,820
Exchange diferencesontranslating ~ {S5M EKIAER
foreign operation ENZE - - - - 2391 - - - 2391 - 2391
Total comprehensive income FEEENGEE
for the year - - - - 2,391 - - 2,605 4,99 215 5211
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR - - - (51,200) - - 25,482 25,718 - 14,666 14,666
Balance at 31 December 2022 it St
T-ACt-BER 142,004 217,853 116,659 7 5,245 1,067 - (467,596) 15,239 254 15,493
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE—_E-_—F+_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-CE —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBFT
Cash flows from operating activities RELETBNRLRE
Profit/(loss) before income tax expense BRETE R RS AE R/ (E518) 9,520 (265,595)
Adjustments for: B TINEIHRE -
Bank interest income RITFIEUA (9) ®
Interest expenses B 72 228
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEMREBITE 737 624
Written off of deposits paid, prepayments and WHE RS  BAFEREEKFE
other receivables - 2,639
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets CREEENREBE - 529
Fair value loss on investment properties KEMENTERBE - 47,870
Fair value change on financial assets at FVTPL BEATEFAEGNESREELNTEES) - 195,987
Loss allowance on financial assets TREEBERE 2,377 10,601
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARRERE 4,557 -
Operating cash flows before working capital changes & E&E 4 HERNK LR ETE 17,254 (7,125)
Increase in loans and accounts receivables B % FE IR TR 1S BN (39,896) (115)
(Increase)/Decrease in deposits paid, prepayments — EAT1E4 ~ TET FUBE K& HAth e Y 2008
and other receivables (&), w (5,271) 1,404
Increase in receipts in advance, accruals TEUCRIE ~ EET B A K L fth JE N SRR
and other payables 10,970 10,048
(Decrease)/Increase in contract liabilities BHEECRD) /BN 128 843
Cash (used in)/generated from operations &L (R Fr58s (16,815) 5,055
Income taxes paid B S5 - 8)
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities REER (FA) /SRS FE (16,815) 5047
EHSBREZERERAT TECCFEER



120

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
RERERER (B)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

2022 2021
—BCCE —E-—F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
i AR®BTR ARETT
Cash flows from investing activities RERETBNEERE
Net cash in flow on disposal of subsidiaries HENRBARMNRERAFE 39 11,731 -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWE BERS (38) -
Repayment from a non-controlling interest FErE e 2 B X 1 -
Interest received BYHE 9 8
Net cash from investing activities REZHMBREFH 11,703 8
Cash flows from financing activities REMETBNEERE
Advance from a director —BERRR 1,471 2,904
Repayment to a director M—RESFER (2,993) -
Repayment of bank borrowings BBIRITIER - (285)
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities BEHEEEErEHS - (294)
Interest paid BERFE - (228)
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities BETEH (R, FERERE (1,522) 2,097
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERBELZEEER
cash equivalents (W) #BmnFE (6,634) 7152
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning RENHRERBLEHEER
of the year 14,086 7,324
Effect of foreign exchange rates, net ERTE 58 (2,540) (390)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year RERNBERELEEER 4,912 14,086

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR M

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE—_E-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

1.

GENERAL

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an exempted
company with limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4
May 2011. The registered office of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman Islands. The
principal place of business of the Company is located at Room 1309, 13/F,
Mirror Tower Centre, 61 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
The Company'’s shares have been listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) since 7 May 2012.
Trading in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”) on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange has been suspended on 29 March 2021. As at the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements, the trading of the
Shares remains suspended.

The Group, comprising the Company and its subsidiaries, currently
engages in investment in property development projects, operation of
financial services platform, provision of entrusted loans and other loan
services, financial consultation services and finance lease services mainly
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The Company acts as an
investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are
set out in note 31.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate and
ultimate holding company of the Company is Ming Cheng Investments
Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI").
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RZE——FAANBERSHSFMX
Y AERREREEAR o AKX M
Pt = & /A Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the
Cayman Islands © AN 7],z & 22 & 2 i B 7
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B1309E - ARFIRMHBE-T—_FHA
+tHBREBBARIMEBRAR(ES
Bk 22 BT 1)GEM 717 « R 2 & Rt (T IRt )
BE-SE-—F=ZA-t+NHEBEEEHR
FriZhe - Rt SmRa U BHRE R
A= -
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ERPEARAMBE(THENRERER
MERRBER  EFTRREFE  RZH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendment to HKFRS 16

Reference to the Conceptual Framework
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 2021
Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds
before Intended Use
Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37
Amendments to HKFRSs

The application of amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no
material impact on the Group's financial performance and positions for
the current and prior years and/or the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’
(lassification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)'
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants’
Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Amendments to HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS T and HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates'
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilties
arising from a Single Transaction’

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2024.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the "HKFRS") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost basis, except for investment properties and
certain financial assets, which are measured at fair values as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong Dollar
("HKS"). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (‘RMB") since most of the companies comprising the
Group are operating in RMB environment and the functional
currency of most of the companies comprising the Group is RMB.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Business combination and basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between companies of the Group
together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment
on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the effective dates of acquisition
or up to the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those
used by other members of the Group.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary
is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such non-
controlling interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such non-controlling
interests even if this results in those non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted
for in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets
or liabilities were disposed of.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Subsidiaries

(c)

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Group is able to exercise
control. The Company controls an investee if all three of the
following elements are present: (i) power over the investee, (ii)
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (iii) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there
may be a change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company's statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase
price and the costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write off
their cost net of expected residual value over their estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value and
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. The useful lives are as follows:

Office buildings The shorter of the lease terms or

20 years
Other buildings leased for Over the lease terms
own use carried at costs
Over the leases term but not
exceeding 5 years
3 yearsto 5 years

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and
office equipment

Motor vehicles 5 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s estimated recoverable
amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and

equipment is the difference between the net sale proceeds and its
carrying amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d) Government grant

(e)

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable and are recognised as other revenue, rather
than reducing the related expense.

Leasing

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance leases)
are required to be capitalised in the statement of financial position
as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting policy
choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which
are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which the underlying
asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not to recognise right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for
which at the commencement date have a lease term less than 12
months. The lease payments associated with those leases have
been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.

4. EREFHEH)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Leasing (Continued)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost and would comprise: (i)
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability (see
below for the accounting policy to account for lease liability); (i) any
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less
any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by
the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee
in dismantling and removing the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories. The Group measures the
right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under the cost model,
the Group measures the right-of-use assets at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liability.

The depreciation method used for right-of-use assets is the same as
that used for property, plant and equipment. Right- of-use assets in
which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term are
depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Leasing (Continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of the
lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the Group's
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right of use the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date
of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments
less any lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be
payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; (iv) the
exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain
to exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability; (i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to
reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change in
future lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase the underlying
asset.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Leasing (Continued)

Lease liability (Continued)

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease
(because, for example, it re-assesses the probability of a lessee
extension or termination option being exercised), it adjusts the
carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect the payments to
make over the revised term, which are discounted using a revised
discount rate. The carrying value of lease liabilities is similarly revised
when the variable element of future lease payments dependent on
a rate or index is revised, except the discount rate remains
unchanged. In both cases, an equivalent adjustment is made to the
carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying
amount being amortised over the remaining (revised) lease term. If
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is adjusted to zero, any
further reduction is recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease with
the lessor, if the renegotiation results in one or more additional
assets being leased for an amount commensurate with the
standalone price for the additional rights-of-use obtained, the
modification is accounted for as a separate lease, in all other cases,
where the renegotiated increases the scope of the lease (whether
that is an extension to the lease term, or one or more additional
assets being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using the
discount rate applicable on the modification date, with the right-of-
use asset being adjusted by the same amount. With the exception
to which the practical expedient for Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions applies, if the renegotiation results in a decrease in the
scope of the lease, both the carrying amount of the lease liability
and right-of-use asset are reduced by the same proportion to reflect
the partial or full termination of the lease with any difference
recognised in profit or loss. The lease liability is then further adjusted
to ensure its carrying amount reflects the amount of the
renegotiated payments over the renegotiated term, with the
modified lease payments discounted at the rate applicable on the
modification date and the right-of-use asset is adjusted by the same
amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f)
(@

Financial instruments

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a accounts receivables without a
significant financing component) is initially measured at fair
value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. Account
receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirely when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group's business model for managing the asset and the
cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective interest rate
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

4. EXRSFEEH)

(f)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Financial instruments (Continued)

(@

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at FVOCI. Debt investments at FVOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income
calculated using the effective interest rate method, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in
profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and
losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets held
for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling
or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
solely payments of principal and interest are classified and
measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be
classified at amortised cost or at FVOCI, as described above,
debt instruments may be designated at FVTPL on initial
recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

(@

(ii)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held
for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in other
comprehensive income. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis. Equity investments at FVOCI
are measured at fair value. Dividend income are recognised in
profit or loss unless the dividend income clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investments. Other net
gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods. All other equity instruments are classified as FVTPL,
whereby changes in fair value, dividends and interest income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses ("ECLs") on loans and accounts receivables, other
receivables, deposit paid and financial asset measured at
amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that
result from possible default events within the 12 months after
the reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that
result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at
an approximation to the assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
financial consultation service income receivables, platform
services income receivables and finance lease receivables and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on the
12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be
based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition and when
estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information analysis, based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly if it is more than 90 days past due.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit- impaired
when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held); or (2) the financial
asset is more than 90 days past due.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt instruments that are
measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in “FVTOCI reserve (recycling)”.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset. For non
credit-impaired financial assets interest income is calculated
based on the gross carrying amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the
purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at fair value and
financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at
fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including other payables,
contract liabilities, amount due to a shareholder, bank
borrowings, accruals, lease liabilities, corporate bond and
convertible bonds issued by the Group are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit
orloss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments
through the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or
where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f)

(9)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(vi) Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to the
financial asset expire or when the financial asset has been
transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to
the contract, control of the goods or service may be transferred over
time or at a point in time. Control of the goods or service is
transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Revenue recognition (Continued)

4.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods
or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. Where the contract contains a
financing component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For contracts where the period between
the payment and the transfer of the promised goods or services is
one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient
in HKFRS 15.

Platform services income
For the platform services, there are 2 categories of services:

The 1st category of the service is to match borrower’s
financing target with investor’s fund. Service charge is
recognised at a point when matching is successful and the
borrower draws down the loan, which representing the
borrower accepts the service performed by the Group. PO is
satisfied at the point and the borrower is obliged to pay for
the service.

The 2nd category of service is to provide community finance
by monthly instalment plan (normally 2 years) to the
borrower. Service charge is recognised over time when
monthly instalments are repaid. The borrower simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits for the instalment
services from the Group and the borrower is obliged to pay
for the satisfied PO over time.

There is variable consideration for above platform services. The
Group used the expected cost plus a margin approach and adjusted
market assessment approach to estimate the stand-alone services
price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(9)

(h)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Platform services income (Continued)

However, the Group considers the impact from recognition of
contract assets is immaterial and therefore no contract assets is
recognised during the year.

Income taxes
Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities
adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowable for
income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax
purposes. Except for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

An exception to the general requirement on determining the
appropriate tax rate used in measuring deferred tax amount is when
an investment property is carried at fair value under HKAS 40
“Investment Property”. Unless the presumption is rebutted, the
deferred tax amounts on these investment properties are measured
using the tax rates that would apply on sale of these investment
properties at their carrying amounts at the reporting date. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all the economic benefits embodied in
the property over time, rather than through sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

(i)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income in which
case the taxes are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or when they relate to items recognised directly in equity in which
case the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.

Foreign currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”).

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At reporting date, monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined and are reported as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

()

Foreign currency (Continued)

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a currency
different from the Group's presentation currency, have been
converted into RMB. Assets and liabilities have been translated into
RMB at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income and expenses
have been converted into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates or at the average rates over the reporting period
provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any
differences arising from this procedure have been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the
exchange reserve in equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January
2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
exchange reserve.

Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits
Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual
reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in the
year when the employees render the related service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

()

(k)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii) Defined contribution retirement plans
The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
scheme ("MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employee’s basic salaries.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
the PRC are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of
employees’ salaries to the central pension scheme.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as
employees render services during the year. The Group's
obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed
percentage contributions payable.

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to employees and others
providing similar services, the fair value of the options at the date of
grant is recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period with a
corresponding increase in the employee share option reserve within
equity. Non-market vesting conditions are taken into account by
adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at the
end of each reporting period so that, ultimately, the cumulative
amount recognised over the vesting period is based on the number
of options that eventually vest. Market vesting conditions are
factored into the fair value of the options granted. As long as all
other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective
of whether the market vesting conditions are satisfied. The
cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market
vesting condition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k)

)

Share-based payments (Continued)
Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before
they vest, the increase in the fair value of the options, measured
immediately before and after the modification, is also recognised in
profit or loss over the remaining vesting period.

Where equity instruments are granted to persons other than
employees and others providing similar services, the fair value of
goods or services received is recognised in profit or loss unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets. A corresponding
increase in equity is recognised. For cash-settled share based
payments, a liability is recognised at the fair value of the goods or
services received.

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of the following assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets);

investments in subsidiaries.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use) of an asset is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under the
HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

U]

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)
(Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the reversal
of impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase under that
HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows expected
to be derived from the asset or cash generating unit, discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or cash-generating unit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(n)

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event and it is probable to result in an
outflow of economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

Related parties
(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company's parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Related parties (Continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

U]

(i)

(iff)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member);

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Company’s parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is determined
using the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of capital are
deducted from capital (net of any related income tax benefit) to the
extend they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity
transaction.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory
restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting
the definition of cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p)

(a)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term
borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the executive directors for their decisions about
resources allocation to the Group’s business components and for
their review of the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported to the
executive directors are determined following the Group’s major
operations.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting segment

results under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” are the same as those
used in its financial statements prepared under HKFRSs.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The key sources of estimation uncertainty

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these financial
statements, other key sources of uncertainty at the end of each reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

(i) Impairment of financial assets

The Group adopts the impairment policy to recognise loss
allowances for ECLs on receivables. ECLs are probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses and the Group has to make judgement to
determine whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition by considering and analysing
on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit
assessment including forward-looking information.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on the reports
reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that are used to make

strategic decision.

The Group has four (2021: four) reportable and operating segments. The
segments are managed separately as each business offers different
services and requires different business strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group's reportable segments:

Investment in property
development projects

Operation of financial
services platform

Provision of entrusted loan,
pawn loan, other loan
services, and financial
consultation services

Finance lease services

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Investments income and relevant
consultation service income generated
from LPs, which invest in property
development projects and are accounted
for as financial assets at FVTPL;

Provision of financial consultation services
and financial services platform;

Provision of short-term and long-term
loans and financial consultation services to
borrowers and financial institutions; and

Provision of long-term finance lease
services.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DHER(E)
Segment information about reportable segments: ] 2|y EBER
(a) Business segments (a) EHK7 P
Provision of
entrusted loan,
pawn loan,
other loan
Investment ~ Operationof ~ servicesand
in property financial financial
development services  consultation  Finance lease
projects platform services services Total
T%1 tZTER
AEEN - Hitr
RERNE Efren ENRBR
¥RER RHTE HBEEERE AMERERY b
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETT
For the year ended BZ-Z--FE+-A=1-H
31 December 2022 LEE
Revenue from external customers RENDZ PRI - 75,225 1,446 - 76,671
Reportable segment (loss)/profit E2FDB(BRE)/EF - 21,903 (1,178) - 20,725
Iterns included in the measure of SANHETREEAS HEE
segment profit or loss or STEMER -
segment assets:
QOther expenses/(income), net Htfs /(WA 28 - 9) - - 9)
Depreciation of property, plant and nE BERENE
equipment - 737 - - 737
Loss allowance on financial assets SREEFRER - (247) 2,624 - 2377
Addition of non-current assets NEFRDEE - 6,935 - - 6,935
Salaries and wages Feh1E - 5,049 - - 5,049
Asat 31 December 2022 RZBZZ#+ZA=t-H
Reportable segment assets RGN EEE - 17,345 37,932 - 55,277
Reportable segment liabilities EEE R - 29,427 - - 29,427
EHSBBREERERAE T FFR
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

6. THPER (&)

(a) Business segments (Continued) () EBoIP(E)
Provision of
entrusted loan,
pawn loan,
other loan
Investment Operation of services and
in property financial financial
development services consultation Finance lease
projects platform services services Total
RUZTER
HEEH Eﬁﬂ
RENDE EfFRR ,\/AH%’?&
BRIEH RBTe  UBERRE REARERH @5t
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ANREFL ARETT AREFL ARBTR AREFT
For the year ended BE-E--£+-A=t-H
31 December 2021 I:3:5
Revenue from external customers RESMPR PN E - 19658 401 - 20059
Reportable segment (loss)/profit 2FH (BR)/ &7 (198,021) 907 (13.387) (89) (210,590)
Iterns included in the measure of FANEEFREERSHEE
segment profit or loss or SrEMER
segment assets:
Change in fair value of financial assets ~ RATEF NBR & BEE
atFvTPL RYEED 95987 - - - 195987
Other expenses/(income), net Hitfs /(WA 28 m (36) m - (38)
Depreciation of property, plant and nE BERXENE
equipment - 5% 30 - 624
Impairment loss on property, nE - BERIEREESE
plant and equipment - - 529 - 529
Written off on deposits paid, e NES  BRTER
prepayments and other receivables Hiv WA 1336 802 501 - 2639
Loss allowance on financial assets SREEEHRRE - 467 10,134 - 10,601
Addition of non-current assets NEFRDEE - - 529 - 529
Salaries and wages HeRTE 28 412 833 - 5237
As at 31 December 2021 R-E--%+-A=1-H
Reportable segment assets 2R HEE 67,599 13,178 4933 176 85,886
Reportable segment liabilities RGN HaE 14452 25751 6,660 4952 51815

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DEHEFR(E)
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment revenues, (b) FTE#FHpEUWE - BRETE BB
profit/(loss) before income tax expenses, assets XADEF, (BR) EEREA
and liabilities BZH R
2022 2021
—ECCF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R AREFIT
Revenue Uk &=
Revenue from external customers REIIERF U E 76,671 20,059

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense MRETS BB ZANER],(5518)

Reportable segment profit/(loss) AE2®HEEF],(EE) 20,725 (210,590)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBAFMERE (4,557) -
Fair value loss on investment properties "EMEANFEEIE - (47,870)
Unallocated finance costs R BT - 192
Unallocated corporate expenses RABLARIFAE (6,648) (7,327)
Consolidated gain/(loss) before income tax BRATERAS pisR e M (E1E)

expense 9,520 (265,595)
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets A RO EBEE 55,277 85,886
Amount due from a non-controlling interest JE U FEH7E IR A 2 TR - 1
Cash and cash equivalents REMHRSEMEER 103 2318
Unallocated corporate assets RAOBAREE 325 -
Consolidated total assets SGARBEERE 55,705 88,205
Liabilities =R+
Reportable segment liabilities A2HsEaE 29,427 51815
Dividend payable JEE I B, 112 103
Loan from a director RE—RESFZEN 1,536 2,862
Bank borrowings RITEN - 2,705
Unallocated corporate liabilities KA ARIEE 9,137 35,104
Consolidated total liabilities RARERR 40,212 92,589

EHSBBREERERAE T FFR
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c) Geographicinformation and disaggregation of
revenue from contracts with customers
In the following table, segment revenue of the Group's reportable
segments are disaggregated by primary geographical market, major
products and service lines and timing of revenue recognition.

Investment in property Operation of

development projects  financial services platform

(c)

FRE R ()

6- /]-J\ﬁ

BEFENRENEBERRSD
1

TREIIZEERETS - EBRB
TH A REERI S B B A £

A 20 #RH) o Bk E o

Provision of entrusted loan,

pawn loans, other loan

services and financial

consultation services Finance lease services Total

REZTER ABER.

Forthe year ended HETZA=t-H REWDERRERERS Rt ERRS
31 December LEE RENIERRER BRETA W R B BB R RERERE @it
2022 2001 2022 2001 2022 201 2022 201 2022 201
ZE-CEF -F--% CZECCE O-E--%F CZECCE -E--% CZBCCE O-E--F CZBCCE CEC-E
Primary geographical markets T EHEmM
PRC h - - 75,225 19,658 1,446 38 - - 76,671 19,69
Hong Kong 5 - - - - - 363 - - - 363
Total &t - - TS 19658 1,446 401 - - 7667 20059
Revenue Wi
Investment income REMA - - - - - - - - - -
Financial consultation services income &1 F B RS WA - - - - - - - - - -
Platform sevices income TaRBEBA - - TS 19658 - - - - S 19658
Interest income FBMA - - - - 1,446 401 - - 1,446 401
Finance lease semvice income BERERBEUA - - - - - - - - - -
- - 75,225 19,658 1,446 401 - - 76,671 20059
Timing of revenue recognition ~ B HER
Ata pointintime RNE-BR% - - 75,225 19658 - - - - 75,225 19658
Overtime —BER - - - - 1,446 401 - - 1,446 401
- - 75,225 19,658 1,446 401 - - 76,671 20059

The Group’s non-current assets (excluding financial assets) are
predominantly attributable to a single geographical region, which is
the PRC. Therefore, no analysis of non-current assets by
geographical region is presented.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(d)

Information about major customers

The Group's customer base is diversified. Revenue of the Group
includes the following revenue earned from counterparties with
whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group's revenue, all
of which were derived from revenue by the operation of financial
services platform segment for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021:

6.

7 ERE# ()

d) FEEF&EH
REBMEFLEBEKN - AEE
BREETIX S BBAEBEREZ10%
MR SEFEBHRE - GRKEY
KEHE_ZE-_—_FR-_ZT=-—
+ - A=+ —BUIFEEESBRE
FEDEATFRIIRE -

2022 2021

—Eg-= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT AREBTET

Counterparty A REEFA N/ATEH 8019

N/A: The relevant comparative figures for the corresponding period
in 2021 and 2022 representing revenue from the relevant customers
did not exceed 10% of the Group's revenue.

No customer contributed revenue exceed 10% of Group's revenue
during the current year.

TEA: 2B —F KT _FR
HA 5 MARE R P 1S Uk e A9 A8 B8 L BB
FA BB E B E 10% ©

RAFER - ETFEMNKERBR
AREFE KA 10% ©

EHSBBREERERAE T FFR
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7. REVENUE 7. Wi
Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover, represents the income from W (MMAREBRMNEEE)IEREETFE
its principal activities. Revenue recognised during the year are as follows: SEENHIUR A o EARERHIWEE LT ¢
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT
Revenue from contract with customers within ~ ZF78 B 1R & #8155 15 5%
the scope of HKFRS 15: HEANNEZPL,ALINE -
Platform services income FE RBUWA 75,225 19,658
Revenue from other sources: E A AOFRUA
Interest income FE WA 1,446 401
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the timing ERARZNERRETISFYOE P
of revenue recognition and by geographic markets is disclosed in note B KW BRI EE6()
6(C).
The following table provides information about loans and accounts TREVNEEAEPENER L EWRR R
receivables and contract liabilities from contracts with customers. BREENER -
2022 2021
—Eg=-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB TR ARETT
Contract liabilities (note 23) a#HaE (fEE23) 385 4,555
Contract liabilities increased by RMB843,000 in 2021 as a result of the BB FEeaRBEETFPHMBRRE &
advance consideration received from the customers for platform services. HBER=T = —F1E A RK-43,0007T °
Contract liabilities decreased by RMB4,170,000 in 2022 as a result of HREEETHEBRAR  aHAEBR-F
disposal of certain subsidiaries. ZZFERAD AR 41700007T ©
The transaction price allocated to the performance obligation that is HRAEBRBAIT DB AL (REBHE
unsatisfied, has not been disclosed, as substantially all of the Group’s BREENFEISKATE) AR/ —FL
contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 have a duration of LT MABEBROIEERTKRENOET
one year or less. KA S (BT °
ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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8. OTHER EXPENSES, NET Hibpa S E5E

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B 5T AR¥TR ARETIT

Bank interest income IRITFIBUA 9 8

Fair value loss on investment EME R ERE

properties 16 - (47,870)

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARAEIE 39 (4,557) -

Others Hih - 33
(4,548) (47,829)

9. FINANCE COSTS B R A

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

5 AR¥TR AREETIT

Interest on bank borrowings IRITIEFRF B 25 - 192
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 26 72 36

72 228

EHSBREZERERAT TECCFEER
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10. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. BRATEHBAZAEF(EE)
2022 2021
—E-—F —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
Auditor's remuneration Z RN & 790 1,087
Depreciation charge FrEMxX
— Owned property, plant and equipment —BAYE - MEMKRE 300 624
— Right-of-use assets included in other —ET ARSI BR A1
buildings leased for own use carried at B A EMETF
cost K S E 437 -
Short-term leases expenses REREMAY - 558
Legal and professional fees FERRBEEE 10,265 13,309
Marketing expense IR 34,114 -
Written off of deposits paid, MEEE R e  ERRIEK
prepayments and other receivables H fth FEUIFRIE - 2,639
Employee benefit expenses including EERMFX (BRIEERHM)
directors’ remuneration 7,273 7,774
Salaries and wages HehIE 6,687 6,587
Pension scheme contributions RIREETEIH R
— defined contribution plans —EREHERGE 586 1,187

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #ZE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST

PAID INDIVIDUALS

(a)

Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration of each of the directors for the year is set out
below:

S —F+-_A=t+—BHIHFE

(a) ESEHMH
FASRESOFHFHNIIIOT

N EEFMREZEaMESAL

Salaries
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees inkind (notea) contributions Total
e 2R
ENEA Bike
Be (MiEEa) BE @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTrn AR¥Trn ARETrn AR%¥Tn
Year ended 31 December 2022 Bz-z-—F%
TZRA=+—-HLEE
Executive directors: HiTEE:
Mr. Zhang Gongjun RAEEAE - 565 - 565
Ms. Wan Suyuan ('Ms. Wan') (Note (b))  BXBEZT([8&L]) (b)) - 257 - 257
Mr. Leung Man Kit ('Mr. Leung’) (Note (b)) 23055 4 (T2 %4 1) (B3 (b)) - 599 - 599
Ms. Liu Vi ("Ms. Liu") (Note (b)) gL (184 L ) (K5 b)) - 125 - 125
- 1,546 - 1,546
Independent non-executive directors: BV HFHITEE
Dr. Vincent Cheng YERET 123 - - 123
Dr. Miao Bo =) 1: e 123 - - 123
Mr. Hsu Tawei BAREE 123 - - 123
Mr.Tsao Hoi Ho (‘Mr.Tsao") Note (b)) EBFREE([ERED (M) 13 - - 13
Mr.Lau Jing Yeung, William ('Mr.Lau) 24554 ([21%4])
(Note (b)) (FI5E (b)) 92 - - 92
574 - - 574
Total @t 574 1,546 - 2,120
EHSBREZERERAT TECCFEER
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)

11. (ig%ﬁ@ﬂﬁﬂi%%%@ﬂﬁki

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued) (a) EBHE (&)
Salaries
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees  inkind (note a) contributions Total
e 2Rk
EMEF RIke
fikn (FzEa) STEIfR 5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARB®TT ARETT ARETRH
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-E--F
tZA=t-HLFE
Executive directors:; HITEE -
Mr. Zhang Gongjun RAERE - 533 - 533
Ms. Wan Suyuan EzRuL - 24 - 24
- 557 - 557
Independent non-executive directors: BV IFBITEE
Dr. Vincent Cheng HmEET 17 - - 17
Dr. Miao Bo HKEL 17 - - 17
Mr. Hsu Tawei fRABEE 98 - - 9%
Mr. Tsao Hoi Ho e 10 - - 10
342 - - 342
Total st 342 557 - 899
Notes: Bsr
@  The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their @) FRIATHITEEMES T ERHAER
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and AR e A5 B % 7% 69 18 BE AR 75 P 32
the Group. The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown e ERFARBYIFATEFTHE LR
above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company. RREEERARRESHRBZA -
(b)  Mr.Leung, Mr. Lau and Ms. Liu were appointed as the directors of the Company ) REHE - BRERBLZTERZERAE

with effect on 1 February 2022, 11 March 2022, 23 May 2022 respectively; while
Mr. Leung, Mr. Lau, Mr. Tsao and Ms. Wan resigned on 5 December 2022.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST  11. (%;;%ﬁ@ﬂ&ai%%%@ﬂﬁki
i

PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five highest paid individuals of the Group included one (2021:
three) directors whose emoluments are included above for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The analysis of the emoluments of the remaining four (2021: two)

(b)

TEREMEAL
AEEBE_T-_FR-F—F
+ZA=t+—HLEFEREEAHE
ATHEFE—R(ZEZ—F: =4)
BE FEZMEeER EX -

HAA (ZT——F : BA) &=

highest paid individuals is as below: S ATHMESITIAT
2022 2021
—EC-CF T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EALREWET 2,265 1514
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEIE R - 31
2,265 1,545

Their emoluments were within the following band: WEZHMWEE W T -

2022 2021
—E-= T4
Number of Number of
individual individual
ATEE ATEB
Nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 1,000,000 B 7T 4 2

(c) No director or any of the highest paid individuals waived or agreed
to waive any emoluments for the year (2021: nil). No emoluments
were paid by the Group to the directors or any of the highest paid
individuals of the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office for the year (2021:
nil).

(d) The emoluments paid or payable to member of senior management
other than the directors were within the following band:

(c)

(d)

FR MEBEEEREMNESMEAL
HESRBEHREEMMES(ZT - —
FE)-FR AEEHMERNLAK
BHEFR T A HFHME A LIME
IS - (FREEE B B A
SERMEEXEREE( T~
FE) -

ARRERERE (EERIN BN
FEfTROFF NS E 20 T

2022 2021

—s-= —E-—F

Number of Number of

individual individual

ATEE ATEE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 == 1,000,000 & T 1 1

EHSBBREERERAE T FFR
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED TAX 12. FIBBHAXREEREAR
LIABILITIES
2022 2021
—g-= B —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETT
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B PEH
— Provision in current year — REEEE 6,700 9
6,700 9

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising in
or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the Group are
domiciled and operated.

Enterprise income tax ("EIT") arising from the PRC for the year was
calculated at 25% (2021: 25%) of the estimated assessable profits of
subsidiaries operating in the PRC during the year. According to the EIT law,
the taxable income of an enterprise shall be the total revenue of such
enterprise, deducted by any non-assessable revenue, exempted revenue,
other deductions and amount of offsetting any accumulated tax losses.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED TAX

12. FIEHAXRELEREEE(HE)

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2022 is calculated at 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year, except for
one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying corporation under the
two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime. For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million
of assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable
profits are taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for this
subsidiary was calculated at the same basis in 2021.

Withholding tax was calculated at 5% of the dividends declared in respect
of profits earned by a PRC subsidiary to its intermediate holding company
incorporated in Hong Kong from 1 January 2008 onwards.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
income tax expense per the consolidated statement of profit and loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

ZEZZFEEBNEGRBBNRAFE
et RS 81656 —F = —F:
165%) 5T 8 MREFSHMAFBEE
BARN—EAREEETHBABRI -
MEZMBARME  B2BB8 B THER
T e T3 8.25% BT R BER - 82 T RO FEERTR
i F32 16.5% B R BT - ZMBARMNE
B ERREIRE T - —FRRNEE
AT N\F—F—HiR FEHNHZHRP
BB B A R B AE R M B BTz
FEER AR E IR E R 5% AT E o

AEEAEVAX A REABREREME
T W 5% P2 Bk P 1S5 B S TS 1R 4 B
LI

2022 2021
—ZE-C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AREETIT
Profit/(loss) before income tax expense BRETER A AR, (BE) 9,520 (265,595)
Tax calculated at the domestic tax rate of B E 2 25%
25% (2021: 25%) TEZ—F 25%)FTEMRIE 2,380 (66,399)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries RE A FLERER L & 8
operating in other jurisdictions MEARINTMEEZENTE (4,581) 765
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AAMBERZINR G E 9,680 65,865
Tax effect of non-taxable income IEERMMANT B TE - (40)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised kAR AR R - 581
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised B AR IEE R (779) (463)
Income tax PRISHR 6,700 9
EHSBREZERERAT TECCFEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED TAX 12. ISHRAXRIEEHESE(E)
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of temporary differences RZE-—_F+-_A=+—H BHERER
associated with the PRC subsidiaries’ undistributed retained earnings for FRIERIEEENRHME AT RS KRS
which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is approximately BANEENERHEZ288H80AARE
RMB18,341,000 (2021: RMB52,506,000). No deferred tax liabilities have 18341000 T (=T = —F : AR 52506000
been recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is in a IT) o AR EE T H:ZZ B A TR IR
position to control the dividend policies of these subsidiaries and it is BHE  BZEEZ8N 0] RBRA KA 88
probable that such differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable e WA ERZEEERERELERIES
future. g o
The Group has accumulated tax losses arising in Hong Kong and the PRC RNREFEBREFELPTESRIELEZATIBE
of approximately RMBnil (2021: RMB16,030,000) and RMB nil (2021: BOARBZETL(ZZE-—F: AR
RMB373,379,000) respectively. Deferred tax assets have not been 16,030,000 7C) R ARMZ T (ZEZ—F -
recognised in respect of these losses as it is not probable that sufficient AR®&373379,0007T) © BA TN KA BLETS
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax TR AT AEBRAE IO IELER
assets to be utilised. The tax losses can be carried forward with a maximum TBEE > BT ERZEERERELTR
period of five years in the PRC while the tax loss in Hong Kong can be BEE RAPBRNHEERAIN&EZHEF
carried forward indefinitely. In the opinion of the directors of the Group, NiEE > MREANRIBEE ~NT LS
there are no other deferred tax assets which will have a significant impact o REBEERFRA  UWHEHEMELEIE
to the Group. BEROASEELESEATE o
13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 13. BREF (HB)
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share SFEARRNREEAEEGRERNNESRS
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following data: L (EE) ThER T EE -
2022 2021
—E-C= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Earnings/(loss) BF,(HE)
Earnings/(loss) for the purposes of basic and AT E SR TR EA NS
diluted earnings/(loss) per ordinary a¥/ (BB Bz
share being earnings/(loss) for the year B,/ (E8)(BIARAT]
attributable to owners of the Company HmEABGEERET,(BE)) 2,605 (265,276)
ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

165

13. 8REF,(BHR) (&)

14.

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
(Restated)
(&&E751)
Number of shares BRE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  FLat ESREAEF (&)
for the purpose of basic earnings/(loss) Fir A 2 & im A hn ke 19 21
per share 34,629,000 34,629,000
Effect of exercise of share options TEBREZSE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  FtEtEGIEERF](EE)
for the purpose of diluted earnings/(loss) Fir A 2 & s A hnite 39 25
per share 3,996 -
34,632,996 34,629,000

On 22 March 2023, the Company completed a capital reorganisation
which involved the consolidation of every 50 ordinary share of the
company of HKS0.1 each into one consolidated share of HK$5 each. For
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the weighted average
number of ordinary share has been adjusted for the effect of the share
consolidated.

The computation of diluted earnings per share was reference to the
closing price of the Company's share immediately before the suspension
of trading of the Company’s share.

The diluted loss per share is same as basic loss per share for the years
ended 2021 as the shares issuable in respect of the outstanding share
options have an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend to
shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
Nil).

14.

NZ_EZ=F=H=-+=H ARAITK
BAER  ESREBEAATF0RTRAE
Bo1 BTz EBRAEMHAE—RTIREES
BLTZAHRN BE-_Z-_—_FK_-F
——F+-_A=F+—HILFE  ETEREM
BB ERB OO 2 ZEER TR -

AEEREERNE2RT EBARAR
NEEFEERNARFRN 2 BHIE -

BP0 e R AR 1T 50 8 A 2 T B 1T LA
BEREANBEREKRETYE  BE-F
T A=t-BULEFEzERES
EIRESRENERER -

R
BEERT TREAADRABRERE=

- —F+ A=+ —HIEFEZRER
B(ZEZ—F ) -

EHSBBREERERAE T FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BERRHE
Other
buildings
leased for Furniture,
own use fixtures
carried Leasehold and office Motor
atcost improvements equipment vehicles Total
iGN
HEBAY B #£8
Hipgs HEEE  RBORE "E 2
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AR¥TT  ARETT ARETR  ARETR
Cost: A
At 1 January 2021 n-E--%-F—-H - 1,876 9,859 866 12,601
Additions NE 529 - - - 529
At 31 December 2021 WZE--%+-R=1+-H 529 1,876 9,859 866 13,130
Addition NE 6,897 - 38 - 6,935
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) HERBAR (HF39) (529) (1,876) (9,859) (866) (13,130)
At 31 December 2022 WZE--_%+-R=1+-H 6,897 - 38 - 6,935
Accumulated depreciation and ZARERAE :
impairment:
At 1 January 2021 n-E--%-F—-H - 1,876 8,589 866 11,331
Charge for the year FERY - - 624 - 624
Impairment mE 529 - - - 529
At 31 December 2021 WZE--%+-A=1+-H 529 1,876 9,213 866 12,484
Charge for the year FERY 437 - 300 - 737
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) HERBAR (HF39) (529) (1,876) (9,511) (866) (12,782)
At 31 December 2022 WZE-Z%+-R=1+—H 437 - 2 - 439
Net carrying amount: REEE:
At 31 December 2022 WZEZZ%+-R=1—H 6,460 - 36 - 6,496
At 31 December 2021 WZE--%+-R=1+—H - - 646 - 646
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 15. ¥ - BMERBE (&)

Notes: FisE -
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHEESE
Other
buildings
leased for own
use carried at cost
BRI 8R
HIESAN
HitgF
RMB'000
ARETTT
At 1 January 2021 RZZE=Z—F—A—H -
Addition NE 529
Impairment RIE (529)
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-—F+-_A=+—H -
Addition NE 6,897
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—H 6,897
(b) The impairment charges related to property, plant and equipment and right- of-use (b) ME BELRERCHAEEENEBREE
assets amounting to approximately RMBnil (2021: RMBnil) and RMBnil (2021: AARNAARBZTL(ZE=—F: ARET
RMB529,000), respectively, have been recorded in other administrative expenses. L) RARBZIL(ZE=—F : AR¥ 529,000
7T)  BETAEMATEAS -
For the impairment assessment as at 31 December 2022, the Management of the MR _Z__F+_A=+—BoRENET
Group concluded no impairment for furniture, fixtures and office equipment, and right TOAKBERESGLARRR  AEENR
of use asset. - RERPARBARGERREETERE -

EHSBBREERERAE T FFR
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

16. REWE

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARETTT

Fair value ~FAE
At 1 January nw—HA—H - 47,870
Change in fair value (note 8) NEEZS) (HEs) - (47,870)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H - -

All the investment properties of the Group are held under long-term land
use right in the PRC.

At 31 December 2021, the Group's investment properties with a carrying
value of nil were pledged to secure certain bank borrowing of the Group
(note 25).

At 31 December 2021, the Group's investment properties were seized by
the Bureau and pledged pursuant to the Guarantee Documents for the
settlement of the Unsettled Repayment Funds as stated in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements. As advised by the Company’s PRC legal
advisor, and with reference to the valuation report issued by Eidea
Professional Services Company Limited, in view of the low probability and
feasibility for the Group to recover the investment properties, the Group
recognised RMB47,870,000 for the change in fair value of the investment
properties in the profit of loss. The interest of the investment properties
was disposed through the disposal of the subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

AEBURTENAEREDEARI L
M FRRERA -

R-_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—H KEEHE
HEEATHIEEMED TR - BIEER
NEEE TRTER (M) -

RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H AXEEHD
WEYEND BINE - WRKRER S
IR LUBERE P IEREM T ATt &9
KBEEES - BEARAPBAREMK
B USEEEEERBBERAFTLA
MEERES  ERNAEBKEREMED
AR R ATTTHERIE AEBRBEPE
RICEMENTFEE B AR47870000
Lo RBEZT-_F+=_A=+—HIE
FE - REDENESRDLHALERBA
A HE °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

7. BAFEFABSENERHEE

2022 2021
—E_C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB TR ARETTT
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFHEFABRNESREE
— unlisted equity securities (note a(i)) — FEETRAFES (FisEal) - 67,172

Notes:

(@ The amounts comprised investments in LPs at amounts of approximately
RMB67,172,000 as at 31 December 2021.

0]

As at 31 December 2021, the Group invested in certain LPs in the PRC and
acted as a limited partner with capital contributions at a range of RMB20 million
to RMB60 million for each LP. The contributions represented 1.9% to 42.5% of
the total contributions of the corresponding LPs. The Group revoked its voting
right on decision making over these LPs and therefore, the directors are of the
opinion that the Group did not have any control, joint control nor significant
influence over these LPs. These LPs invested in property development project
companies which are engaged in property development projects in the PRC
which are being developed by a property developer in the PRC (the “PRC
Property Developer”). The Group intends to hold these equity investments for
receiving investment income and will sell them out if the return is not optimal

as management expected.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no investment income was
recognised. As at 31 December 2021, there was gross carrying amount of
approximately RMB26 million investment income receivables from these LPs
(note 18). The financial assets were disposed during the year ended
31 December 2022 through dispose of subsidiaries.

i

(@) E’\

@

B m R ERERAR

——5+-A=t+—B =HEEERA

EBMIEN AR 67,172,000 7T ©

R-ZB-—F+-A=+—08 A£H
LEREBASHERENRPEETHR
A% BEBEREBIEENTARK
WEETLTEAREOEETLIES - 8
MZEERABBITER19%E 42.5% °
AEEBHEENZEEREBARRE
E N Iﬁv%i%%$§@%§%ﬁ
PR & 78 W0 (F {450 Il 4 - kR ¥ bl dE sk
BAYE - &%ﬁ@A%&§F%%$
RIBEE QAR ZERRRPEYEME
B¥REE MEBEEAPEYERRE
AmHBEYERERE DAY - AEEH
BEZSERRENERIRERA - &
BT ERETEARIEERE HERH
EERIREHE -

HE-Z-—F+-A=+—HLF
B WEERBRERA -RZT=—F
+ZA=+—H REZFHEREEH
EUHRERARBERENAARE 26
BET(MiF18) - eMEEEREBZEZ
T —F+-A=+—BLEFELHAS
EWBARMEE -

“ECCFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 B ZE — T - —&F+_A=+—HILtFE

18. LOANS AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES 18. ER KR EWIR
2022 2021
—E_-C —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 AR¥TR AREETIT
Pawn loan receivables R E B a - 11
Entrusted loan receivables FEUETER b - 1,327
Financial consultation services income JE Ui B 76 R T AR TS U A
receivables c - 6,952
Investment income receivables JEU IS B WA d - 26,000
Platform services income receivables FEUL S & AR TS U A e 529 4,568
Finance lease receivables FE AR E I8 f - 258
Other loan receivables H b IR E 3R g 40,556 45637
41,085 84,753
Less: non-current portion B IEmENE D
Other loan receivables Hitn el E g - (3,540)
41,085 81,213
Less: loss allowance of loans and T B R E AR B E B
accounts receivables (note 36) (P 36)
(2,634) (79,597)
Current portion mENE 38,451 1616
a. Pawn loan receivables represented the short-term loan of a. RZTE-_—F+-A=+—H kK

approximately RMB11,000 as at 31 December 2021 arranged in the

PRC. Customers were obliged to settle the amounts according to
the terms set out in relevant contracts, with the option to renew the
loans granted for a period up to 183 days. Interest rates offered
were based on the assessment of a number of factors including the
borrowers' creditworthiness and repayment ability, collaterals as

well as the general economic trends. The pawn loans bore effective

interest rate at 2.7% per month as at 31 December 2021, and the

maturity date for each loan contract was not more than 183 days.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

HEBETERPERZHENHARE
000 ER - BRPEIRIEIEH
BHFMHIEFUSERIE - REA[EE

R PTES REHRE183H - %'J%ZJHE
EHZHERZENFEMER] - ZFH
ZERERANEREREEREN

BERDAR —REEBD - 75’%:'5
“—Ft+-ZA=t—HB #EEFRZ
BREBRANE27%E - EERER

HEEE %1838 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

18. LOANS AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

18. ERKEWRM (&)

Entrusted loan receivables represent loans to borrowers through
certain banks or other financial institutions in the PRC. In an
entrusted loan arrangement, the Group enters into a loan
agreement with the borrower and a bank or other financial
institution. The borrower repays the loan to the bank or the other
financial institution and then the bank or financial institution returns
the principal and accrued interest to the Group. While the bank or
the other financial institution exercises supervision over the
arrangement and receives repayment from the borrower, the bank
or the other financial institutions does not assume any risk of default
by the borrower. The effective interest rate on entrusted loan
receivables are 0.46% per month as at 31 December 2021.
Independent third parties have guaranteed these entrusted loans
with maturity dates between 1 month to 2 years.

For financial consultation services income receivables, the credit
period is 30 days and customers are obliged to settle the amounts
according to the terms set out in the relevant contracts.

Investment income receivables represent income from the
investment in LPs as described in note 17(a)(i). The receivables are
typically settled 3 months after the date of the board meeting of the
LPs.

Platform services income receivables represent service income
charged to the platform users who are obliged to pay service fees
to the Group. There is no credit period and customers are obliged
to settle the amount according to the terms set out in the relevant
contracts.

JEWETEFTIES BT ENSE TIRIT
SHMEMEERERARLEINE
Mo EEAERTHT  AEEHE
RAR—ERI TSN E M & s s
B o BRARBRITSRE M S
BREEZER - MRTTE pEERE
BEAS REFFBHETAER -
HRIRTTR B S R S i
TEBREZEWERAER - BIRTTH
H At & B i 30 AR EE XA
EHMBIBENER RZTZ—F
+ZA=+—8 BREZAEZREA
Lo46% BB FEFE - 2 FEE
ERmBYEZER  JHANT
MEAZMEF -

&Y B 75 R S RIS M A E B A 5 30
B - BEFBEREMEREE AR IRK

BEFA -

JE W B UL A FE 2R B BT 3E 17()6) Pratt
RERBEREBHOWA - ZEWHKIEA
—REAREREBETESHAHR
“EREE -

FEUF & BRI U A TG [ & A P YR
MBRIEUA - FEAPARAREEX
NRBE - FRARBLEEESH B
EPARBABA OMBIETIEER
I8 o

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

18. LOANS AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES 18. ERREWERM (&)

(CONTINUED)

f. For finance lease receivables, borrowers are obliged to settle the f PIERREREREMS  (BRAE
amounts according to the terms set out in relevant contracts and BIERBE LT IEIEETIE I
acquire the leased assets at the end of the lease period. The interest ARHERERSKEEEEE - 1
rate is 9.5% per annum as at 31 December 2021 with lease periods TEC—FE+-B=+—HHERNZEX
of less than one year. 7595%  HERDR—F -

The finance lease receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 2022 are RZIBE - FR_TE-_—_F+=A1
further analysed as follows: =+—H EREEHERE#E—F
DT -
Minimum lease Interest Present
R-E-__F payments income value
As at 31 December 2022 +=ZA=+-H REHREM FMEWA RE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®T R ARBT R
Not later than one year TER—F - - -
Minimum lease Interest Present
NZE-—F payments income value
As at 31 December 2021 +-A=+—H REMERNK IS ON HE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT ARETT
Not later than one year TRR—F 258 - 258

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

18. LOANS AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

f.

(Continued)

The present value of future lease income is analysed as:

18. ERKEWRM (&)

ARRBEEBANREIFT

2022 2021

-2 B —F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETTT

Current assets MENVE E - 258
Non-current assets MBI EE - -
- 258

Finance lease receivable balances are secured over the equipment
leased and guaranteed from independent third parties. The Group
is not permitted to sell or repledge the collateral in the absence of
default by the leasees.

g.  Other loan receivables represent loans to borrowers including
individuals and entities at fixed interest rate ranging from 5% to 15%
per annum with loan periods of 1 to 10 years. Included in the other
loan receivables were long-term loan of approximately
RMB6,269,000 as at 31 December 2021. Such loan bears fixed
interest rate of 6.09% per annum and will be repaid over a period of
10 years. The other loan as at 31 December 2021 was disposed
through the disposal of subsidiaries during the current year. As at 31
December 2022, the amount represents loans borrowed to
independent third parties, which carried interest rate at 8% per
annum, repayable within one year and unsecured. The amount was
fully settled up to the date of this report.

Based on the commencement date of the loans as stated in the relevant
contracts and the service provided date of the amount receivable, the
ageing analysis of the gross carrying amounts of the Group's loans and
accounts receivables is as follows:

FE Y B B MR & FIRR A B LA H AR ER 1
TEIRMA BT E =T 1R - NEE
PEEABEARB OB T EMR
W E BRI

g HiEKEFTIEERA(BFEERA
T REE)ENER  BEFFE
NFsnZE15% EEHE—Z=1F -
RZEB_—F+_A=+—H  H
JEWEZRBRERPERHDARE
6,269,000 7C ° % B X I% [E F & 5| X
6.09%:EtE  BRI0FERNEE - R
T+ A=+—HHHEMER
ERAFELHEEHRB AR M
E-RZZE-__F+-_A=+—H"
ZFIBIREZAFTENE  FHR
H8%  —ERNEEW R AEEI -
HEAREAE  ZREEEHE
o

RERAAR & BB B3R 1A A B R I
RIS RBIRMBE  REENEHRLE
Wik R BB ER BRI DT T

2022 2021
—E-= —T - —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARETT
0 to 30 days 0&30H 12,704 27
31 to 90 days 31290 H 28,174 673
91 to 180 days 91&180H 121 -
Over 180 days 180 HIA 86 84,053
41,085 84,753

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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18. LOANS AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

Ageing analysis of the gross carrying amounts of the Group's loans and
accounts receivables, before impairment allowance, is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

18. ERKEWRM (&)

AE B AR E B RN E R KRR RN R

BROMT

2022 2021

—E-= —E—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%T T ARBFT

Neither past due nor impaired BR e HA T ARORU (B 40,556 700
0 to 30 days past due #H0=30H 273 -
31 to 90 days past due ®WHEI31E90H 49 -
91 to 180 days past due #HI91 =180 A 121 -
Over 180 days past due #HEF180 H A £ 86 84,053
41,085 84,753

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Impairment losses in respect of loans and accounts receivables are
recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that
recovery of the amounts is remote, in which case the impairment losses

B RN e AR SR R (E B 1R PR s HE BR A
5 BRIEAKER /T KA K EZE

BORUBER THEBERSEERERER N

are written off against loans and accounts receivables directly. Based on FEURBE Tt ey « A\ T B EIR
this assessment, the movements in impairment of loans and accounts BEFAREZEI T -
receivables are as follows:
2022 2021
—Eg-= T4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARETT
Balance at 1 January R—A— B 79,597 69,485
Loss allowance in loans and accounts receivables EERER N EWRFSERE
recognised (note 36) GEER) 2,634 10,173
Recovery of impairment of loans and accounts U B A 1 B SR D B 3R R U BR R
receivables previously recognised (note 36) BE (B sk 36) - ©1)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) BT A F (T 39) (79,597) -
Balance at 31 December R+ A=+—B84%&& 2,634 79,597

As at 31 December 2021, the Group received guarantee from independent
third parties to secure the balances of gross carrying amount of other loan
receivables and entrusted loan receivables approximately of RMB5,543,000
and RMB1,327,000, respectively.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

RZEBE-_—F+-_A=+—8 &AEEY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

19.

DEPOSITS PAID, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 19. Ef RS FAAREREME
RECEIVABLES WK IE
2022 2021
—E_C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AREETIT
Deposits paid (note a) BfEe (M) - 190
Prepayments (note b) TE S FRIE (BT b) 4,863 171
Other receivables H IR 1,197 1,217
6,060 1,578
Less: other receivables, non-current portion L HAEIGRIE - SERBIE S - -
6,060 1,578
Less: loss allowance on other receivables, WL B M EGRIA R B R E R
in aggregate (214) 471)
Current portion meEhEl s 5,846 1,107
Note: FEE -
@ Deposits paid mainly comprised rental and various deposits. @ EfZerZeEAeREERS -
(b) Prepayment was mainly for marketing expenses. (b) FENFEBEERLHERZ -

B m R ERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

20.

21.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

AMOUNTS DUE FROM A NON-CONTROLLING
INTEREST

The balances due were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents represented cash in hand and bank balance. As
at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
denominated in RMB amounting to approximately RMB4,832,000 (2021:
RMB12,178,000), and were kept in the PRC. RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject
to exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

Segregated clients’ accounts

The Group maintains segregated client's accounts with independent
online financial centers which are affiliated to licensed banks in the PRC to
hold clients’ deposits arising from normal business transactions in
connection with the provision for financing platform business. As at 31
December 2021, clients’ account not dealt within these consolidated
financial statements amounted to approximately RMB3,073,000. The
amount is nil as at 31 December 2022 through the disposal of subsidiaries.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

22. RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE, ACCRUALS AND OTHER

22. AR - BEfERAREME

PAYABLES NS
2022 2021
- B —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETT
Receipts in advance (note a) TEMRIE (Hita) - 979
Accruals fEFHE A 8,750 6,561
Other payables (note b) H4th FEA Z0E (M3 b) 15,472 63,344
24,222 70,884

Notes:

As at 31 December 2021, the receipts in advance mainly comprised RMB760,000

received from LPs as investment income in advance.

As at 31 December 2021, other payables mainly comprised (i) the amount of
approximately RMB16.3 million representing the provision made for the settlement of
the legal action against two PRC subsidiaries of the Company (note 40); (i) the amount
of approximately RMB12.9 million representing the provision made for the settlement
of the legal action again the PRC subsidiary of the Company; (iii) other payables to
various independent third parties for technical service fee of approximately RMB5.8
million; (iv) other tax payables of approximately RMB4.1 million; (v) other payables for
purchasing the leased assets under finance leases of approximately RMB1.8 million; and
(vi) deposits received from finance lessees of approximately RMB0.6 million. As at 31
December 2022, the balance mainly represented the other payable for marketing
expense approximately amounting to RMB6,430,000.

o

B m R ERERAR

RIE-—F+-_A=+—H BURKEZE
BREALBERABEIESRERANAR
#& 760,000 7T ©

R-TB-—F+-_fF=+—H0  HiENZHE
FEBRFORBRAEARRAMR AN E QA
RARRKERITHELENBERBOARE
1638 BT (MIEE40) : () BLARRE A QB E
ME R REVERITHEENBHERIBOARE
NOBET (WM REEENZEBLE
=FMEMREHARESSEETT : (v HME
NMBOARB BB VEEREHESEE
THESENEMENFENARK I SEET
RVIERMERERIMEZEHNARBEE
T -R_E-_—F+_A=+—H #HTE
F S G 5 S A E M B SRIE 4 A R 56,430,000

JC °©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. EHAE
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
+=ZA=+—-8A +=ZH=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Contract liabilities arising from: LUTIHEEEAMNENEE .
Receipts in advance TRl IR 385 4,555
385 4,555
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities FESHBBLEN MR REHDT
are as follows:
A contract liability which arises in respect of the Group's financial REBMPSEB RS L FEEREKRAE
consultancy service and platform service income is recognised as revenue EREHNBERAREFPIRERBHER A
relating to the general financial advisory services at the time of the services — R B T EA RS AR S AR R A e
rendered to the customers.
Movement in contract liabilities EHNEEEH
2022 2021
—E_-C B —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
Balance as at 1 January R—A—B#&% 4,555 3,712
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of EHBERFNERRETRTA
recognising revenue during the year that EHBEMNRETR D
was included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year (257) (3,712)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of AHBERRER T E MmN
billing in advance 385 4,555
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) HERB AR (FIFE39) (4,298) -
Balance as at 31 December Rt+-—A=+—HB#&%% 385 4,555

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

24,

25.

LOAN FROM DIRECTORS 24, REESZER
The loan was unsecured, interest-free and on demand (2021: within six ZEREmIER . pEREEE (T - —
months). F:NEA) -
BANK BORROWINGS 25. RITHER
2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Unsecured and guaranteed (note) AR A R (M FE) - 2,705
- 2,705
Analysed into: DR -
Current BNHER - 2,705
Non-current JERNER - -
- 2,705
EHSBREZERERAT —E_FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —&F+ - A=+—HIFE

25. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 25.

Note:

This bank facility is unsecured and guaranteed by Ms. Guo and bore fixed interest rate of 9.45%
per annum. As Ms. Guo was held in custody by the Bureau as detailed in note 1, pursuant to the
loan agreement, the bank borrowing of RMB2,705,000 became immediately repayable. The
bank borrowings was settled by disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December
2022.

The bank borrowings are scheduled to be repaid as follows:

RITER (&)

ZERTHERERN  BEBLLER - WiEKETE
FRERI45% B o B T FTaFal - MR L LB
WHRBWE BREEBERBZE RITERXARE
2,705,000 70 & A ZE BN EFHEE o EA%jz:Zéff——i-i— A
=+—RIFE  ZRTEFBBLEWBRREMN -

RITERZAEEBEBRNOT

2022 2021

—Es-= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT ARETT

On demand or within one year BERKIR—FN - 2,705

The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment dates in the loan agreements.

26. LEASES 26.

Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)
The Group leases a number of properties with a leased period of 5 years as
their offices in the jurisdictions from which it operates. The payment is
fixed throughout the leased period.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate is 3.15% for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

26. LEASES (CONTINUED) 26. 5 (&)
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee) HETEMMHE (EAEBEA)(E)
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group's lease liabilities and the movement AEFHECEFEAERTANEEHNT ¢

during the year are as follows:

Lease liabilities HESE

Other buildings
leased for own
use carried
at cost
B A5
HEBAH
Hitgs
RMB'000
AREFT
At 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—H—H 155
Additions e 529
Interest expense FEZH 36
Lease payments HENK (330)
Exchange realignment bEE 5 38 2 G)

At 31 December 2021 and R-ZF-_—F+-A=1+—H
1 January 2022 k=—E2-—%—A—H 382
Additions RE 6,897
Interest expense FEZH 72
Lease payments HEMH -
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) & BB A A (Fi3E39) (382)
At 31 December 2022 R-B-_—_F+-HA=1+—H 6,969

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

26. LEASES (CONTINUED) 26. 15 (&)
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee) HETEMMHE (EAEBEA)(E)
(Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued) HESE(FA)
The present value of future lease payments are analysed as: RRBEFRNFIRESITA -
2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARBF T
Within one year —&FR 1,774 263
In the second to fifth years inclusive E-EZERF(REERMT) 5,195 119
6,969 382
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARBT T
Current liabilities mEAE 1,774 263
Non-current liabilities FREBEE 5,195 119
6,969 382
27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. BA&
2022 2021
—B-CF “E-—F
Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary
shares Amount shares Amount
EREREA &8 LTBRREE ©H
‘000 RMB’000 ‘000 RMB'000
TR AR®ETR T AREFT
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FRIREE BITH T B
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BK
+=-A=+—H 5,000,000 407,450 5,000,000 407,450
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRAE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SREE AT AR
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BRk
+=A=+—8 1,731,433 142,004 1,731,433 142,004

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 28. UEREERMDAER 2R

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution in writing passed by all shareholders on 20
December 2011. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives or rewards to the eligible participants for their contribution to
the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by
the Group shall not exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in
issue from time to time. The total number of shares issued and which may
fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group to each
grantee in any 12-month period share shall not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company for the time being. Any further grant of
options in excess of the limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the Directors,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share
options; (i) the average Hong Kong Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company's shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company's shares on
the date of the offer.

AARRBEEZEREN_ZF——F+=A
—tHBRBMNEERZERFMN—AERE
FTEI(THERRERTE)) - BB EIME M
ARERRESERSEEBANEBAE
ZEE -

AR IE B AR AT 81 I AN 5% 8 P BR A B0 (1)
Hip st 8 R ERKRITEZME
AITEBRERTERA TREREITZ
B &=S8HETFEBARR MRS T
PR Z.30% » IRARIR BB A HE AT &) e AR B
B EMBRE R 3R 2 B E T
BMBETHA R TEITTEARAZK
7 B 1218 A HIf NS BB A R 7]
BREEITRAZ 1% - BBt EREER
E-TBRERROASERRERAS
FHbE -

BRENTEERESRETE  EMATER
AT &@E () AR BB R B R
BEIEE BB 2 WHIE () AR A K
MRERRL B AR S ER B
R FWRTE ¢ K i) R R BB R
HE#zEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Equity-settled share option scheme

On 17 December 2015, options to subscribe for an aggregate of
70,000,000 shares of the Company were granted by the Company
to the existing directors and employees of the Group under the
Share Option Scheme (2015 Scheme”). 30% of share options have
an exercise period from 1 June 2016 to 19 December 2021 (“Share
Option 1), 30% of share options have an exercise period from 1
June 2017 to 19 December 2021 (“Share Option 2"); and the
remaining share options have an exercise period from 1 June 2018
to 19 December 2021 (“Share Option 3”). All share options are
subject to the fulfillment of relevant profit targets by the Group, and
share options shall not be vested if any of the profit targets is failed
to meet.

On 15 January 2018, options to subscribe for an aggregate of
90,200,000 shares of the Company were granted by the Company
to the existing directors and employees of the Group under the
Share Option Scheme (2018 Scheme”). 10% of share options have
an exercise period from 1 June 2018 to 14 January 2023 (“Share
Option 4"), 20% of share options have an exercise period from 1
June 2019 to 14 January 2023 (“Share Option 5”), 30% of share
options have an exercise period from 1 June 2020 to 14 January
2023 (“Share Option 6") and the remaining share options (40%) have
an exercise period from 1 June 2021 to 14 January 2023 (“Share
Option 7). All share options are subject to the fulfillment of relevant
profit targets by the Group, and share options shall not be vested if
any of the profit targets is failed to meet.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 28. LESEEROAER 2T
(CONTINUED) (&)
(a) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) (a) EZEEBERETS(E)
Details of the specific categories of options are as follows: T EREREFENT
Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period Exercise price  Vesting conditions
R BHE HEAN Ggcd: THE BBEHYE
HKS
BT
Share Option 1 17 December 2015 31 May 2016 1June 2016 to 1046 Profit after income tax (but before share-
B —T-1F —E-RF 19 December 2021 based payment expenses) according to the
+=ZA+tH AA=T—H ZE—RF audited consolidated financial statements of
NA—HE the Company for the year ended 31 December
“EC—F 2015
TZAThH

—  Equal to or more than RMB35 million,
100% of Share Option 1 shall be
vested:

—  Equal to or more than RMB25 million
but less than RMB35 million, 50% of
Share Option 1 shall be vested; and

— Less than RMB25 million, no Share
Option 1 shall be vested.

BREARRHE_Z-RFt_A=1—
B FENERREAMBRE - BAE
B (B ARMBRB RS R A

—  AERAEZRARESHET:
RIEBBRRE /) 100% :

—  HASREZRARES BELR
PRARES BB AIERE
BRI 50% &

— DRARBESHET IBEER
BRI -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e R R M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 28. LESEEROAER 2T
(CONTINUED) (&)
(a) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) (a) ERLEBIRESTS(E)
Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period Exercise price  Vesting conditions
RHAH HEAH Cig:d THE BEHRYE
HKS
BT
Share Option 2 17 December 2015 31 May 2017 1June 2017 to 1046 Profit after income tax (but before share-based
BRI —E-nE —T—+tF 19 December 2021 payment expenses) according to the audited
+ZA+tA AA=+—H ZT—tF consolidated financial statements of the
NA—HE Company for the year ended 31 December
—E—— 2016
TZATHE

— Equal to or more than RMB65 million,
100% of Share Option 2 shall be
vested;

—  Equal to or more than RMB50 million
but less than RMB65 million, 50% of
Share Option 2 shall be vested; and

— Less than RMB25 million, no Share
Option 2 shall be vested.

BREARRHE-Z-—"Ft-A=1—
AUFENEEREEMBRE  RAE
B (B ARMBRB R ) &R A

—  HERIEZRARBGHET:
BIESBERIE I/ 100% ;

—  HERIZRARB0EERLE
PRARESHEL HIERE
BRI I850% : R

— SPRAREBxHEERL UBES
B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

28. LIERGERODA/ER ZHRX

(CONTINUED) (&)
(@) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) (a) ERLEBIRESTS(E)
Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period Exercise price  Vesting conditions
R B HEAH Cigd THE BEHRYE
HKS
BT
Share Option 3 17 December 2015 31 May 2018 1June 2018 to 1046 Profit after income tax (but before share-based
BN —E-nE —ZN\F 19 December 2021 payment expenses) according to the audited
TZA++tA AA=+—-H ZE-N\F consolidated financial statements of the
NA—HE Company for the year ended 31 December
“E--F 2017
TZATHE

B m R ERERAR

— Equal to or more than RMB100 million,
100% of Share Option 3 shall be
vested;

—  Equal to or more than RMB80 million
but less than RMB100 million, 50% of
Share Option 3 shall be vested; and

— Less than RMB80 million, no Share
Option 3 shall be vested.

BREARAHE-Z—tHFt-A=1—
HUFENERLEAMBERE - BAE
B (B ARMBRB FREAS) R A

—  HERIZRAREI0EET
AR5 B B 111 69 100%

—  ASERIEZRARBOEELE
PRARBI0EETL BIERE
BRI 11 /Y 50% : J%

—  JORAREOBEET
BEERREN -

RBAR
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

28. LIESGEERODA/AER ZHX

(CONTINUED) (&)
(a) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) (a) EZEEBERETS(E)
Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period Exercise price  Vesting conditions
RHAH BEAH Cig:d THE BEHRYE
HKS
BT
Share Option 4 15 January 2018 31 May 2018 1 June 2018 to 0842 Profit after income tax (but before share-based
BREV —ZN\F —ETN\F 14 January 2023 payment expenses) according to the audited
—A+&A AA=+—H ZE-N\F consolidated financial statements of the
NA—HE Company for the year ended 31 December
“EC-=F 2017
—RA+mA

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

— Equal to or more than RMB100 million,
100% of Share Option 4 shall be
vested;

—  Equal to or more than RMB80 million
but less than RMB100 million, 50% of
Share Option 4 shall be vested; and

— Less than RMB80 million, no Share
Option 4 shall be vested.

REARRHE-Z—tHFt-A=1—
AUFENEEREEMBRE  RAE
B (B ARMBRB R ) &R A

—  HERIZRAREI0EET
AR5 B RBARAE IV #)100% :
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

28. t;g%éﬁ%ﬂiﬁ%%ﬁZﬁ%ﬁ

(a) EEFEBERES (&)

Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period Exercise price  Vesting conditions
RHAH BEAHS TEH TEE BEE4
HKS
BT
Share Option 5 15 January 2018 31 May 2019 1 June 2019to 0842 Profit after income tax (but before share-based
kY —E-N\E —Z-NE 14 January 2023 payment expenses) according to the audited
—A+&A AA=+—B ZZ—N%F consolidated financial statements of the
NA—HE Company for the year ended 31 December
TE-=F 2018
—A+mA

— Equal to or more than RMB150 million,
100% of Share Option 5 shall be
vested;

—  Equal to or more than RMB100 million
but less than RMB150 million, 50% of
Share Option 5 shall be vested; and

— Less than RMB100 million, no Share
Option 5 shall be vested.

BEARAHE-Z—N\F+_A=1—
AIEFERNEEREAVERE  BIG
M UBRINBRO B L) BEFI

—  HERISZRAREISEET
AI/AGBRARIE VA 100% :

—  HEERIZAAREI0BETR
PIARBISOEBL MERE
SRRRAEV A9 500% ¢ ]2

—  LPRARKI00BETL AIBER
BEEMREY
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28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(a) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

Date of grant

RHAM

Vesting date
BEAHS

Exercise period

i

28. LIESGEERODA/AER ZHX

(#&)
(a)

Exercise price
TEE

HKS

BT

rE

mEERRE 8 (F)

Vesting conditions

BERME

Share Option 6
BIREV

15 January 2018
—E-N\F
—AtEA

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

1 June 2020 to

14 January 2023
—T-%F
NA—-RZE
—F_=F
—R+mA

31 May 2020
—E-FE

—R ==

TA=+—H

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

0.842

Profit after income tax (but before share-based
payment expenses) according to the audited
consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December
2019

— Equal to or more than RMB200 million,
100% of Share Option 6 shall be
vested;

—  Equal to or more than RMB150 million
but less than RMB200 million, 50% of
Share Option 6 shall be vested; and

— Less than RMB150 million, no Share
Option 6 shall be vested.

BEARAHE-_Z-NF+_A=1—
AIEFENEEREAVERE  BANG
M UBRIMBRO L) BEF

—  AERIZARARE00EET
AR5 B RBARAE VI #)100%

—  HERIZRAREI10EETLE
PRARE00EETL BIERE
BBRIE VI B 50% 5 It

—  DORARBISOEET BIHBER
BEREY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

28. t;g%éﬁ%ﬂiﬁ%%ﬁZﬁ%ﬁ

(a) EEFEBERES (&)

Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period Exercise price  Vesting conditions
RHAH BEAHS TEH TEE BEE4
HKS
BT
Share Option 7 15 January 2018 31 May 2021 1 June 2021 to 0842 Profit after income tax (but before share-based
BRI —ZN\F “T-—F 14 January 2023 payment expenses) according to the audited
—A+&A AA=+—H ZE=-F consolidated financial statements of the
NA—HE Company for the year ending 31 December
“EC-=F 2020
—A+mA

— Equal to or more than RMB250 million,
100% of Share Option 7 shall be
vested;

—  Equal to or more than RMB200 million
but less than RMB250 million, 50% of
Share Option 7 shall be vested; and

— Less than RMB200 million, no Share
Option 7 shall be vested.

BEARRAHE-_ZE-_FF+_A=1—
AIEFERNEEREAVERE  BIG
M UBRINBRO B L) BEFI

—  HERIZRAREBEET
AR SR B REARAE VI 69 100%

—  HEERIZEARARE006ETR
PIARBS0EETL MERE
FERRIE VI B 500% ¢ 2

—  LPRARE00BETL AIBER
BRI

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e R R M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 28. LESEEROAER 2T
(CONTINUED) (%)
(a) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) (a) ERLEBIRESTS(E)

Set out below are details of movements of the outstanding options TREYEBEE—TE—_—FR T —

granted under the Share Option Scheme during the years ended 31 F+-A=1+—HILFEREERE

December 2022 and 2021: AR M ARITEERENE B

18
Number of share options
BREHA

Outstanding
asat

QOutstanding 31 December Outstanding

asat Addition Bxercised lapsed  2021and Addition  Exercised Lapsed asat

Bxercise 1 January during during duing  1January during during during 31 December

price 2021 the year the year the year* 2022 the year theyear  theyear* 2022
R
“EC-F

TZA R

3t =t+-Ak “8-=F

i 3 It St 3 t=A
—A-H -A-H =+-§
aEE  EAOE EAFE EROR EAKIC HRARE FRFE FRGE ERXRT  HAGE

20155cheme  —E-TFHE

Directors g% HKS1.0468 18000000 - - (18000000) - - - - -

Employees [E8 HKST 046870 21,000000 - - (21,000000) - - - - -

2018Scheme  ZF-NEitH

Directors 2 HKSO8427TT 6540000 - - (55000000 1,040,000 - - - 1,040,000

Employees [E2 HKS0842ET 18120000 - - (160600000 2,060,000 - - - 2,060,000

Total @t 63,660,000 - - (605600000 3,100,000 - - - 3,100,000

* Lapsed share options were resulted from (i) the resignation of employees; (ii) a * WVEEFRE : WAERESFEENS

failure by the employees to satisfy the vesting conditions for the respective B R G BRETE S E M ERE
years; and (iii) expiry of the exercise period of the options. PR AR I3

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

28. LIERGERODA/ER ZHRX

Share options and weighted average exercise price are as follows

(%)

(a) EmEEBRETS(E
S i B O R RS B IR T 19 1T 45 (B

for the reporting periods presented: Z5m -
2022 2021

—EC-CE —E-—F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
Number price Number price
InREF INHETFH
# A T8 A 7B
HK$ HKS
BT BT
Outstanding at 1 January n—RB—BRXTE 3,100,000 0.842 63,660,000 0.967
Lapsed B - - (60,560,000) 0973
Outstanding at 31 December RTZA=+—BHKX{TE 3,100,000 0.842 3,100,000 0842
Exercisable at the end of the year AR AJT{E 3,100,000 0.842 3,100,000 0.842

The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 0.1 year (2021: 1 year) and the

exercise price of HK$0.842 (2021: HK$0.842).

FR I ARTTE BB ACHE /0 DO P19 R

BHHRBE(

—EZ—F

F) (TEBEBRBIT(ZT - —

G 084278TT) °

B m R ERERAR

“ECCFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e WIS |RME

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(&)

28. LIESGEERODA/AER ZHX

(a) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

2015 Scheme

The total fair value of the share options under 2015 Scheme at the
grant date on 17 December 2015 was HK$43,472,000. The following
information is relevant in the determination of the fair value of

(&)

R EBRESTE (&)
—E-hF5E
RZE—RAF+ZA+ERAEEA
) BB T —FHEE 0 BERE
2N EKAEE 543,472,000 7T © BA

options. TREHETERENAFENE
K} o
Share Share Share Weighted
Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 average
BN BREN BBREm ¥ 13
Option pricing model used FRAERETEER Binomial
option pricing
ZIHARREEE
Fair value per option at R BB E0 ERE HKSO51IT  HKS057/87T  HKS062787T  HKS0.5727%8 7T
grant date ZATHE
Exercise price I8 HK$1.046 78 7T
Contractual life S HVEARR 6 years F
Expected volatility BER IR 83%
Expected dividend rate B B K -

Risk-free intere:

strate MR F =

The volatility assumption, measured at the standard deviation of
expected share price returns, is based on a statistical analysis of daily
share prices over the last three years. Changes in the subjective

input assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, no share option expenses

was recognised in expense in relation to share options under 2015

Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, all of the outstanding

share options under 2015 Scheme had expired on 19 December
2021, end of the exercise period.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

1.17%

RIERT B fE B RV R R = R B AR
BRRVIRBEBE=FFBRENG
AHBEOMAESL - THBARE
RN B E A H N A FHEKE

2 48
-2

BE_Z-—F+-_A=+—HILF
[E MER - —RAFEIATSRER
RS RS

HE-_ZT-—F+-_H=1T—HLF
B ZZE—hFFEBETMERTE
EREER —_E-_—F+-A+hB
(FTEERAE R 2 B) fE oy ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(a)
2018 Scheme

The total fair value of the share options under 2018 Scheme at the
grant date on 15 January 2018 was RMB31,850,000. The following
information is relevant in the determination of the fair value of

options.

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

28. LIERGERODA/ER ZHRX

(&)
(a)

R EBRESTE (&)
—E-\F5d
RZE—NF—A+HRA(EEA
) BIE-T— N\FiHE BIRE
2 AN HEREE A AR 31,850,0007T °
LNTREHEETCERENATFENE
o

Share Share Share Share Weighted

Option 4 Option 5 Option 6 Option7 average

BR#EIV BREV BREVI  BREW MY

Option pricing model used FRNERETEER Binomial

option pricing

EERTERE

Fairvalue peroptionat grant date MR AEASMHERE  HK026/8T  HKS030TT  HKS033EL  HKS035IL  HKS033 87T
ZAYTE

Exercise price 170 (8 HKS0.842 78 TT

Contractual life BHHR 5 years &

Expected volatility EHKE 59%

Expected dividend rate EHREE 2%

Risk-free interest rate BB X 167%

The volatility assumption, measured at the standard deviation of
expected share price returns, is based on a statistical analysis of daily
share prices over the last three years. Changes in the subjective

input assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no share option
expenses was recognised in expense in relation to share options

under 2018 Scheme.

Of the total number of share options outstanding as at 31
December 2022, no share option had not vested and were not

exercisable as at 31 December 2022 (2021: same).

B m R ERERAR

RIERT BB B R AR R = R B AR
RRRVIRBEBE=FFBRENG
AHEEOMAESL - THBARE
BRERHEF A gEE N FE[BTEKE

2 48
-2 X

BE_Z-_—_Fh-_F-—F+=A4
=+—BIEE HBER -_T—N\F
ST & 2 BN TE R ST N RE R B A i
S‘Zo

RZEZZF+ZA=+—HBHRERK
TERER RS E P - BEERER
—E-—F+-_A=Z+—HARER
B nAEOFE(ZE=_—F:
) e

“ECCFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Equity-settled service contract

On 17 December 2015, the Company entered into separate services
contracts with 5 individual advisors (the “2015 Advisors”) to provide
advisory services to the Group for six years. In consideration of the
services provided by the 2015 Advisors, the Company granted in a
total of 6,000,000 share options to them.

Set out below are details of the share options granted to the 2015
Advisors:

(i) All share options are granted with an exercise price of
HKS$1.046 per share;

(i) All holders of share options have to follow the vesting date,
vesting conditions and exercise period under 2015 Scheme
as mentioned in note 28(a);

(i) 6,000,000 share options were lapsed during the year ended
31 December 2021; and

(iv)  All of the outstanding share options had expired on 19
December 2021, end of the exercise period.

The total fair values of the share options granted to the 2015
Advisors on 17 December 2015 were approximately RMB3,000,000.
These fair values were based on the terms and conditions stated in
the service contracts.

On 15 January 2018, the Company entered into separate services
contracts with 6 individual advisors (the “2018 Advisors”) to provide
advisory services to the Group for five years. In consideration of the
services provided by the 2018 Advisors, the Company granted in a
total of 7,800,000 share options to them.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

28. LIESGEERODA/AER ZHX

(b) UEZEHEZRBEELN

RZE—RAF+ZA+TER KXQF
DRSEAZEABRBR ([ —HFE
) st A S BRE AR N F R R
RGETIBIREEN - EBZ
—AFBERRERBHORE A7
A 1% H A 36,000,000 17 BE A4 -

TXEINET -_Z-RFRRANER
115 -

() FBEEROBRENITEEY
BEMR1.0468TT

(i) FBEEREZEEAHEZHZE
28Q) FT#L ey —F — A F &t &85
BRAH - BT RITESR
IR

@iy 60000007 EEREREE_-F
——E+_A=+—RBIEE
NN

vy FIBRTEBEREER-F
——FtZATABGTERE
RZBF) i o

R-E-—HF+ZA++tH &7
T-hFERNBREN R T EERE
#75 ANREE30000007T ° ZERFE
THIRIE RS & 40 B & 15 3R X A& 1 &1
o

RZZE—NF—A+HB  ARQAD
AlENZEABRB( —ZE— N\FBE
D) st A EERE AR TR
RIEFI LB LR AN - 1EAEZF
—NFEBREBRFEHRE  AQF
A SR A 3£ 7,800,000 17 B A4 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 28. UREREEROGAER AR
(CONTINUED) (#8)

(b) UESEHEZBRBSN (&)

(b) Equity-settled service contract (Continued)

Set out below are details of the share options granted to the 2018
Advisors:

(i) All share options are granted with an exercise price of
HKS$0.842 per share;

(i) All holders of share options have to follow the vesting date,
vesting conditions and exercise period under 2018 Scheme
as mentioned in note 28(a);

(i) No share options were lapsed and exercised during the year
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. There were no exercised
share options as at 31 December 2021 and 2022.

The total fair values of the share options granted to the Advisors on
15 January 2018 were RMB2,535,000. These fair values were based
on the terms and conditions stated in the service contracts.

The weighted average exercise price of the share options under
2018 Scheme is HK$0.842 per share and the weighted average
remaining contractual life is 0.1 year (2021: 1.1 years).

No expense was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2021
and 2022 in relation to share options granted by the Company to
the 2018 Advisors.

B m R ERERAR

TXHEIETF _Z— N\FEMNHER

aaaaa

() FBEEROBRENITEEY
B 0842TT

iy FMBEBRESAEABXHE
28@) FitEy — T — \FEH 8B
BAH - BERAFRITEHR
PR

(il BEZZ-_—_FRT=—%F
+-—A=+—HILFE e
BRI ETE R T
T FRZFZ=F+=ZA
—+—H BECETENE
fx i o

RZE—NF—A+HB  BTZE
FERBRENA T EEEAARE
2,535,000 7T © 25~ FETIRE RS
BRI RIEHETE -

ZE— \FEE TR AR A ik
BT B AETR-842E T » M Il
FHRGANBR A F(ZE=—
F114) o

BEgANRRT -2 — \FERH
EBRENEE S —FR-_T-—
FH+-_A=T—HIFE®ERAH
io

“ECCFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 29. RNABFHARR K
COMPANY
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
F5E AR%ETR ARETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REBARMEE 1 2
Amounts due from subsidiaries UL I B B FUR 9,088 91,456
9,089 91,458
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TR RIA F Eh R YR IE 321 -
Cash and cash equivalents BekBEeEEIER 80 1,541
401 1,541
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals and other payables FEEH B A N E Ath FE A I8 9,717 8,437
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASTRT BB A AR IE 2,706 133,661
Dividend payable FERTAR B 112 103
12,535 142,201
Net current liabilities REBAETFHE (12,134) (140,660)
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERRBERE (3,045) (49,202)
NET LIABILITIES BERHE (3,045) (49,202)
EQUITY R
Share capital AR 27 142,004 142,004
Reserves & 30(b) (145,049) (191,206)
TOTAL EQUITY B (3,045) (49,202)
On behalf of the Board of directors REEE=S
Zhang Gongjun Liu Yi
RAO® 2%
Executive Director Executive Director
HiTEE HITEE
ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

30. RESERVES

(@) Group

Details of the movements on the Group's reserve are as set out in

30. f#1E

(a)

REHE

AEBERBEDNF RN TR EER

the consolidated statement of changes in equity. BHEYR o
(b) Company (b) ZA&AF]
Share
Share Exchange option Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
RPEE ERmkE BRERE REE X
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®ETT ARETT AR®ETT ARET:
At 1 January 2021 R-ZFE-_—F—f—H 217,853 13,548 25,286 (371,278) (114,591)
Loss for the year FEEBE - - - (93,061) (93,061)
Exchange difference translating EINEBIREME
foreign operation =5 - 1,957 - - 1,957
Total comprehensive income FEZANZESE
for the year - 1,957 - (93,061) (91,104)
Share options lapsed (note 28) B R R B (P 5E28) - - (24219) 24219 -
Waiver amount due to a shareholder A% JEf — R RFUE - - - 14,489 14489
At 31 December 2021 and RZE-_—F+-A
1 January 2022 =+—Bk
“E-ZF-A—H 217,853 15,505 1,067 (425,631) (191,206)
Profit for the year FRRA - - - 53,896 53,896
Exchange difference translating BN ETBAERE
foreign operation =8 - (7,739) - - (7,739)
Total comprehensive income FEXENEERE
for the year - (7,739) - 53,896 46,157
At 31 December 2022 i —s
+ZRA=1+—H 217,853 7,766 1,067 (371,735) (145,049)
EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

30. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Share premium

Share premium account of the Company and Group
represents the excess of the proceeds received over the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve of the Group arose as a result of the
Reorganisation and represents the difference between the
nominal value of the registered capital and capital reserve of
Guangdong Huijin and the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued pursuant to the Reorganisation.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, the
Company's subsidiaries registered in the PRC are required to
appropriate 10% of the annual statutory profit after tax (after
offsetting any prior years' losses) determined in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in the PRC to
the statutory reserve until the balance of the reserve fund
reaches 50% of the entity’s registered capital. The statutory
reserve can be utilized to offset prior years' losses or to
increase capital, provided the remaining balance of the
statutory reserve is not less than 25% of registered capital.

Exchange reserve
Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the cumulative expenses
recognised on the granting of share options to the directors,
employees and advisors over the vesting period.

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)
The amount represents accumulative net gains and losses
recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
reserve

Fair value through other comprehensive income reserve
comprises all gains/losses arising on the revaluation of
financial assets at FVOCI.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

30 @& (&)

(o fREfE
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

MEER AR

griy]

AR R A LR B B 5 (B AR
BEWAFHIEBLARRD
BT EERER °

BptEE
AEENAHHEBREMANE
£ EERESEAMEARE
ARFEFHENEERRRRREE
MBETHRDMEE RN E
B o

EERE
RIBFBEARE - AAFRAF
B 7 1 Y B /2B A R ZB B 10%
BEPEARSHRAEED
FEEATERBIERF (CHBRE
BT FERIE) 2XERE
BEEREoHBED TR
it & A s50% & LE o A ERFEE
AR BAEFESIEA
RIZE - AT RENBET
BLREME AR 25% o

B R
N B BRI RRIEINE
BHRERMELNMEELZ5

BRERE
BEREFEEERNFBEAERE
= REMNERARLDBRER
MR REthx

REBF(RFEE)
ZBRIE R B R RET I
i M B 1R

FFARMMEZHEKERREN AT
=}
FFARMEEmEE BN DT
BERFERAFEFAREMEE
WaEmEREEEBELNAN
Bl EA -



Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

31. fIB AR

TE2MBARMFIBEERIIMT

Description of
fully paid up
Place of share capital/ Percentage of
incorporation/ registered ownership interest's/
Name establishment Place of operation and principal activities capital held voting rights/profit share
fisEEY
e/ BrREx/ fiekEs/
£ FBE BERERTEEY ERERGHE R/ NEIREAML
2022 2021
—E-CE  -—Z--F
Limited liability company
BRERAA
Mega Rising Investment Ltd Hong Kong Provision of financial consultation services 1 share HKS1 (Note) 100%
in Hong Kong
RARERRAT BA EEBRENBERRS 1R (B3)
Sunny Sino Holdings Limited Hong Kong Investment holding and provision of 1share HKS1 (Note) 100%
otherloan services in Hong Kong
HEEERRAT B3 REGRREEBRUEMET R 1R1AET (BF)
Flying Investment The PRC* Provision of financial consultation and HKS50,000,000 (Note) 100%
investment income services in the PRC
R E i EEREMBEARRERARS 5000000047 (B3E)
Qianhai Flying Financial PRC Service The PRC* Provision of financial consultation services HK$300,000,000 (Note) 100%
(Shenzhen) Limited inthe PRC
ASER BRH (R BRAR Gk EERAMERRRS 30000000077 (B3)
Huilian E-Home Internet Financial Services The PRC* Provision of financial consultation services - (Note) 90%
(Shenzhen) Co, Ltd in the PRC
BESR G HELBRE (R ERAR mE B RMEBRERRS - (BF)
Profit Success Technology Limited (Profit Success’)  The BVI Investment holding company in the BV Usé1 - 51%
Profit Success Technology Limited AEERREE HBERRNENREBRAT E3
(IProfit Success )
EBSREERERAR TBRICEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 31. B AR E (&)

TEMBRATMFEHIINT : (&)

Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Description of
fully paid up
Place of share capital/ Percentage of
incorporation/ registered ownership interest's/
Name establishment Place of operation and principal activities capital held voting rights/profit share
EC{RES |
AL/ BrEx/ fiERRE/
£ FbE BEBURIERY AMEARRE ZE/ABAREA
2022 2021
“B-CE ZE--EF
Shenzhen Flying Financial Internet The PRCY Provision of financial consultation services in the PRC RMB50,000,000 (Note) 51%
Finandial Services Corporation
AImER IRELRREARAR hE BRI HERRS AR 500000007 (B3)
Shenzhen Huilian Huishenghuo Internet The PRC* Provision of financial consultation services in the PRC - (Note) 63%
Financial Services Limited
MITERELZERBSRRBERAR R R RERERRG - (H3E)
Shenzhen Huilian Huiyoufang Intemet Financial ~ The PRC* Provision of financial consultation services in the PRC RMB7,000,000 (Note) 63%
Services Limited
MIMERELERRARREERAT  RE EEREMBRRRG ARH70000007 (B3)
Zhongxi Rongzi Zulin (Shangha) Limited The PRC* Provision of finance lease services in the PRC RMB200,000,000 (Note) 100%
TERERE(LR)ARAT hE EhERMABERERS AR 2000000007T (B3E)
Le Dao Internet Media (Shenzhen) Limited The PRCY Provision of finance consultation services in the PRC RMB3,000,000 (Note)
LERRBER (R ARAA e EEREHBRRRG ARH 30000007 (B3)
Shenzhen Huidun Technology Company Ltd. The PRC* Provision of financial consultation services in the PRC RMB20,000,000 99%
AITEENRARAR hE BRI BER RS AR 200000007
Zhongxi Investment Consulting (Shanghai) Limited ~ The PRC* Provision of financial consultation services in the PRC RMB10,000,000 (Note) 100%
hERAKA(LE)ERLA e EEREHBRRRG ARH10000000 7T (B3)
Huilian Technology Data Service (Shenzhen) Limited - The PRC* Provision of financial consultation services in the PRC RMB20,000,000 (Note)
EBMHREERE () BRAT hE BRI BER RS AR 2000000078 (B3E)

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)

1. B QA5 (&)

TEMBRATMFEHIINT : (&)

Description of
fully paid up
Place of share capital/ Percentage of
incorporation/ registered ownership interest's/
Name establishment Place of operation and principal activities capital held voting rights/profit share
fisERY
e/ BRRE/ fiekEs/
2R HABE RERRREEEY AMERRE ZE/ABARES
2022 2021
—B-CZE  -Z--E
Huilian Yuanjing Investment Management The PRC* Provision of financial consultation services in the PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%
(Beijing) Limited
ERERREAERE (IR ARAE Gl BRI HER RS AR 10000000 7T
Shenzhen Qianhai Yuanbo Financial Service The PRC* Provision of financial consultation services in the PRC RMBS,000,000 - 70%
Limited
AMITHETHSRREARAR e R ERENBERRS AR 50000007
Zhuhai Huilian Zhitou Technology The PRC® Provision of financial consultation services in the PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%
Service Limited
WEERERMAREER AT mEle EPEREN BRI ARH100000007T
ATERRMEERAR The PRC Provision of financial consultation services in the PRC RMB20,000,000 100% N/A
ATHEFRREERAF HE BRI HER RS ARE 200000007 TER
* Except Profit Success, all other subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company. * B Profit Success9h - FTA M E A FHHRZA
RIS
N The Company is a wholly domestic owned enterprises. ‘ ZRRREANELERE -
e This Company is a wholly foreign owned enterprise. e ZARARINEBERERE -

(Note) The subsidiaries are disposed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

() RS M BARNNBE S - —F+-A=+—
BILF I -

EERR LR ARBINERBLE A
SEAFEXEAEAFESHAEEE
EFEZEARLY - EESR/MIIEE
B AR ZER  BEREERITE

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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the disposal set out in note 39.

Summarised financial information of Profit Success Group, for the years
ended 31 December 2021, subsequent to acquisition and before intra-
group eliminations, is presented below on a consolidated basis:

HEF BN RE39

Profit Success £&2

R R EERNA TR
MRE-T-—%+=A

32. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 32. FIERER
Profit Success Technology Limited, a 51% owned subsidiary of the Group, BESI%ERMME QR A & RXIEERR
has material non-controlling interests ("NCI"). Al other NCI of non-wholly s ([JEERRER ) - IE2EMB AR
owned subsidiaries are considered as immaterial. The NCI became A B IEtE RO R A TEKR - FFIF
insignificant through the completion of disposal of subsidiaries. Details of DR K HENBARBITTEK -

2 W 3H Al

Zt-BULEFENYBERBREREAE

E2F)IAT
2021
—E-—F
RMB'000

AREFT
For the year ended 31 December BE+-A=+—HLEE
Revenue Wz -
Loss for the year FEEE (189)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZMKERE (54,318)
(Loss)/Profit allocated to NCI o Be T IERE i%é (E518), & F (93)
Accumulated non-controlling interests RETIEIE RS (26,616)
For the year ended 31 December BE+-A=+—HLEE
Cash outflows from operating activities KRB (282)
Cash inflows from investing activities &ﬁxﬁ@ﬁﬁimd\ ©)
Cash inflows from financing activities BEEBIR S MRA 301
As at 31 December BR+=—HA=+—H
Current assets mENE E 2,150
Non-current assets FRBEE 98
Current liabilities mEIBE (3.401)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE -
Net (liabilities)/assets (BE)BEFH (1,153)

33. RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURE 33. AELWE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the

Group does not have other material related party transactions during the

years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Compensation of key management personnel

The emoluments of directors who are also identified as members of key

management of the Group during the year are set out in note 11(a).

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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34. NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions
During the year, the Group had non-cash addition to right-of- use

assets and lease liabilities of approximately RMB6,897,000, in respect

of the lease arrangement of the office.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities from

financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.

Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's
consolidated statement of cash flows from financing activities.

34. REBREREBRME

(a) EX¥REXRS
FR - AEERPAENHEELHM
BEERAREENEEAGHASE

In#9 A R # 6,897,000 7T °

(b) MEZBRAELENEBZHR

TREFIAREARDTHMELN
8ERY  SERSRINLED -
BAEBFELN A E 2 BERFK
ReRBHRAEERATHEAR
ESEEIN B

Total
Loan liabilities
from Bank Lease from
directors  borrowings Dividends liabilities financing
(note 24) (note 25) payable (note 26) activities
REES REEH
ZER RITER HERE FEEH
(Mt 24) (MzE25) EMRE  (HEE26) BEAR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ETT ARETn AR¥Tn AR®TR AR%®T:R
At 1 January 2022 RZE--%—-F—H 2,862 2,705 103 382 6,052
Changes from cash flows: BenEgy
Advance from a director —REZIH 1,471 - - - 1,471
Repayment to a director M—ZEEER (2,993) - - - (2,993)
Interest paid BENFIE - - - - -
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BAR &R ELBHEE (1,522) - - - (1,522)
Other changes: Hih#s):
Effective interest expense ERFISHY - - - 72 72
Exchange adjustments [E 5 % 196 - 9 - 205
Additions of leases HEEM - - - 6,897 6,897
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) HENBAR (MFE39) - (2,705) - (382) (3,087)
Total other changes EEeen 1% (2,705) 9 6,587 4,087
At 31 December 2022 i
+-A=1+—-H 1,536 - 112 6,969 8,617
EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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34. NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 34, MERERERMT (E)

FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) METBHRELENEBZHER
activities (Continued) (#&)
Loan Amount Total
from duetoa Bank Lease  liabilities from
adirector shareholder borrowings Dividends liabllities financing
(note 24) (note 20) (note 25) payable (note 26) activities
REEZ fER—% BEAEY
LER TR RAEHN Eak FELR
Bzt ) (B3t 20) (Bzt2s) EfkS (P 20) BERE
RMBI000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB1000 RMB000 RMB000
AREFT  ARBTT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR ARETR
At January 2021 RZE--F-f-H - 11,506 15735 106 155 27502
Changes from cash flows; RenEgy:
Advance from a director —LEEIT 2904 - - - - 2904
Repayment of bank borrowings [BRBTER - - (289) - - (269)
Lease payment REMH - - - - (204) (204)
Interest paid EOLE - - - - 36) 36)
Payment of interest on bank borrowings FHRITERAAS - - (19) - - (192
Total changes from financing cash flows PERLTEEDLE 2904 - (47 - (330) 2097
Other changes; HEg:
Effective interest expense ERFEHR - - 19 - 3% 08
Exchange adjustments A% () 90 - ) 9) 3
Additions of leases HEEN - - - - 59 59
Transferto other payable BEZHMENTE - - (12,745) - - (1274)
Waiver of amount due to a shareholder HEEN—4RRZE - (11929 - - - (11929
Total other changes LU -Erct ) (11,508 (12553) B 557 (23.547)
At31 December 2021 R-F_-%
tZA=1-H 280 - 2705 103 k) 6052

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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35. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL 35. R ERIZEI o N L RMEER SR
LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY BEHE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as ZHEeMTARSFEHSHNERmEDT :
at the reporting date are as follows:
2022 2021
—E-CE —E-—F
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
SREE NEE REE NHE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR¥ETR ARETT ARETR
Financial assets cTREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATEFAEBRNEGREE
— Equity investments —ERRE - - 67,172 67,172
Financial assets at amortised cost BREKAHECSREE
— Loans and accounts receivables — BT RERED 38,451 38,451 5,156 5,156
— Deposits and other receivables — e REMEYGIE 983 983 936 936
— Amount due from a non-controlling interest  — fE It 3E1% AR 25 FUB - - 1 1
— Cash and cash equivalents —RekREEEER 4,912 4,912 14,086 14,086
Financial liabilities tREE
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost IR EMAF E 7 SR AE
— Accruals and other payables — A ERREMENTIE 15,472 15,472 65,777 65,777
— Loan from directors —KREEEZER 1,536 1,536 2,862 2,862
— Dividend payable — ERRE 112 112 103 103
— Bank borrowings —IRITER - - 2,705 2,705

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group'’s principal financial instruments comprise financial assets at
FVTPL, loans and accounts receivables, deposits and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, accruals and other payables, loan from
directors, amount due from a non-controlling interest, dividend payable
and bank borrowings. These financial instruments mainly arise from its
operations.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments approximated
their fair values as at the reporting date. Fair value estimates are made at a
specific point in time and based on relevant market information on the
financial instruments.

These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and
matters of significant judgment, and therefore cannot be determined with
precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. As the Group's
exposure to these risks is kept to a minimum, the Group has not used any
derivatives and other instruments for hedging purposes. The Group does
not hold or issue any derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
The board of directors of the Company reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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RN NI B R 5R0R - R AR B R IR
TER - ZELRIATBERARERL
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 36. KRR ERE (&)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk means the risk on the fluctuation of fair value or future
cash flows of financial instruments which arise from changes in interest
rates. Floating interest rate instruments will result in the Group facing the
risk of changes in market interest rate.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balance, interest-bearing bank borrowing and lease liability. The Group
currently does not have a policy on cash flow hedges of interest rate risk.
However, the management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.
The interest bearing bank borrowing and lease liability bear floating
interest rates and are denominated in RMB.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowing. The analysis is prepared
assuming that the amount of assets and liabilities outstanding at the end
of each of the reporting periods were outstanding for the whole year. 100
basis points increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in the interest rates of borrowing.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of
the inherent interest rate risk as the exposures at the end of the reporting
periods do not reflect the exposures during the years.

If interest rates on bank borrowing at the end of reporting period had
been 100 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the potential effect on the Group's post-tax loss/profit for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follow:

A= E b
MEEBIENEEZESER SR TANRF
BIARKRRESRENSHRER o JFEFR
TAREBHASEEE TSN EESHHE
B

AEEmRE BT ERITAER S ERT
tERRHERENNRER - AEE B Al
VERSREL A EREROBE - R
- BERBEERNXRER  WHEERRE
FEREHPERNNERELR - 5HERITER
LEEABNFBFNERE  XUARKE
FIfE -

AT BEEDTIRETF SRITERZH
KEBMETE - DMHEHDIBRREER
RERSHRHREERENSBEEME
FREARAKEE - 100 £ IR I5E
BERERN RN R IE R RS -

EEERA  ARBEEAZBRLTR
BENZ A - REBES T TRRES
IR -

PR S IR A RITIE A K LT

100525 - MABEMAIZRERFTE -
HHAEEBE T —FR-T-—F
T A=+ RLEEERRERER TEH
HBEZEMT

2022 2021
-2 B —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETT
(Increase)/decrease in loss for the year FAEEGEM), R
As a result of an increase in interest rate A F == _E A& - (20)
As a result of a decrease in interest rate A 1) 2= T B T 2 B - 20

B m R ERERAR

“ECCFFR
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency risk

As the Group's revenue and expenses are mainly in RMB which is the
functional currency of most of the entities making up the Group, the
currency risk resulting from the Group's daily operations is considered not
significant. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of the equity price of unlisted
equity investments. The Group was exposed to equity price risk arising
from unlisted equity securities in the PRC classified as financial assets at
FVTPL as at 31 December 2021. All of these investments are unquoted
securities.

All of the Group’s unquoted investments are held for long term strategic
purposes. Their performance is assessed at least bi-annually against the
performance of similar listed entities, based on the limited information
available to the Group, together with an assessment of their relevance to
the Group's long term strategic plans.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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6. M EAREE (&)

SE LB

AR B H Y et K B s E B LA A AR &R
BH RO BERNINEEEAREIE
BAEEHESEMERNEERRIL T
BEAR - AKE B AT E G RTINS b R
Re R EREE-—EHERINERR I
RLEERZ BEIHEAINERE R

IR B B

BB B 15 A 3F £ AR AR B BB /K
HE) MEBRATFEFABRENERE
ENAFEINKOER  R=_F=—
TZA=1t—B XEEEGEHA S BER/E
NPFEFABSNEREECPEIELD
BAFESFSI B ERR - bR EAR
FEEMRE S -

AEEM 2 HEREREDURYRE R
MR - REAKEMSBEREN AL
B R ARSI EBR S - KOFF—
RERBL LT ERBNRBLBAEZE
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Equity price risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 10% change in
the fair values of the Group’s equity investments of which the directors of
the Company expect the possible future changes of financial assets, with
all other variables, held constant and before any impact on tax, based on
their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

MR EREE (&)

R & =Lz (&)

BRBED T
TRINTHARBREZTEMRREREE
AREINAKEROREZAFES
10% 282 §RE - HRERBERRZ
REERE MAEEBEEGRTE2E
RetEREZE -

Decrease/

(increase) in

Increase/ loss before
(decrease) income tax

in fair value expenses
BREISH

N F X AIE R
#m/CRd) R/ (Em)
% RMB'000

% AREFT

2021 —B--F

Financial assets at FVTPL BEATEFAEZNSREE
— Unlisted equity securities in the PRC — REIR I E TR AR 5
2022 —BCCF

Financial assets at FVTPL BATEF A BN SREE
— Unlisted equity securities in the PRC — PERIE LT AE S

10/(10) 6,717/(6,717)

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Credit risk
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash and cash
equivalents (note 21), loans and accounts receivables (note 18), other
receivables (note 19), amount due from a non-controlling interest (note
20) and other financial assets at amortised cost and at FVTPL. Management
has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group's financial assets at FVTPL included unlisted debt security held
for strategic purposes. Credit risk refers to issuers to these financial
instruments failing to discharge their obligations under the terms, leading
to a financial loss to the Group. The Group monitors the financial status
and credit rating of individual issuers by reviewing the financial
information provided by issuers on a regular basis. Please refer to note 17
for the details of the Group's investments.

In respect of loans and accounts receivables and other receivables, the
Group's policy is that all borrowers who wish to obtain loans from the
Group are subject to management review. The Group holds collaterals
directly or indirectly to cover its risks associated with loans receivable.

All collaterals of loans and accounts receivables and other receivables are
held directly by the Group.

For loan and accounts receivable, individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customers’ past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customers as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customers operate. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collaterals from customers on accounts receivable.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's exposure to credit risk is
influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The
default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate also
has an influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. As at 31 December
2021, the Group's exposure under certain outstanding loans and account
receivables are secured by the pledged assets of the customers as
disclosed in note 18. As at 31 December 2022, the outstanding loans and
accounts receivable are unsecured.
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ERBAVEFABRENEMGEREE -
EEEHEEERR  YRHEERZEFE
BEb o

AEBERAFEFARENEREERR
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 36. IR ERE (&)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk of the Group's other financial assets, which mainly comprise
of cash and cash equivalents, other receivables and financial assets at
FVTPL, arises from potential default of the counterparties, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments. Credit risk in
cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash is mitigated as cash is
deposited in banks with high credit rating.

The Group measures loss allowances for accounts receivable at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group's historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group's
different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group's exposure to
credit risk and ECLs for accounts receivable as at 31 December 2022 and

=ERRE (&)

AEFAMEREE (E2RBAS MRS
FEER - b REEREAFERA
BRzemMEE)NEERRRERSHTF
HEBEELY MEsERESFNZETLA
MERHEE R MRS FERE RZRH
RemEERRERAREFNREERER
EFHAREVIRTT M &R AN ©

AEBFERURAHEERE - ©8E
ENRAREREFENFRABBREE
EFHREHE ANAKENBEEEEERL
BREAZTPOMcHNBREEAEERXR
Z8  HERBHRENEREETERN
AEEZEPERZEE—FERY

TR -_ZFE-_—_FR-_ZF-_—F+=A
—t+—BAEEERNEREREERR

2021: RIEREEERER

Gross

carrying
amount Average Net carrying
brought expected Loss amount after
forward loss rate allowance impairment
Y1} RS HER
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-—+=-A=+-8 HEEHEE EE=x BERE IREFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR % AR¥TRT AR¥ETxR
Current (not past due) BIH3 (k@) - - - -
0-30 days past due BEI0ZE30H 273 0.3 1 272
31-90 days past due #H3IZE0H 49 2 1 48
91-180 days past due BN Z 1808 121 0.8 1 120
Over 180 days past due 180 B E 86 8 7 79
529 10 519

EBSREERERAR TBRICEER
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

36. MIKEAKRERE (&)

Credit risk (Continued) EERE (&)

Gross

carrying
amount Average Net carrying
brought expected Loss  amount after
forward loss rate allowance  impairment
Hl FEER BIER
As at 31 December 2021 RZZE=—F+=-A=1+—H BEREE BRE Jpicted REFE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT % ARBTT ARETR
Current (not past due) BNER (R mER) 700 0% - 700
0-30 days past due BH0E30H - - - -
31-90 days past due WE31E R - - - -
91-180 days past due #HEI91 2180 - - - -
Over 180 days past due B 180 B E 11,078 100% 11,078 -
11,778 11,078 700

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over one year.
These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group has adopted the general expected credit loss model for
material financial assets in relation to loans and other receivables. A

summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group's expected credit

loss model is as follows:

36. M EMEE (&)

EERkE (&)
AEEEERL L bENKETRNE
REBEERH—BEDEEHBEER -
THAEEESEEFEEA S BREE
o

Basis for recognition of expected credit loss

Category Company definition of category provision
5l NEHBZENTR RACEFRRENEIEE
Performing Customers have a low risk of default and a strong 12-month expected losses. Where the expected
capacity to meet contractual cash flows lifetime of an asset is less than 12 months, expected
losses are measured at its expected lifetime.
E® EFEARRE  BmEAOBRLRERTRK N2EARREE - MEENTARFR I 12 E

Underperforming

2pEd

Non-performing

TR

Write-off

EVRE 7158

Loans and other receivables for which there is a
significant increase in credit risk as significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if interest and/
or principal repayments/other receivables are 30
days past due

WFE & HIEEERS H i UG IE B
Hi30 B - AIBREEERRBELN - BlE
R e EAth R s R TR O A5 B R B B b K 3 N
FRA

Interest and/or principal repayments/other
receivables are 90 days past due

FE R SHIEEERS H i UK IE 8 A
90 H

Interest and/or principal repayments/other
receivables are 180 days past due and there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery
FER,/NEEEARS A B IE B
180 A B BIH) & 12 TEH

Interest bearing loans receivables are generally pawn loan receivables and

entrusted loan receivables. Other receivables includes amount due from
third parties and income receivables derived from investment in debt
investments at amortised cost.

A RIEHERRERFRAE

Lifetime expected losses

A&

Lifetime expected losses

FRATEHEE

Asset is written off

FEMGT B ER— R AR E &R R
RAER - HitBEFERERERRE =7
FIANMKAREHR A ENERREN
WA -

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

36.

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group accounts for the above items’ credit risk by appropriately

providing for expected credit losses on a timely basis. In calculating the
expected credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each
category of customers/investments, and adjusts for forward- looking

macroeconomic data. The Group provides for credit losses against loans
and other receivables as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

As at 31 December 2022:

M EREE (&)

=& R (&)

AEBERBRSHEMEEBEELEE
BEgE LEANEERR - RFTERE
HEEBEREXE AKEZEEHET
F/ARENBEBER  WHHAEER
BRESBETHARE - ARER-F =
FRIZBZ—F+_A=+—BREZRK
His RUGEFEEEERBED RN T

R=B-—F+=g=+-8:

Carrying
Average  Basis for Estimated amount
Expected  recognition of gross (netof  Basis for
Company internal  External credit  expected credit carrying impairment calculation of
credit rating credit rating lossrate  loss provision amount  provision) interest revenue
¥ fREE
HEEE BAEE REGEEERRE fest  (HBRAE
ARAABEEFR R FEZX NRIEE BREE BB HENSRENEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARBTRT AR®T
Performing N/A 6.79  12-month expected losses 41,753 38,915  Gross carrying amount
E® TER 1218 A RHER AREE
Underperforming N/A N/A  Lifetime expected losses - - Gross carrying amount
2ba NE R TER SRARHESR BEEE
Non-performing N/A - Lifetime expected losses - - Gross carrying amount
TR NiE R ERARMER BEREE
Total loans and other
receivables
ERREMERRE
BE 41,753 38,915
ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 36. MEEKRER (&)
Credit risk (Continued) EER (&)
As at 31 December 2021: N-E-—F+-—A=+—§8 :
Carrying
Average  Basis for Estimated amount
Expected  recognition of gross (netof  Basis for
Company internal External credit  expected credit carrying  impairment  calculation of
creditrating credit rating lossrate  loss provision amount provision)  interest revenue
13 mEE
SNEREE BHEE RHEEEREE feat  (HBRIE
RRINEEERTR IR BRX  WEREE BRREE B  EENSREMEE
RMB'000 RMB'000
% ARBTT AR®TT
Performing N/A - 12-month expected losses - - Gross carrying amount
IF% TER 12 HAEHER BEREE
Underperforming N/A 168  Lifetime expected losses 6479 5392 Gross carrying amount
s TEA FRAEHEHRE BEREE
Non-performing N/A 100 Lifetime expected losses 67,902 - Gross carrying amount
TR TEA FRAEHER BEREE
Total loans and other
receivables
ERRH MR RKIE
By 74,381 5392
No significant changes to estimation techniques or assumptions were RBEERE - et EENE
made during the reporting period. ER

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)
The closing loss allowance for loans and other receivables as at 31

December 2022 and 2021 reconciles to the opening loss allowance for

that provision, and the gross carrying amounts are as follows:

36. MIKEAKRERE (&)

EERk (&)
EREEMERFER_ZS__FR=F
T+ A=+ BHNERGEEER
BivE e s 2 IR R AARRmEN T ¢

Under- Non-
Performing performing performing Total
As at 31 December 2022 R=B-—f+=-A=+—-H E® 2)z TR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TR AR®BTR AR%Tx
Gross carrying amount for loans and other “E-—#+-RB=+—HEX
receivables as at 31 December 2022 K E WG IEBREE 41,753 - - 41,753
Less: Expected credit losses: B EEEEBE
Opening balance as at 1 January 2022 —E-_F-R—-AH0ER - 1,087 67,902 68,989
— Loss allowance provided for the year — FREEEE 2,838 - - 2,838
— Recovery of impairment of other receivables — 4 [B1 E 4t & Y ZR I8 i E - (471) - (471)
— Transfer: — 8
Disposal through disposal of subsidiaries KAHENEARMEE - (616) (67,902) (68,518)
Closing loss allowance as at 31 December 2022 = ~&F+=-A=+—H
HMREERE 2,838 - - 2,838
Net carrying amount for loans and other —E-CE+-A=+—-HER
receivables as at 31 December 2022 N E PR B BR R E 38,915 - - 38,915

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited




219

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e ISR M (&)
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

36. MIKEABERE (&)

Credit risk (Continued) EERkE (&)
Under- Non-
Performing performing performing Total
As at 31 December 2021 R-Z-—F+-A=+—H % )z TR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARETR AR%TR
Gross carrying amount for loans and other -5+ -B=1+—HEX
receivables as at 31 December 2021 RE A BN IBAREA - 6479 67,902 74,381
Less: Expected credit losses: A EEEEBE
Opening balance as at 1 January 2021 - —5—-A-HEER - 634 191,770 192,404
— Loss allowance provided for the year -FRBERE - 879 9,725 10,604
— Recovery of impairment of other receivables - Ut [B £ 4t fE IR IE A (& - - - -
— Amounts written off as uncollectible - AE LK 458 - - (134,019) (134,019)
— Transfer: -B% -
Under-performing to non-performing RRAREETR - (426) 426 -
Closing loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 —ZE-—%+-A=+—H
HREERE - 1,087 67,902 68,989
Net carrying amount for loans and other —E--—H+-A=Z1+—HER
recelvables as at 31 December 2021 RE A B FIBREFE - 5392 - 5392

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of loans and accounts
receivables and other receivables during the year is as follows:

F NG BB R U R SR A B L A g s R
AR BIEREEFMT

2022 2021
- —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFT
Balance at 1 January R—HA— B0 80,068 203,486
Loss allowance recognised during the year FRERRBERE 2,848 10,601
Amounts written off as uncollectible WEE A AU 0] & 58 - (134,019)
Recovery of impairment of loans and accounts U B A 1 B SR D B 2R JRE U BR X
receivables and other receivables previously K E A JEU IR E
recognised (471) -
Disposal through subsidiaries KHBRARINE (79,597) -
Balance at 31 December R+ A=+—B0&E% 2,848 80,068
EHSRREERERAT TEIFER



220
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 36. B EERE (&)
Liquidity risk REE LR
Management of the Group monitors current and expected liquidity AEBEREBERENMNERRHESS
requirements to ensure that the Group maintains sufficient reserves of Ko UBRAEBREHERIRNGERET
cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. EHNESHENENERSEST K -
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the reporting IRBAEYKRIBNTOEE  KREFRIR
date, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, are as follows: SRR ABEIHBEROT
Total
contractual
Carrying undiscounted ~ Repayable Within Within ~ More than
amount cashflow  ondemand lyear  2to5years 5years

REE RERBAE RERME  R-Fh RZEEFA BFNL
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTT  ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR

At 31 December 2022 R-E--#+-B=+-H
Accruals and other payables Bzt B R EMEMIE 15,472 15,472 15,472 - - -
Loan from directors REEZLEH 1,536 1,536 1,536 - - -
Dividend payable EfIRRE 112 112 112 - - -
Lease liabilities HERE 6,969 7,348 - 1,874 5,474 -
24,089 24,468 17,120 1,874 5,474 -

At 31 December 2021 RZE--f#+-A=1-H
Accruals and other payables EtEBR LA EMNFE 65,777 65,777 - 65,777 - -
Loan from a director REESZER 2862 2862 - 2862 - -
Dividend payable JERTRR S 103 103 103 - - -
Bank borrowings RITER 2705 2,705 2,705 - - -
Lease liabilities HERR 382 417 - 294 123 -
71829 71864 2808 68933 123 -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e ISR M (&)
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37. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

37. TR T AMNAFERAFER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 4
Fair value A¥E
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments, AEE ST A (REHEAATBRERRIN
other than those carried at amortised costs, are as follows: WEREER A FERT :
Carrying amounts Fair values
HREE AFE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—Eg--f —ZE--F ZEZ=f —IZE-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®ETT AR®BTR AR®TR
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFABRENEREE
— Equity securities — unlisted — FETRAES - 67,172 - 67,172

Management has assessed that the fair values of the financial assets and
liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's risk control team is responsible for determining the policies
and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial instruments.
The risk control team reports directly to the chief financial officer and the
audit committee. At each reporting date, the risk control team analyses
the movements in the values of financial instruments and determines the
major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation process and results
are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets are included at the amount at which
the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between
willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

EREFHREHERANIRNEREER
BEMNAFEREREERLD 224
RzETETRERAEE -

AEERBRIEFEREEETERTAR
FEFFENBRLIER - BRZEHEERE
BERPBAENBERZE SRR - RER
SEH - BRESEFsTeRTAEBE
MBS BEMERBNIEGARE -
HERMBRERL BFMADAAT
HEFERHREEEZZ B WAE
RFNMER -

TREEZAVTERENRSTETARE
RHZEBANE  RUIBEHETES
EA - ARG AFEZIDERBRAT

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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37. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value (Continued)

The fair value of equity instruments and debt securities have been
estimated using a discounted cash flow valuation model or guideline
public company marketability model based on assumptions that are not
supported by observable market price or rates. The valuation requires the
directors to make estimates about the expected future cash flows
including expected proceeds on subsequent disposal of the debt
securities.

The directors believe that the estimated fair value of the equity
instruments and debt securities based on valuation technique, and the
related change in fair value, reasonable, and represents the most
appropriate value at end of the reporting period.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, certain unlisted equity
instruments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
were seized by the Bureau and pledged pursuant to the Guarantee
Documents for the settlement of the Unsettled Repayment Funds as
stated in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. As advised by
the Company’s PRC legal advisor, and with reference to the valuation
report issued by Eidea Professional Services Company Limited, in view of
the low probability and feasibility for the Group to recover their carrying
amount, the Group recognised RMB176,941,000 for the fair value changes
in financial assets at FVTPL in respect of those seized unlisted equity
instruments.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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37. TR T AMNAFERAFER

& (&)

DNFE (&)

Pt T A REHESFHN A FEERILER]
BEMEXEXER/KRENBRREANR
RenEfEEASERLTARTER
BUERNAMGE - HEEREFEM[TEPR
XReRE(BREBESFRELEERM

BFIHE) »

EERA - RISERITEENBRETA
R 753 25 2T 2 A RARBR A F
DUBAE - FAREIROKAEE -

HE-_EZ-—F+-_A=+—HIFFE"
ETHBEAREATEFAESHNCMEE
MIEEMRETASE D BINE - HRER
BERE TR - AEE N RBEESR
T RV BEmMEMFIE - RER
NRFEDEEBENER  U2EEEFE
¥RBERAALANBHERS ERX
SEUE ERmMAEN TN KA TR
B AEERZENFIEL-mRETAER
REAFEFABGENEMEELATEE
AR 176,941,000 7T °
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37. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value (Continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation as
at 31 December 2021 of the remaining unlisted equity instruments

classified as financial assets at FVTPL which is not seized by the Bureau.

Valuation

fh{E

Significant

unobservable input

EAFTER
BANE

37. ERM T AMNAFERAFER

&% (&)

DNFE (&)
TXROBER/BAFEFABRENEHE
ENSRTIELTREIA(LEEY BN
HFIR—EZ—F+-A=+—HHOHED
EXTAIERBARBEHRE -

Range of
estimates  Sensitivity of the input to fair value

DYERARE

fETHE  ZHRE

As at 31 December 2021
R-B--F+=A=t+-H
Financial assets at FVTPL
BATEGTABENERNEE

Equity instruments — unlisted

FEMBETA

Discounted cash flow
method — Future cash
flows are estimated
based on expected
return, discounted at a
rate that reflects risk of
underlying assets

HRALREE —RE
BHRREF AR S
ME WU RMAEE
EREE TR

Timeline of the

underlying projects

RERR R MEEE

Weighted average
cost of capital

IEFEERRA

267years  Earlier receipts of the investment income in the

determination of timeline of each underlying
projects will result in an increase in the fair value
of the unlisted equities securities and vice versa.

2607 BEEEWARNBERREERUERREK

ABBEH ETBEARFNRFEL R
ZIR

29%  Anincrease in WACC will result in a decrease in
the fair value of the unlisted equity securities and
vice versa.

29%  METHERKA LA BER FRAE
FRDTETRE - RZIFA -

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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37. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the

Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

& (%)
DNFEER

RATFENBRE :

Fair value measurement using

EATHRENQVEE

37. TR T AMNAFERAFER

TRAAEESRIENRFEFERR

Quoted price  Significant  Significant
inactive  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BERAHE EXATABE
ERTERE  BAHE BARE
(B—B&K) (B=BR) (E=ER) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZBE-Zf+=-HF=+-—H
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFABRRN
SREE
— Equity securities — unlisted — EETRAFS - - - -
As at 31 December 2021 R-B-—-f+=-A=+-H
Financial assets at FVTPL BAVEFABREN
CHEE
— Equity securities — unlisted — 3k LEIRAE S - - 67,172 67,172
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37.

38.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 37. TR I AN A FER A FERE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) & (&
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEEER(E)
The movements during the period in the balance of these level 3 fair value FZEHNFEFTEHRBEHHREEH T
measurements are as follows:
2022 2021
—E-C B —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETTT
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEFABENEREE
Unlisted equity securities JELTERES
At 1 January ®n—A—H - 231,351
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss FARFABEHATEES
during the year - (164,179)
At 31 December R+-_A=+—H - 67,172
Unlisted debt securities FELEHEBES
At 1 January Rn—H—H - 31,808
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss FRFFABZHRFEE
during the year - (31,808)
At 31 December Rt+—A=+—H - -
The Group did not have any liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 AREBR -_TE-_—FK_T__F1+=H
December 2021 and 2022. —t+—RAwEEQAFEFENERE-
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. EXEMERE

The Group's capital management objectives include:

() to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it continues to provide returns for owner's benefits for other
stakeholders;

(i) tosupport the Group's stability and growth; and

(i) to provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Group's risk
management capability.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder’s returns, taking into
consideration the future capital requirements of the Group and capital
efficiency, prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating cash
flows, projected capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities.

AEENEAER B R

) FREASEAFEQLLNEES - A
BRBE ANRERRY S E bR
BABIEN R

(i) XHAKENRERER: K

(i)  FEHEAA IR AN E AR E R
5 o

AEEEGY EREHLREERLEARR
B UHEREDRREBNEARBUMR
BRAEREDR  EPEEEAKEN
AREATRREARYz: - BRI RAF G
HiEh - gEReREFRD - BARFXTE
B RTAHAREIR B -

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

39. HEME LT

On 29 June 2022, the Group completed the very substantial disposal (a)
to dispose of certain subsidiaries of the Group (the “First Disposal”).
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 26
January 2022, 18 February 2022, 1 June 2022 and 29 June 2022 and
the circular of the Company dated 10 May 2022 in relation to the
First Disposal. The net assets of the subsidiaries at the completion

date of the First Disposal were as follow:

R-ZE-_—FXA-t+IH A~EE
TRIFFERHEFIE  NHEXRE
BEETHWEBERAR(E —KHES
H]) - F2HMARRAHPAE=-T =
F—AZ-Z+A"H - ZZE=-=-_F—-A
+N\B - ZEZZFAA—HBEZZ
TTFRNAZHABRAE  LAKRH
AT - —HFHATHNBERK K
ABEE—RLEEE - HBARR
F-RNEEETKBBENEEFE
U

RMB’000
ARB TR
Consideration RE
Cash received 2R ® 12,828
12,828
Analysis of assets and liabilities as at the date of disposal: RIHEBHEEREBNDH :
Property, plant and equipment M - BE R&E 348
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss RAFEFAEZNEREE 67,172
Loans and accounts receivables BN R ERERK 4,224
Deposits paid, prepayments and other receivables BEATRE - FENFIE KA M YR 530
Cash and cash equivalents Re kBEeSEER 896
Receipts in advance, accruals and other payables and TEWGRIE « FESTE A R H b e I8
contract liabilities MeHaE (56,818)
Current tax liabilities BNEAR IR A fE (11,099)
Bank borrowings RITHE (2,705)
Lease liabilities MEaE (382)
2,166
Loss on disposal HEREE
Consideration received ERE 12,838
Net assets disposal of HEEESFE (2,166)
Non-controlling interest FEIE AR M (14,666)
Cumulative exchange gain HETIE H e (227)
(4,221)
Net cash flow effect on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBATRNFRERFE
Cash consideration received EHCRERE 12,828
Cash and cash equivalents disposal of EHERS KA SEFEEE (896)
11,932

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited



227

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—HF+_A=+—HItFE

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 39. HEME AR (&)

(b)  On 2 July 2022, the Group completed to dispose of certain non- b) MZE-_—FtHFE-H KEEBZK
principal subsidiaries of the Group (the “Second Disposal”) to MBYE=-FHERAERETIHEEE
independent third parties at a cash consideration of less than MEAR - ReREERARE 1,000
RMB1,000. The net assets of the subsidiaries at the completion date T(EZREEFHE]) - HBARR
of the Second Disposal were as follow: FIRLEFETNABEMNEEFE

LU
RMB’000
ARBTR
Consideration RE
Cash received BURE 1
1
Analysis of assets and liabilities as at the date of disposal: RIHEBHEEREBNDH :
Deposits paid, prepayments and other receivables EES - BN HRIE R E A W RIE 39
Cash and cash equivalents ReE KB FHEEE 202
Receipts in advance, accruals and other payables TEWRIE - AT E A R E A BT RIE (5,110)
Current tax liabilities BNEAF IR B (& (37)
(4,906)
Loss on disposal HEREIE
Consideration received ERE 1
Net liabilities disposal of HEaEFE 4,906
Cumulative exchange gain ZEHE N s (5,243)
(336)
Net cash flow effect on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARNFERERFE
Cash consideration received EHER e RE 1
Cash and cash equivalents disposal of EHEREKESFEIAR (202)
(201)

EHSBBREERERAE T 2FFR



228

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ISR M (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 HZE—ZE—_—&F+_A=+—HItFE

40. LITIGATIONS, CLAIMS AND DISPUTES

M

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Part of the investments and assets of the disposal group included in the
very substantial disposal transaction (“VSD Transaction”) were subject to
litigations and seizure during the year 31 December 2021. As disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 26 March 2021, a writ of civil
summons (“Writ") have been issued against two previous directors of the
Company (namely, Mr. Zheng Weijing ("“Mr. Zheng”) and Ms. Guo Chanjiao
("Ms. Guo"), two PRC subsidiaries of the Company (namely, Qianhai Flying
Financial PRC Service (Shenzhen) Limited (“Qianhai Flying Financial”) and
Flying Investment Service (Shenzhen) Company Limited (“Flying
Investment”)) in October 2020 in relation to the repayment of certain loans
and interest accrued thereon. Pursuant to the Writ, (i) Mr. Zheng was
demanded for the repayment of an aggregate amount of RMB16,306,300
(“Claimed Amount”), alleging to be the principal and interest accrued
thereon pursuant for a loan agreement in 2019; (i) Ms. Guo, the Company,
two PRC subsidiaries of the Company and a number of PRC companies
independent to the Group were alleged to be guarantors of the Claimed
Amount under a guarantee in 2019 (“2019 Loan Guarantee”) in favour of
the claimant under the Writ to secure the Claimed Amount.

For further details, please refer to the circular of the Company dated 10
May 2022 and the announcement of the Company dated 26 March 2021,
26 January 2022 and 22 February 2022.

With reference to announcement of the Company dated 29 June 2022,
the completion of the VSD Transaction took place on 29 June 2022.
Following the completion of the VSD Transaction, the Disposal Group
ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company and the Company ceased to
have any interests in the Disposal Group. The financial results of the
Disposal Group would no longer be consolidated into the Group's
financial statements. In the opinion of the Director, the litigation
mentioned above do not have any continue impact to the Group.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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@

41.

LITIGATIONS, CLAIMS AND DISPUTES (CONTINUED)

Following online search (but without any access to the court documents),
the Company became aware recently that the Shenzhen branch of China
Guangfa Bank Co, Ltd. (ZERITIRM AR 2 &R 5 1T) (the “CGB
Bank”) has sought and obtained a PRC civil judgement in November 2021
to discharge the loan agreement entered into between the CGB Bank and
Qianhai Flying Financial in August 2016 (the “CGB Agreement”), as well as
to require Qianhai Flying Financial, Huilian Technology (concerning the
Investment Properties) and Mr. Zheng to settle their joint and several
liability of approximately RMB12,947,000 (being the outstanding principal
and interest of bank borrowing under the CGB Agreement and the cost of
the civil litigation). As at the date of this report, the Company was not
aware of any change of status of the said PRC civil judgement sought and
obtained by CGB Bank in November 2021.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the reporting date, there are some changes in the share
capital of the Company as follows:

Capital Reorganisation

All conditions precedent to the share consolidation proposed on 23 May
2022 have been fulfilled. The share consolidation take effect on 22 March
2023.

On 23 May 2022, the board proposed to implement the capital
reorganisation which will involve the share consolidation, the capital
reduction and the share sub-division, detail as follows:

Share Consolidation

Every fifty issued and unissued existing shares of par value of
HKS$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company will be
consolidated into one consolidated share of par value of HK$5.00
each in the share capital of the Company.
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41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(CONTINUED)

Capital Reorganisation (Continued)

(2)

(3)

Capital Reduction

The capital reduction will be implemented upon the share
consolidation becoming effective, pursuant to which (a) any
fractional consolidated share in the issued share capital of the
Company arising from the share consolidation will be cancelled;
and (b) the par value of each of the then issued consolidated shares
will be reduced from HK$5.00 to HK$S0.01 by cancelling the paid-up
capital of the Company to the extent of HK$4.99 on each of the
then issued consolidated shares.

Share Sub-division (of authorised but unissued Consolidated
Shares)

Immediately following the capital reduction, each of the authorised
but unissued consolidated shares of par value of HK$5.00 each will
be sub-divided into five hundred new shares of par value of HK$0.01
each.

Based on the 1,731,432,500 existing shares in issue as at 31
December 2022, a credit of approximately HK$172,796,963.50 will
arise as a result of the capital reduction. It is proposed that the total
credit arising from the capital reduction will be applied towards
setting off the accumulated losses of the Company upon the capital
reduction becoming effective.

42. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 14 April 2023.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MG EE

Below is a summary of the Group's results for the last five financial years and the
assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2022, 2021, 2020, 2019 and
2018, as extracted from the published audited financial statements for the years
ended 31 December 2022, 2021, 2020, 2019 and 2018. The amounts set out in
this financial summary are prepared as if the current structure of the Group had
been in existence throughout the years presented.

T%%$%E@££ﬂ%ﬁ¢ﬁ%ﬁ $%E%

- F - ZE-—F BT F
~NERZF-NFFT_A=1+— E%ﬁé&ﬁ
BERE  DREACERBE_ST-_—_F =%

S CEoBE . CP-AFR-EN\F
+-AZ B FEREEMHRE - LIE
198 32 0 B8R T b 7 o TR A SR RS A0 2 4R
FENDFEMRY -

RESULTS E S5
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—Eo-F T ZEITHF T-NF ZENF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AREFT AREFT ARETT AREFT
Revenue S 76,671 20,059 19,721 104,390 220,353
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:  FEIEAREE R F],/(E518) -
Owners of the Company EREFBA 2,605 (265,276) (468,725) (673,713) 102,575
Non-controlling interests RS 215 (328) (1,622) (25,549) (3650)
2,820 (265,604) (470,347) 699,262 98,925

EHSHMBREZERERLE —Z-FFR
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
MBHE (&)

TOTAL ASSETS, TOTAL LIABILITIES AND

HEE BEBERFERER
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
At 31 December
Rt+t=ZA=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

—EC--fF - —T-FF —ET-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETRE ARETRT ARETRT ARETT ARETR
Total assets BEE 55,705 88,205 394,665 854,816 1,743,025
Total liabilities FCN=E (40,212) (92,589) (92,962) (97,587) (269,860)
Non-controlling interests FEE RS (254) 14,627 (12,224) (11,778) (37,101)
15,239 10,243 289,479 745451 1,436,064
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